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The Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 
is committed to providing accessible services to 
Queenslanders from all culturally and linguistically 
diverse backgrounds. If you have difficulty in 
understanding the annual report, you can contact us on 
(07) 5470 6600 and we will arrange an interpreter to 
effectively communicate the report to you. 

© (Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service) 2018

This annual report fulfils Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service’s reporting requirement to the community 
and to the Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services. It summarises the Hospital and Health 
Service’s results, performance, outlook and financial position for 2017-2018.

In particular, the report outlines Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service’s performance against objectives 
identified in the Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service Strategic Plan 2016-2020, as well as the Queensland 
Government’s objectives for the community.

Open data:

We are committed to the Queensland Government’s 
open data strategy and have published additional 
information to form part of our 2017-2018 annual 
report. This information is published at: www.qld.gov. 
au/data

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service has 
published the following data on the government’s Open 
Data website:

• consultancy expenditure

• overseas travel expenditure

• Queensland Language Services Policy.

Licence:

This annual report is licensed by the State of 
Queensland (Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health 
Service) under a Creative Commons Attribution 
(CC BY) 3.0 Australia licence.

CC BY Licence Summary Statement:
In essence, you are free to copy, communicate and 
adapt this annual report, as long as you attribute 
the work to the State of Queensland (Sunshine Coast 
Hospital and Health Service).

To view a copy of the licence, visit: 
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/ 
deed.en

Attribution:

Content from this annual report should be attributed 
as: Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service Annual 
Report  2017–2018.

ISSN: 2202-5200

Public availability statement:

Copies of this publication can be obtained by:

•  visiting www.health.qld.gov.au/sunshinecoast/
annual-reports

•  phoning the Communications and Corporate Affairs Unit
on (07) 5202 0085

• emailing SC-Communications@health.qld.gov.au

For enquiries or further information please visit our 
website at www.health.qld.gov.au/sunshinecoast

Feedback can be provided through the Department of 
Premier and Cabinet’s website Get Involved at www.qld/
gov.au/annualreportfeedback
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Commitment to Reconciliation
The Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service acknowledges and pays respect to the 
Traditional Custodians, the Gubbi Gubbi people, their elders, past, present and future on 
whose lands and waters we provide health services. 

Achieving sustainable health gains for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people on 
the Sunshine Coast and Gympie regions is a core responsibility and high priority for our 
health service and is a guiding principle of Making Tracks towards closing the gap in 
health outcomes for Indigenous Queenslanders by 2033.

Vision

Collaboration

We will:
• Keep reconciliation and Closing the Gap as a reference for

planning and decision making.
• Replicate success and refl ect on what needs to change
• Promote the service’s commitment as everyone’s commitment.

We will: 
• Walk alongside each other
• Value family and community
• Together build capacity that puts Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander people at the centre of decision making
• Assist people to make decisions regarding their own health

and wellbeing.

Integrity
We will: 
• Promote a culturally safe and sensitive approach to service

delivery
• Recognise and value diversity and how it can enrich our work 

and community.

Infl uence and inspiration
We will:
• Be a source of inspiration for ourselves and others
• Bring our practice wisdom and lifelong learnings to our actions
• Be creative, innovative and forever evolving in our wellness and

holistic healing
• Allow an inclusive environment for people to thrive
• Celebrate success.

Resilience
We will:
• Respect Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander culture and heritage.
• Ensure the next footprints are ours for a better future.
• Acknowledge that connection to culture and spirituality are key 

components through which healing takes place.
• Acknowledge the diversity of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander

cultures and circumstances.

Statement of
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28 August 2018 

The Honourable Steven Miles MP
Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services
GPO Box 48
Brisbane QLD 4000

Dear Minister

I am pleased to present the Annual Report 2017-2018 and financial statements for Sunshine Coast Hospital and 
Health Service.

I certify that this Annual Report complies with: 

•   the prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and Performance Management
Standard 2009; and

• the detailed requirements set out in the Annual Report Requirements for Queensland Government agencies.

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements can be found at page 118 of this annual report or accessed 
at http://www.health.qld.gov.au/sunshinecoast/annual-reports/default.asp.

Yours sincerely

Dr Lorraine Ferguson AM  

Chair, Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Board

Letter of compliance
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On behalf of the Board, I am very pleased to present the 
Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service Annual Report 
for 2017-2018. As in previous years, this has been a year 
of great challenges, important milestones and wonderful 
achievements.   

One of the continuing challenges faced by the health service 
is to provide high quality patient care with finite financial 
resources to the growing population of our region, from 
Gympie in the north, Kilkivan in the west and south to 
Maleny and Caloundra. As you will see from the report on 
Our Performance, demand for many of our services has 
increased again this year and the staff of the health service 
has responded by providing ever increasing occasions of 
service across all of our facilities and community services. 
Performance in many areas of service delivery has continued 
to improve, despite the increasing demand for services. The 
Board wishes to acknowledge the dedication, professionalism 
and ongoing commitment of all health service staff to the 
health and wellbeing of the Sunshine Coast and Gympie 
communities.  

In December 2017, Adjunct Professor Naomi Dwyer was 
appointed Chief Executive of the health service and she 
brought with her a wealth of experience in health service 
management, especially in the areas of complex service 
change and transition to tertiary level service provision. This 
experience is particularly important as the Sunshine Coast 
University Hospital continues to expand its offering of tertiary 
services, Nambour and Caloundra hospitals are redeveloped 
and services are relocated, expanded and linked across the 
health service where funding allows. 

Along with the challenges, 2017-2018 also provided us 
with opportunities to celebrate a number of important 
milestones and achievements. In December, The Sunshine 
Coast University Hospital Program was awarded the 2017 
Queensland Health Excellence Award in the Delivering Health 
Care category for the successful opening of the new hospital. 
In March this year, we celebrated its first birthday and looked 
back at the achievements of that first year, including the new 
and expanded services now being offered. Also in March 
this year the health service underwent an independent, 
organisation-wide survey by the Australian Council on 
Healthcare Standards resulting in ongoing accreditation and 
assurance of compliance with the national safety and quality 
standards. This demonstrates the ongoing commitment of all 
health service staff to safety and quality of health care across 
the organisation. 

The commissioning of SCUH Stage 2 built environment 
and preparation for, and opening of new tertiary services 
continued.  Of note, in January the Paediatric Critical Care 
Unit opened, providing much needed care for critically ill or 
injured children closer to home. Work on the redevelopment 
and refurbishment of the Caloundra and Nambour hospitals 

continued this year and we will see increases in a number of 
beds and services at these facilities as works are completed. 
Services provided at the facilities are outlined in this report.  

There are many important milestones and achievements 
outlined in this report. In October Maleny Soldiers Memorial 
Hospital celebrated 30 years in its current location and in 
March, Gympie Hospital celebrated 150 years of providing 
exceptional health care to the community. A morning tea 
was held and many former staff returned to help current staff 
celebrate this important milestone. 

The Sunshine Coast Health Institute partnerships has 
continued to grow and develop with the announcement of the 
Griffith University School of Medicine on the Sunshine Coast to 
commence in 2019. In June, the TAFE Queensland East Coast 
partner held a graduation ceremony for the first cohort of 
students from the institute’s TAFE programs. 

The Board and Board Committees continued to work diligently 
with the Chief Executive and Executive Leadership Team to 
provide overall governance, strategic direction and to ensure 
that the goals and objectives of the health service are met, 
that resources are used effectively and efficiently and that 
services are aligned to current government health strategies 
and policies. I would like to record my appreciation of the 
significant contribution of the Chairs of board committees, 
board members and the leadership team in what has been 
another challenging but successful year of health service 
provision to the communities of the Sunshine Coast and 
Gympie areas.  

The progress and achievements outlined in this 2017-2018 
Annual Report have been realised in collaboration with 
committed staff, many important partner organisations and 
with the support of our communities.  
Thank you. 

Overview

Dr Lorraine Ferguson AM 

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Board Chair
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service Chief Executive

The 2017-2018 year will be remembered fondly by our 
community and the Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health 
Service team as the first operational year of  the new 
Sunshine Coast University Hospital and the associated 
changes and opportunities that its opening catalysed.  

The outcomes delivered by the wonderful health service 
team exemplify their passion and commitment to deliver 
exceptional care, and I wish to thank them all for their 
great achievements.  We have seen unprecedented 
growth in demand for care, including record numbers 
of emergency presentations and outpatient referrals 
as our population increases exponentially.  Against 
this background, we were proud to deliver on our end 
of year goal of no patient waiting longer than clinically 
recommended for their  elective surgery or endoscopy, 
and elimination of the waiting list for patients who 
had waited more than two years for an outpatient 
appointment. 

Throughout the year, we celebrated many milestones 
which reinforced the pivotal role hospitals play in regional 
communities, including the 150th birthday of Gympie 
Hospital,  the 30th birthday of Maleny Soldiers Memorial 
Hospital at its current location; and of course the first 
birthday of Sunshine Coast University Hospital.

We successfully delivered Stage 2 of Sunshine Coast 
University Hospital, which realised increased capacity 
for future growth, and made great progress on the 
redevelopment of Caloundra Health Service. The Minister 
for Health’s announcement of  $86 million to redevelop 
Nambour General Hospital was welcomed with great 
excitement, prompting early works to secure a Managing 
Contractor.

Our commitment to engage consumers and community 
in how we plan, deliver and review our services has 
continued, and we are always grateful to receive 
feedback from those who access our services as part of 
our continuous improvement.  Our brilliant brigade of 
volunteers continue to make an outstanding contribution 
across our health service, and receive well-deserved 
recognition for their compassionate support.

Closing the gap in health inequality is a priority for 
our Board, and so we were very proud of our strong 
partnership with the local Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander community, and delivery of culturally appropriate 
services such as our support of the Annual Aboriginal 
Health Check Day which was very well attended.  

Safe, reliable care is our top priority, and so we welcomed 
the experienced team from the Australia Council of 
Healthcare Standards which undertook an organisation 
wide assessment of our health service. This resulted in 
our successful re-accreditation for a further four years 
until 30 June 2022.

We ended the year with a planned deficit, being just 
over the projected forecast of $13.1 million, and have 
undertaken significant work on the development of 
strategies to improve our sustainability over the next 
three-year horizon.

I feel very honoured by the  opportunity to serve the 
community of the Sunshine Coast and our inspiring team 
of people as their new Chief Executive.  We are fortunate 
to have such a dynamic and talented Hospital and 
Health Board, under the strong and positive leadership 
of Dr Lorraine Ferguson AM.  Our Board is unequivocal 
in its commitment to delivering exceptional care to the 
community and passionate about realising their ambitious 
vision for our health service. 

I commend this annual report to you and hope you enjoy 
reading about the many ways we are proud to serve our 
community.  

Overview

Adjunct Professor Naomi Dwyer   
Chief Executive 
BusMan, GradCertMgt, MBL, AICDC 
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354, 940

166, 293

139, 806

3, 379

33, 794

10, 889

29, 740

54, 750

(*includes public patients presenting to Noosa 
Private Hospital)
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Hepatology partnership curing Hepatitis C in the 
community  - Sunshine Coast and Wide Bay.

$155,000 to Caloundra Health Service from Caloundra Hospital 
Auxiliary.

Nambour General Hospital Geriatric Emergency Department 
Intervention (GEDI) awarded $100,000 research grant.

Commencement - $17m redevelopment of Caloundra Health Service.
Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service annual Research Day.

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service celebrates 
achievements and service of 493 staff and 3530 years of 

service.

Four medical students from Griffith University’s Rural 
Clinical School commence 12 months, as part of training 

for the Longlook program at Gympie Hospital.
Paediatric Critical Care Unit opens at Sunshine Coast 

University Hospital.

Gympie Hospital staff celebrate 150 years of service.
Sunshine Coast University Hospital celebrates 1st Birthday.

Maternity celebrates 3000 babies born at Sunshine Coast 
University Hospital.

ACHS Accreditation survey. 

Noosa Community Health Dental clinic refurbishment.
POSSUM (Paediatric Outpatient Sedation Support Under 

Multi-disciplinary team) Clinic provides new ways 
to guide children safely through procedures.

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service - record 284 
newborn babies at Sunshine Coast University Hospital.

Maleny Soldiers Memorial Hospital celebrates 30 years at 
its current location.
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander diabetes service 
opens at Caloundra Health Service.
Hospital in the Home program - 1000th patient.
Annual Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service Patient 
Safety Day.

Keeping patients and families connected, Gympie 
and Nambour hospitals have access to free Wi Fi.

86 nursing graduates  employed by the Sunshine Coast 
Hospital and Health Service for the 2018 Graduate 
Registered Nurse and midwife program.

Three year funding through the Prostate Cancer 
Foundation of Australia - dedicated nurse.

Community Care Unit won a national award. 
The health service came first in Australian Red Cross Health 
Services Blood Challenge from April to June 2018.
Griffith University School of Medicine announced Department 
Head of School on the Sunshine Coast, first intake early 2019.
Dr Mikaela Seymour named as Australian Medical 
Association (AMA) Doctor in Training 2018.

10

Milestones 2017 - 2018
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Financial highlights 

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service (the health 
service) reported total comprehensive income of $171.6 
million for the year incorporating a net revaluation 
increment of $185.5 million on land and buildings and an 
underlying operating deficit of $14 million (2016-2017 $7.3 
million surplus). 

The result reflects a slight decline in performance from 
2016-2017 largely encapsulating the increase in fixed 
costs associated with operating the new Sunshine Coast 
University Hospital.   

A combination of demand management, re-prioritisation 
and efficiency strategies have been earmarked for 2018-
2019 and beyond to enable the health service to achieve a 
balanced operating position.   

High level operating result for 
year ended 30 June 2018

$’000’s

Operating income 1,194

Operating expenditure (1,208)

Deficit from operations (14)

Operating income
Total operating income for 2017-2018 was $1,194.4 billion 
up $197 million or 19.7 per cent from 2016-2017 ($997.4 
million) with the majority of this increase relating to 
additional fixed funded components and activity purchased 
by the Department of Health associated with the new 
Sunshine Coast University Hospital. 

The chart to the left shows the major sources of total 
operating income by percentage, with the Queensland 
Government (predominately the Department of Health) 
contributing the majority of the total source of funds.

Chart 1: Total operating income = $1,194,366,000

Queensland  Government funding

66% 

Grants and contributions

2% 
Other revenue

1% 
User charges

7% 

Australian Government funding

24% 

Operating expenditure
Total operating expenditure for 2017-2018 was $1,208.3  
billion  (averaging $3.3 million a day), up $218.2 
million or 22 per cent from 2016-2017 ($990.1 million).  
Major drivers of the increase include a 9.7 per cent 
increase in delivered activity, combined with additional 
operating requirements of the Public, Private Partnership 
arrangement with Exemplar Health for Sunshine Coast 
University Hospital.  

The following chart shows the breakdown of operating 
expenditure with labour and employment related 
expenses being the largest component.

Chart 2: Total operating expenditure = $1,208,300,000

Labour and other employment-related costs

61% 

Interest expense

2% 
Other expenses

1% 
Depreciation and ammortisation

8% 

Supplies and services

28% 
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Financial highlights 

High level balance sheet as at 30 June 2018 $’000’s

Current assets 124,229

Non-current assets 2,008,335

Current liabilities (122,195)

Non-current liabilities (604,929)

Net assets (equity) 1,405,440

Balance sheet
The health service’s asset base amounts to $2.134 billion.  
94 per cent or $1.996 billion of this is invested in property 
plant and equipment. Total assets increased by $94.35 
million in 2017-18 (2016-2017: $1.632 billion) largely 
due to land and building revaluation increments following 
specific valuations undertaken as part of the cyclical land 
and building revaluation plan, investment in new and 
replacement plant, equipment and technology offset by 
accumulated depreciation and ammortisation.

Cash and investments
At balance date, the health service had $78.5 million in 
cash and investments.  This balance includes the unspent 
portion of the Sunshine Coast University Hospital ICT 
Program (Stage 2 and 3) capital funding received for 
information and communications technology assets and 
equipment.  Depreciation expenditure is not cash funded 
however investment in non-current assets is.

Financial Sustainability 
Current ratio:  At 30 June 2018, the health service had a 
current ratio of 1.02. This means for every $1 of current 
liabilities payable the health service held $1.02 in cash 
and receivables. 

Average number of day’s cash available:  At 30 June 2018, 
the health service has cash available to cover 25.9 days 
of operating expenditure (46.3 days in 2016-2017).  The 
current target adopted by the health service is to have 
cash holdings equivalent to at least 14 days of operating 
cash outflows.

Future financial outlook
The health service is committed to providing better 
health outcomes for its community through redesign 
and innovation but also investment in its people and 
infrastructure.  As with 2017-2018, financial year 2018-
2019 will be even more fiscally challenging for the health 
service with the introduction of new tertiary services at 
the Sunshine Coast University Hospital, the introduction 
of the new electronic medical record, the completion of 
the Caloundra Health Service redevelopment and the 
commencement of works relating to the re-purposing of 
Nambour General Hospital.  This will be balanced against 
the continued focus on overall efficiency.
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Maternity, Palliative Care, Rehabilitation, Renal Dialysis,
Specialist Stroke Unit, a range of community-based adult and child services. 

45 bed purpose built facility, providing aged care in a home-like environment.

Purpose built facility for clinical research, training and teaching,
in partnership with University of the Sunshine Coast,
TAFE Queensland East Coast and Griffith University.

Community Facilities
Health facilities based in Caloundra, Gympie,
Maroochydore, Nambour and Noosa

Palliative Care, Community Services including Oral Health and Child Health,
Renal Dialysis, Ophthalmology, Minor Injury and Illness Clinic.

Services are also provided for Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service patients
at Noosa Private Hospital and Sunshine Coast University Private Hospital, in Birtinya

Emergency Department, Cancer Care including radiation therapy and chemotherapy,
Specialised Medical and Surgical Services, Trauma Service, Paediatrics and Paediatric 
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Mental Health, Interventional and Diagnostic Clinical Support Services,
Specialist Ambulatory Care Services, Allied Health Services.

Emergency Department, Surgical and Medical Services, Clinical and 
Non-Clinical Support Services, Chemotherapy, Renal Dialysis, Mental 
Health Services, Community Integrated and Subacute Services, Medical Imaging 
Services, Women’s and Families Services.

Emergency Department, Medical Services, Palliative Care,
Ambulatory Clinics, Essential Diagnostic and Clinical Support Services,
Community Based Services.
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1
Our Organisation

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service covers approximately 
10,020 square kilometres. It encompasses the local government areas 
of Sunshine Coast, Gympie and Noosa; stretching to Gympie at its 
northern boundary, south to Caloundra and out to Kilkivan in the west.
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Local hepatology partnership curing Hepatitis C in the community

Sunshine Coast University Hospital’s gastroenterology 
and hepatology department is helping cure hepatitis C 
sufferers in the Sunshine Coast and Wide Bay regions. 

The Sunshine Coast Hepatitis C Partnership (supported by 
the Department of Health’s Clinical Excellence Division) 
is providing an innovative and rapid access service to 
patients across the two regions. 

The Acting Clinical Director of Gastroenterology and 
Hepatology, Dr Jonathan Mitchell said the community-
based, nurse-led hepatitis C (HCV) clinic offered mobile 
fibroscan service to patients at multiple locations across 
the region. This simple, quick and painless test uses 
ultrasound to screen for liver disease by assessing the 
amount of HCV-related scarring in the liver. 

“The scan is followed by a rapid decision on treatment 
through a multi-disciplinary team meeting run by 
hepatologists (liver specialists),” Dr Mitchell said. 

“The amount of liver scarring influences the choice of 
treatment and the follow up required.” 

“If necessary, treatment is prescribed by a specialist and 
is be monitored by the patient’s GP, with ongoing support 
from the Hepatology Partnership.” 

In its first year of operation, the mobile clinic has proven 
to be a success, with 85 per cent of Hepatitis C patients 
now being treated in primary care, relieving congestion in 
secondary care clinics.

Hepatology Partnership has sent treatment 
recommendations to General Practitoners for 273 
individuals. Referrals on the Maryborough Correctional 
Centre (MCC) have reduced, with 124 of 233 patients now 
assessed.

“It is great that patients are able to have their treatment 
initiated though this fantastic rapid access program, close 
to home. 

“Patients can ask their GP to organise a referral into the 
service, or call our Hepatology Nurse about the program,” 
Dr Mitchell said. 

Recent advances in medicine mean that in most cases, 
hepatitis C can now be successfully treated. The national 
goal is for elimination of Hepatitis C in Australia by 2026.

The project partnership is funded by the Queensland 
Health Integrated Care Innovation Fund (ICIF) and the 
Australian Centre For Health Services Innovation (AusHSI) 
until December 2018.

Our Organisation

Kerrin Param, Hepatology Partnership, Clinical Nurse Consultant scans a patient with the fibroscan technology.
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A unique partnership in crime prevention is proving 
successful at Nambour General Hospital.

A first of its kind, the Hospital Watch program has brought 
together Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service staff, 
Queensland Police Service, Neighbourhood Watch, and the 
local community together with the aim to discourage any 
incidence of crime in and around the hospital.

Nambour General Hospital Director of Nursing and Facility 
Manager Graham Wilkinson said the program had been on 
trial since October 2017, and was proving a success.

“Hospital Watch has increased the community’s 
perceptions of safety, as well as reassuring our patients 
and staff,” Mr Wilkinson said.

A Hospital Watch Nambour committee has been formed, 
involving all major stakeholders. The committee has 
identified high risk locations within the hospital precinct 
and installed Hospital Watch signage.

Queensland Police Service Superintendent Darryl Johnson, 
District Officer of the Sunshine Coast said criminal 
offences often occurred in the surrounding areas of 
hospitals.

“A significant amount of this criminal behaviour is 
preventable and can be deterred by the adoption and 
fostering of proactive partnerships with the community 
and by following simple crime prevention strategies such 
as placing valuables in a safe area and keeping a look out 
for suspicious behaviour. 

“Hospital Watch is a Queensland first, with an aim is 
to minimise the incidence of preventable crime, by 
encouraging people to report crime and suspicious activity 
near health service facilities and in nearby car parks,” 
Supt. Johnson said.

To support information sharing, Nambour General Hospital 
Protective Services have established a Tasking and 
Coordination meeting that meets daily to review reported 
incidents across the health service as well as information 
received from partner agencies.

Following the success of the Hospital Watch pilot program, 
there are plans in place to role the model out across the 
health service.

Partnership launches Queensland’s first Hospital Watch program

Our Organisation

Catherine Buick, Director, Operational Services, Andrew Adams, Manager Protective Services, Colin Knight, Protective Services Officer, 
Senior Constable Ellie Jupp, five members of local Neighbour Watch, Superintendent Darryl Johnson, and Seargent Gary Brayley.
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service (the health 
service) is the major provider of public health services, 
health education and research in the Sunshine Coast, 
Gympie and Noosa local government areas.

Established in 2012, the health service is an independent 
statutory body governed by the Sunshine Coast Hospital 
and Health Board.

We operate according to the service agreement with the 
Department of Health which identifies the services to be 

provided, funding arrangements, performance indicators 
and targets to ensure the expected health outcomes for 
our communities are achieved. 

Our Strategic Plan 2016-2020 outlines our vision, 
purpose, values, objectives and future direction as well 
as how we work with our community to improve people’s 
health and wellbeing.

Our vision
Health and wellbeing through exceptional care.

Our purpose
To achieve our vision by delivering better care and 
experience for individuals, better health outcomes for our 
population and better use of resources for healthcare.

Our values
The values of the health service underpin the culture of our organisation. We have adopted the Queensland Public 
Service values of:

Customers first
• know your customers
• deliver what matters
• make decisions with empathy

Ideas into action
• challenge the norm and suggest 

solutions
• encourage and embrace new ideas
• work across boundaries

Unleash potential
• expect greatness
• lead and set clear expectations
• seek, provide and act on 

feedback

Empower people
• lead, empower and trust
• play to everyone’s strengths
• develop yourself and those 

around you

Be courageous
• own your actions, successes and 

mistakes
• take calculated risks
• act with transparency

Our role and function

Our Organisation
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• better care and experience for individuals
• better use of resources for healthcare
• better outcomes for our local population.

These objectives are supported by improving capability 
across our organisation and shared communities of 
practice. Our objectives reflect our commitment to working 
closely with the Queensland Government to implement:

• the Queensland Government’s objectives for the 
community

• the Queensland Health Strategic Plan 2016-2020
• Queensland Health’s Health and Wellbeing Strategic 

Framework 2016-2020
• Queensland Health’s My health, Queensland’s future: 

Advancing health 2026.

 
    
Our priorities align with Queensland Government objectives 
for the community which will aim to tackle key health 
challenges to:

• keep Queenslanders healthy; and 
• give our children a great start.

…and exemplify delivery, of the directions 
outlined in My health, Queensland’s future: 
Advancing health 2026

• promoting wellbeing
• delivering healthcare
• connecting healthcare
• pursuing innovation. 

Our objectives Our region and people

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service covers 
approximately 10,020 square kilometres. It encompasses 
the local government areas of Sunshine Coast, Gympie 
and Noosa; stretching to Gympie at its northern boundary, 
south to Caloundra and out to Kilkivan in the west.
     
The 407,638 persons living in the catchment area make up 
approximately 8 per cent of Queensland’s population and 
by 2031, the SCHHS population is projected to increase by 
23 per cent, compared to 22 per cent for Queensland.

According to the 2016 census:

• 2.1 per cent of the SCHHS population identify as 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander

• 18.9 per cent of residents were born overseas and 
5.0 per cent of residents speak a language other than 
English at home

• 45 per cent of the region’s 94,355 families are couples 
with no children, 37.9 per cent are couples with 
children, and 16 per cent are one parent families

• 28.8 per 10,000 persons are homeless across the 
SCHHS, however 58.5 persons per 10,000 are homeless 
in Gympie-Cooloola area

• 20,915 residents (6.0 per cent) report having a 
profound or severe disability or need for assistance

• residents aged 65 years and over represent 20.4 per 
cent of the population

• 38 per cent of our population suffer relative 
socioeconomic disadvantage.

Compared to the whole of Queensland, our region has:

• a higher percentage of children between zero and 14

• a higher median age

• a higher crude death rate per 1000 persons

• a higher percentage of persons in need of assistance, or 
with a profound or severe disability

• a lower percentage of indigenous persons

• a lower crude birth rate per 1000 persons

• a lower percentage of residents born overseas and lower 
percentage of residents speaking a language other than 
English at home

• a lower percentage of families who are couples with 
children

• a lower rate per 10,000 persons of homeless persons 
(except for Gympie-Cooloola area).

Our Organisation
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During the past five years our health service has 
experienced significant growth across all areas and met 
greater demand for services. 

By the end of 2017-2018, for an average day in SCHHS:
• 366 people will have presented for emergency care
• 382 people will have been discharged from our 

hospital facilities
• 2397 people will have accessed our ambulatory 

services across specialist clinics, breast screening, 
dental services, community services and primary 
health

• nine babies will have been born. 

*Note: Full year 2017-18 data is projected from actual data 
to the end of March 2018, ambulatory services include 
specialist clinics, breast screening, oral health, hospital 
avoidance, primary health, midwifery and maternity, and 
community services.  Staff numbers are a headcount.

Our Services
Sunshine Coast University Hospital
Sunshine Coast University Hospital, the health service’s 
newest facility, opened in 2017 and will grow to provide 
tertiary-level services by 2021. The health service is now 
preparing for services that will commence in Stage 2, as 
part of the Service Transition Strategy, when Sunshine 
Coast University Hospital will expand to more than 600 
beds from July 2018. It is collocated with the Sunshine 
Coast Health Institute and the Sunshine Coast University 
Private Hospital. The advancement of the precinct is a 
collaboration between the health service, the University 
of the Sunshine Coast, TAFE Queensland and Griffith 
University Medical School. 

Nambour General Hospital
Nambour General Hospital has a proud history of providing 
services to the Sunshine Coast community since the 1920s 
and until recently, was the primary referral centre and 
largest hospital in the region. Nambour General Hospital 
will undergo a $86.239 million redevelopment to better 
service the growing health needs of the local community 
and provide an expanded emergency department, 
increased medical imaging service capacity, mental health, 
surgical services and medical services with a focus on 
sub-acute services and services for older persons. Short 
stay wards will be expanded and collocated, while design 
improvements will be made to the renal dialysis unit, 
surgical cleaning facility, oncology and day unit infusion 
therapy units, and kitchen facilities. 

 

Caloundra Health Service
The role of Caloundra Health Service has changed since 
the opening of Sunshine Coast University Hospital in 2017, 
but it continues to play an essential role within the health 
service providing care to the local community. Caloundra 
Health Service is the health service’s hub for palliative 
care and opthalmology and provides a range of outpatient, 
ambulatory and community-based services including:
• a Minor Injury and Illness Clinic
• ambulatory care, renal, oral health and community 

services for residents of Caloundra and surrounds.
In December 2016, $17 million was allocated for the 
redevelopment of Caloundra Health Service. It is due for 
completion by end 2018.

Gympie Hospital
Gympie Hospital provides acute regional services to 
residents in the Gympie, Cooloola and Kilkivan areas.  A 
range of acute, ambulatory, community and mental health 
services are provided including emergency, surgical 
and medical services, palliative care and rehabilitation, 
maternity services and renal dialysis.  The facility has a 
specialist stroke unit and commenced a CT service during 
the year.  Infrastructure funding of $2.7 million funding 
has been allocated towards replacement of the paging and 
emergency power systems and upgrades to the kitchen 
and pharmacy facilities. These monies are in addition to 
more than $300,000 which will be provided to Gympie 
Hospital to refurbish the front entrance and the repaint of 
ward areas. 

2013/2014 115,342 92,864 330,0814,902 2,812

2017/2018
projected*

133,432 139,551 875,1327,399 3,313

Five (5) year growth planOur five-year growth
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Maleny Soldiers Memorial Hospital
Maleny Soldiers Memorial Hospital (MSMH) is a rural 
facility providing services to the Maleny region. It delivers 
an emergency service, medical care, a fully functional sub-
acute rehabilitation unit with a primary focus on patient-
centred care, ambulatory clinics, essential diagnostic and 
clinical support services and oral health and community 
based services.

Glenbrook Residential Aged Care Facility
Glenbrook Residential Aged Care Facility is a 45-bed 
purpose built high care residential aged care facility in 
Nambour. Glenbrook aims to provide high quality resident 
focussed care in a home-like environment including:
• Transition care
• General aged care
• Older persons mental health care
• Secure dementia wing.

Janelle Killick Community Care Unit
The Community Care Unit (CCU) provides a 24-hour, seven 
days per week, mental health residential rehabilitation 
service. The service aims to promote an individual’s 
recovery by providing opportunities to maximise their 
strengths and potential, with access to 24-hour mental 
health care, peer support and supervised rehabilitation. 
Clinical interventions and living skills development are 
provided to consumers who require medium to long term 
mental health care and rehabilitation.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
people 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people account for 2.2 
per cent of the health service’s population compared to 
4.4 per cent for Queensland. We have a higher percentage 
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people under 
19 years than the Queensland average. This age group 
represents 47 per cent of the total Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander population in the Sunshine Coast Hospital 
and Health Service region.

Work on the Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 
Diversity Plan is ongoing. Four action plans are included 
within the Diversity Plan including Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Health Action Plan (Closing the Gap),  
Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP), Disability Action Plan and 
the Multicultural Action Plan.

The health service has an Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander SCHHS Workforce Plan 2018 – 2021. We currently 
employ 104 staff who have identified as Aboriginal and/
or Torres Strait Islander people, which represents 1.44 per 

cent of the workforce. As our regional Aboriginal and Torres  
Strait Islander population represents 2.2 per cent of the 
total population, we continue to focus on closing the gap.

Health service plan
Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service’s Health 
Service Plan 2012-2022 was developed through 
consultation and engagement with consumers, our staff 
and the wider community. It provides essential direction 
to ensure our transition toward the health service 
organisation we aim to be in 2017-2018 and beyond is 
achieved. The plan provides information on: 

• how our communities’ health needs will change
• the health service’s responses to meeting these needs
• service priorities to 2022. 

Strategic challenges and 
opportunities
Risk is intrinsic to healthcare and exists in all facets of 
public healthcare delivery—from our day-to-day clinical 
activities, to managing our workforce and finances, to 
making decisions about the future of our health service 
as we expand to become a tertiary level health service. 
A culture of robust risk management, through effective 
internal controls, is required to ensure that we achieve our 
objectives and realise our vision of health and wellbeing 
through exceptional care. The strategic risks we manage: 

• Workforce: Ensure size, capacity and capability of 
the workforce is sufficient to meet service and skills 
demands of a transforming hospital and health service

• Information technology: the ability to effectively plan, 
evaluate and introduce new information, application 
and technology assets to improve service efficiencies

• Financial sustainability: the ability to maintain budget 
integrity, increase revenue and deliver services within 
allocated funding

• Transformation: the scale of change associated with the 
transformation of our health service through expansion, 
coupled with the implementation  
of state-wide initiatives

• Patient safety and quality: ability to continue to meet 
or exceed established regulatory or industry standards 
and community expectations in delivery of quality, safe 
healthcare

• Demand: the ability to meet the health needs of the 
community and match the resource capacity of the 
health service.
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The Queensland Health Interpreter Service provides 
interpreters in Queensland Health public facilities for 
patients from non-English speaking backgrounds. 
Interpreters are provided on-site (face-to-face), via video 
conference or over the phone. Interpreters are available 
24 hours a day, seven days a week and are provided at no 
charge to the client. Our interpreter service expenditure 
during 2017-2018 can be found on the Queensland 
Government’s Open Data website www.qld.gov.au/data.

Machinery of government changes
There were no machinery of government changes which 
impacted Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service’s 
operations. 

In 2018-2019 our focus will turn to our opportunities:

Collaboration and Partnerships

•  Working collaboratively with individuals, families and 
communities to optimise experience while in contact 
with our health service.

• Broadening the role and impact of primary care and 
other community-based services as part of a cohesive 
health system.

• Targeting improvement in a range of health 
determinants.

• Engaging clinicians and consumers in service 
planning, delivery and review for existing and 
expanded services.

Optimisation, Transformation and Growth

• Improving access to high reliability care.

• Adopting clinician-led, transformative approaches 
so our consumers experience a safe and seamless 
journey of care throughout their life.

• Realising the benefits of the Sunshine Coast Health 
Institute partnership to enhance workforce capability, 
innovation and translational research.

• Implementing models of care/ service models that 
include workforce innovation, service redesign and 
new technologies to improve access, safety and 
consistent care across all parts of our organisation.

• Activating the benefits of a digital future, through 
the introduction of the integrated electronic medical 
record and other new technologies.

Value Creation

• Articulating the role of all parts of our inter-dependent 
health service, and the distinct value they provide to 
our community.

• Harnessing the collective health capacity and 
resources within our communities.

• Optimising our efficiency through choosing wisely, 
avoiding waste and being responsible stewards of 
public money.

• Creating an organisational culture where our people 
feel valued and are supported in their ongoing 
development.

Opportunities

Interpreter services
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The health service is committed to improving health 
outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
people. The health service is on track to meet its 
Closing the Gap targets through a range of initiatives 

including preventable hospitalisation programs 
(PHP), immunisation programs, antenatal and 
postnatal care for pregnant women and nutrition 
programs.  
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Team 
Community Integrated and Sub-Acute Services in 

partnership with Suncare Community Services and 
Northcoast Aboriginal Corporation for Community Health.

Men’s Health Worry Up
No Worries Program 

 
2018 

Target group: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Men.

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 

GIBIR GALANGUR 
Men’s Wellbeing  program 

“The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Men’s Wellbeing program is a facilitated 
program where participants can come and participate in a variety of planned workshops 
and social activities targeted at reducing anxiety and increasing their overall wellbeing 

through cultural safety and being part of a supported group.”

E V E R Y  T H U R S D A Y

Kawana Family Centre, 50 Iluka Ave, Buddina 
This venue will be used between June 2018 until September 2018 

11.00am – 2.00pm

LUNCH PROVIDED

• Facilitated by experienced health workers
• Culturally safe environment
• Guest Speakers
• No judgement
• Open invite

Eddie Wotherspoon (SCHHS) 5479 9608
Christina Fletcher (Suncare) 5409 5950

NCACCH 5346 9800

SEE YOU THERE

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service

Sexual Health and HIV
Services Clinic 87

Men’s and Women’s Business

We can assist with:
•  Sexually Transmitted Infections (STI) Screening
•  HIV services
•  Hepatitis B vaccinations
•  Contraception
•  Sexual Health education and information
•  Sexual Health Issues

PRIVATE and CONFIDENTIAL
Don’t be shame

The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Community 
Health Program now have a Health Worker available 3 
days per fortnight to assist Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander clients.

NO MEDICARE CARD NEEDED
Nambour General Hospital, Level 2, Block 3 Hospital Road

NAMBOUR QLD 4560
PH: (07) 5470 5244

MONDAY-FRIDAY

This patient publication was developed with input from consumers. The Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service is accredited 
by the Australian Council on Healthcare Standards, for more information see www.safetyandquality.gov.au or ask a member of 
staff.
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Gympie Jabba Jabba
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Child Immunisation Program
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Referrals to CISAS 
AH & QH (Inhouse)

NCACCH Applications 
and Referrals

Referral to ATSI team 
(Internal)

Referral to External 
source

PHP Outgoing Referrals - Jul to Dec 2017

Median age of death - SCHHS

PHP Occasions of Service - Jul to Dec 2017

Closing the gap on health inequities

Our Organisation
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Consumer engagement 2017–2018

In 2017 we launched our strategy for P.E.A.C.E (Patient 
Experience and Consumer Engagement) 2017-2020 to 
provide clear direction and a course of action to guide all 
health service staff and consumers to build meaningful 
relationships and support the delivery of person centred 
care.

Active since 2013, the Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health 
Service Consumer Advisory Group (CAG) continues to meet 
five times a year with the Health Service Chief Executive 
and Executive Director Medical Services to provide higher 
level strategic advice to the health service. The committee 
of 10 consumers is led by the consumer chair. The group 
is representative of the diversity of the Sunshine Coast 
Region and contributes to service planning through their 
understanding of local and regional issues and dialogue 
between the health service and the wider community. 

Consumer Engagement
Our consumer engagement register has grown, there are 
now 150 consumers signed up.

Ninety-four consumer representative positions on 
committees, working groups of focus groups throughout 
the health service, including:
• Comprehensive Care Committees
• Nurse Navigator Program
• Medication safety Committee
• Mental Health Consumers and Carers Group
• End of Life Care Committee 

The Consumer Publication Review Group has co-designed 
and reviewed more than 50 documents for the health 
service, leading to improved readability and suitability for 
our community. 

Patient
experience
Patient
experience

Consumer
engagement
Consumer
engagement

Person-
centred

care

Person-
centred

care

• respect
• physical comfort
• access to care
• compassionate care
• emotional support
• empathetic listening
    and response.

• respect
• physical comfort
• access to care
• compassionate care
• emotional support
• empathetic listening
    and response.

• empowerment
• diversity
• continuous improvement
• partnership
• inclusion
• participation.

• empowerment
• diversity
• continuous improvement
• partnership
• inclusion
• participation.

Our Organisation
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Patient Experience
This year marked the completion of our three-phase 
patient experience survey. Feedback on a health service-
wide postal survey was received from 5332 patients. The 
survey was conducted over three waves and received 
an overall response rate of 25 per cent. This project was 
undertaken to gauge any impact on the patient experience 
throughout the health service before, during and after 
the opening of Sunshine Coast University Hospital. The 
results are currently being collated and will be delivered 
to the health service and our consumers over the next few 
months.

During 2017-2018, 1087 consumers responded to 
additional surveys providing anonymous feedback on both 
new and existing services, including:
• Minor Injury and Illness Clinic, Caloundra
• Community Chronic Conditions Service

• Short Stay Unit, Sunshine Coast University Hospital 
Emergency Department

• Ambulatory Care Centre signage, Sunshine Coast 
University Hospital

• NAIDOC Week, Community Health Services 
• Musculoskeletal Physiotherapy Screening, Allied Health. 

Feedback
As in previous years, the health service continues to 
receive a significantly higher proportion of compliments 
than complaints (494 complaints in Riskman since January 
versus 954 compliments). Compliments and complaints 
provide valuable information to improve our services. We 
are within key performance indicators (KPIs) for complaints  
being closed within 35 calendar days, sitting at 86.4 per 
cent for May.

Our Organisation
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Funding boost expands Sunshine Coast Child 
Development Service

A $1.3 million Australian Government funding boost 
has expanded Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health 
Service’s ability to care for children dealing with Fetal 
Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD) and their Families. 

The Federal Government Alcohol and Drug unit 
funding grant was awarded to Sunshine Coast Child 
Development Service in conjunction with consortium 
partners: Griffith University, Gold Coast Child 
Development Service, University of Sunshine Coast, 
The University of Queensland and Institute for Urban 
Indigenous Health (IUIH) covering the greater Brisbane 
region. Griffith University’s Professor Sharon Dawe is 
the project lead and chief research investigator.

Service Director, Dr Heidi Webster, said the additional 
funding enabled more children to receive care in a 
timelier manner.

“Prompt diagnosis and support is key for children 
with FASD. Children with FASD need extra help in 
developing important foundational skills essential 
for school and life. There is growing evidence that 
supporting children and their families at this critical 
time reduces some of the longer-term detrimental 
effects of prenatal alcohol exposure,” Dr Webster said.

“We are excited to be able to provide families the 
opportunity to meet with a team of Allied Health 

Therapists and Doctors who are experts in assessment 
and diagnosis of FASD much earlier than before.”

“We’ve been overwhelmed by the gratitude of parents 
whose children have been on waitlists, and now can 
access help much sooner than they had expected.” 

The Child Development Service now has a fully trained 
FASD multidisciplinary assessment team on-board. A 
research project, being carried out in conjunction with 
university psychologists and occupational therapists, 
is also underway. The team have started additional 
assessments of children 3-7 years of age to determine 
what assessments are best for kids in this age group, 
for example they are trialling new iPad tests of 
attention and concentration. 

Dr Webster said: “This information will help advise 
government and other services of the needs and best 
ways to assess children from a young age, also what 
interventions can best support optimal development 
throughout their childhood. 

In August 2018 the Child Development Service will be 
relocating to a new space at Caloundra Health Service 
where families will be able to access all community 
child health services in one convenient location.

2
The Child Development service now has a fully trained Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD) multidisciplinary team onboard.
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Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people on the 
Sunshine Coast can now access a new diabetes clinic 
at the Caloundra Health Service. Since opening in 
October 2017, more than 16 clinics have been held 
and more than 40 patients have been seen.

The Clinical Director of Endocrinology and Diabetes, 
Dr Shyam Sunder said the clinic was established in 
direct response to feedback from our patients and the 
community. 

“We are very proud to have launched this service in 
Caloundra. Culturally appropriate, community initiated 
and supported health services such as these are key to 
making an impact.” Dr Sunder said. 

“Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are four 
times more likely to have diabetes and be hospitalised 
with diabetes related conditions,” Dr Sunder said. 

“Diabetes occurs at a younger age in indigenous 
people and its complications can therefore develop 
earlier than is the case for the non-indigenous 
population. 

“Early intervention in the form of risk factor 
modification and good management of diabetes will 
help with closing this gap.” 

Gemma Stevens, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
advanced health worker, said patients at the clinic are 
consulted by a multi-disciplinary team, including an 
endocrinologist, other key members of the diabetes 
service such as a diabetes educator and a dietitian, as 
well as an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health 
worker.

“The clinic team helps patients ‘live strong’ with 
diabetes. In addition to providing clinical care, we 
promote important lifestyle changes. Weight loss and 
good diet are key,” she said.

“We work hard on our relationship with the community 
to encourage and empower self-management. We do 
our best to make our service as convenient as possible 
for clients by offering consults face-to-face or on the 
phone. 

“Our service does not stop at the front-door, we have 
regular contact with our Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Hospital Liaison Officers who will notify us if a 
client is in hospital so we can support them if they are 
admitted.” 

One client said: “The support is so important; the 
clinic and staff feel like family. Having people who 
understand you and your community has made finding 
out about my diabetes less scary. I am not alone and 
feel proud I am managing it the best I can.”

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander diabetes service opens at Caloundra 

Team members of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health and Cultural Capability teams join local Elders for the opening of the 
Caloundra Health Service Diabetes Clinic.
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Leadership development

During the 2017-2018 financial year there was a continued 
focus on the delivery of, and participation in, a number 
of leadership and management development programs. 
These were designed to empower and enable a strong and 
positive leadership culture for the health service. The two 
priority initiatives were the Step Up Leadership Program 
and the Process Communication Model® (PCM).

The Step Up Leadership Program was a three month 
program designed to meet the complex leadership 
needs of the health service. The program focuses on 
developing and strengthening the skills staff need to 
supervise, motivate and provide effective leadership 
within a healthcare team. As a state-wide organisation, 
Queensland Health offering two programs were 
successfully delivered to 31 employees during the  
 2017-2018 financial year.

Process Communication Model® (PCM) is a course 
which is supported by the Royal Australasian College 
of Surgeons for advanced training positions. It aims to 
teach participants how to observe and analyse verbal 
and non-verbal behaviours to ensure they communicate 
effectively, specifically in high pressured situations. The 
health service delivered one program in November with 12 
participants from senior leadership positions representing 

both clinical and non-clinical elements of our workforce.
In total 15 clinical staff from across various professions 
and facilities in the health service also attended 
Leadership Programs offered by the Clinical Excellence 
Division (CED), Department of Health.  These programs, 
focussed on building the foundations of leadership  and 
included:

• The Learn2Lead 
• Step Up Leadership 
• Clinician Business Development 
• Manage4Improvement 
• Emerging Clinical Leaders
• Medical Leadership in Action.

The Management Capability Program, which comprises a 
number of key modules for assisting in the development 
of core human resource management skills for managers, 
was again delivered throughout 2017-2018. The number 
of sessions that were offered and the number of staff 
that attended these sessions are outlined in table below. 
This program has recently been redeveloped and re-
badged as a Line Manager Fundamentals Program with 
other managerial skill areas, which include finance and 
procurement, and will be launched in July 2018.

Management Capability Program

MCP Attendance 2017-2018 No. of Sessions No. of staff attendances

MCP1(A)-Recruiting for Success: selecting the right 
candidate

24 210

MCP1 (B) – Recruiting for Success: Policy and 
obligations

13 75

MCP2 – Effective performance discussions 10 97

MCP3 – Work health and safety for managers and 
supervisors

Online 92

MCP4 – Working together: supporting ill or injured 
employees

7 26

MCP5 (A) – Payroll Management Foundations: Payroll 
Assurance

13 110

MCP5 (B) – Payroll Management Foundations: Workbrain 
Assurance

13 108

Our people

Table 1:  
Management Capability Program
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In March 2017, the SCHHS made a successful submission 
for funding to the Office of Chief Nursing and Midwifery 
Officer for the Nurse Unit Manager/Midwifery Unit 
Manager (NUM/MUM) Project aimed at developing and 
implementing a 12-month nurse leadership program 
targeting current and prospective leadership capability 
of the NUMs/MUMs employed in the health service. 
The planned NUM/MUM project provides a professional 
focus developing contemporary clinical leadership 
attributes using an evidence-based approach underpinned 
by transformation leadership theory and practice 
development methodology. During this period, the project 
implemented the following initiatives:
1. ‘Immersive Clinical Leadership’ program: This course 

was developed by Monash University in partnership 
with members of the Practice Development team to 
contextualise the material and ensure its relevance 
and applicability to the health service context. The 
engagement of the Practice Development Team in 
co-facilitation increased with each delivery building 
capacity for self-delivery in future. A total of 59 
participants attended this course, which was delivered 
in November 2017 and then again in May and June 
2018.

2. Provision of Professional Coaching: The project also 
engaged a qualified Coach from within the health 
service to provide a coaching program consisting of 
12 fortnightly sessions to support NUMs/MUMs who 
participated in the ‘Immersive Clinical Leadership’ 
course. A total of 15 NUMs/MUMs completed the 
coaching program. 

3. Provision of a Series of Clinical Leadership Sessions: 
Additionally, the project engaged the services of a 
Health Service Improvement Coach to deliver a series 
of six sessions from August 2017 to March 2018. 
These were four-hourly sessions and were repeated 
three times each month to enable wider participation 
of NUMs/MUMs from across the health service. A total 
of 56 participants attended these sessions, which 
aimed to:

• Reiterate the focus of clinical leadership as 
central to the role of the NUM/MUM

• Enable SCHHS NUMs/MUMs to be engaged, 
competent and valued

• Reinvigorate NUMs/MUMs after the recent 
transfer to and integration with health service

• Provide an overview of key leadership and 
management principles to help to address the 
workload pressures faced by NUMs/MUMs

• Enable and support NUMs/MUMs to refocus,  
re-energise and prepare for Stage 2 of the  
health service transition.

Leadership Culture and Capability Development Program
The health service is entering an exciting phase of its 
transformation and is committed to developing a culture 
in which highly reliable and safe care is consistently 
delivered for improved patient outcomes. Critical to this 
is the development of leaders who are visible, active 
and courageous. This means that our leaders hold each 

other, and their team, to account for the delivery of our 
values and its translation into quality care. To achieve this 
objective the health service has embraced the opportunity 
to enter a three year partnership with the Department 
of Health’s Clinical Excellence Division to develop the 
leadership culture and capability of our leaders to support 
our leaders to meet the expectations of their role. 

The program will launch in July 2018 and the initial 
focus will be supporting and equipping our leaders and 
managers to more effectively and capably deal with 
the change, transition and competing challenges.  To 
undertake this process and program of work the health 
service has established some key project sponsors 
including the:
• Chief Executive
• Executive Director, Innovation Quality Research and 

Education 
• Executive Director, People and Culture
• Executive Director, Centre for Leadership Excellence, 

Department of Health.

There is also a project team of representatives from 
Innovation, Quality, Research and Education, Human 
Resources and Clinical Excellence Division.

Work health safety and wellbeing
Continuous improvement of the safety and wellbeing 
standards of all workers and our volunteers, students, 
contractors and visitors is the key driving factor to support 
the vision and strategic priorities of the Sunshine Coast 
Hospital and Health Service. Our vision of Health and 
wellbeing through exceptional care is best supported 
by ensuring those providing exceptional care are also 
experiencing very high standards of safety, health and 
wellbeing.

The health service growth through the opening of 
Sunshine Coast University Hospital and associated 
personnel and department moves has provided significant 
challenges to achieving and maintaining high standards of 
safety and wellbeing. The process that has been used has 
included the thorough application of safety management 
system principles including:
• Commitment to health and safety by all levels of 

management and personnel
• The rigorous application of risk management 

processes
• Provision of, and adherence to, Work Health and 

Safety procedures
• A coordinated approach to safety education and 

training including inductions
• Safety assurance processes that include audit and 

review against recognised standards and accreditation 
by the Australian Council on Healthcare Standards.

Our people
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Some of the significant achievements in the field of safety 
and wellbeing during 2017-2018 were:

• an internal audit of hazardous chemical storage and 
procedures that included a laboratory audit and hazardous 
zone audit

• an external audit of the health service’s Safety 
Management System against the Australian Standard
4801: Occupational Health and Safety Management 
Systems 

• the implementation of the new Queensland Health
incident and risk management software solution, RiskMan
which provides enhanced reporting and analysis of work 
health and safety incidents and facilitates varying levels of 
investigation to help prevent recurring incidents.

There has also been a concerted effort to increase the profile 
and effectiveness of  health service’s wellbeing initiatives. 
Standard workplace health promotion provisions have 
included the continuation of the Fitness Passport and various 
injury and illness prevention programs. In addition to these 
provisions the health service has introduced a number of 
targeted programs to meet the needs of its growing workforce 
including:
• focus groups to address mental health
• a medical officer fatigue management working group
• support for individual department health and well-being

initiatives
• a request for, and subsequent granting of a $160,000 

government support program for healthier drink choices.

Support for the staff driven Health4Life Steering Committee 
has also been reinforced to ensure its efforts and those of the 
growing list of health and wellbeing champions is recognised 
and potential is realised. The Health4Life Steering Committee 
also provides an avenue for all staff to offer suggestions to 
improve their health and wellbeing and for those suggestions 
to be included in the health and wellbeing plan.

Work health and safety performance 
There were 1860 work health and safety incidents reported 
in 2017-2018. Manual handling, occupational violence and 
slips/trips and falls were the top three work health and 
safety risk exposures. Incidence of each causative factor has 
remained approximately stable and proportionate compared 
to last year.

Workforce profile
Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service is working 
to ensure we have a capable workforce that has the 
capacity to efficiently and flexibly deliver the health 
service requirements into the future. There are a number 
of challenges facing the future growth of our organisation, 
including:

• further commissioning of new services and growth in demand
• an ageing workforce
• significant population growth on the Sunshine Coast
• rapidly advancing health information communication

technologies.

To meet these challenges and other emerging needs of 
the health service environment, it is critical we continue to 
invest in our people.
The health service has undergone significant change 
with the opening of Sunshine Coast University Hospital 
in March 2017, changing the way services are delivered 
across he health service. This exciting addition has 
supported the health service to introduce innovative 
models of care that will better meet the diverse health 
needs of our community.

As at 29 June 2018 we employed 5745.54 Full Time 
Equivalent (FTE) staff. The health service’s female 
workforce is 74.8 per cent in 2017-2018.

The workforce increased by 367.98 FTE or 6.84 per cent. 
The increase was mainly associated with the opening of 
Sunshine Coast University Hospital.

The majority of our employees are employed permanently.
In the 2018 financial year, the proportion of permanent 
employees was 74.8 per cent.

The proportion of employees aged over 55 years was 
22.4 per cent in 2017-2018. The proportion of employees 
aged less than 25 years is 4.2 per cent in 2017-2018.  
Supporting our ageing workforce is a key focus in our 
Strategic Workforce Plan.

The average age of our workforce is 44.44 years in 2017-
2018.

The average length of service is 8.02 years in 2017-2018.
The health service’s permanent employee retention rate is 
95.13 per cent in 2017-2018. 

Our people
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Workforce performance, ethics and conduct

The health service’s employment framework is designed to 
enable a high performing, impartial and productive 
workforce. It encompasses workforce planning, attraction 
and retention, industrial awards and agreements, union 
and employee engagement, the Code of Conduct, and 
performance development and management.

Recognising the importance of achieving a balance with the 
demands of professional and personal life, the Health
Service continues to explore flexible working options 
available within our employment framework. Employees 
have access to accrued leave time, compressed hours, 
flexible hours of work, job sharing, part-time employment 
and telecommuting arrangements. 

The Health Service Consultative Forum, along with local
consultative forums representative of our workforce
disciplines, continues to operate in line with the Public
Service Commission Guidelines for Consultative Forums.
These forums enable a strong focus and commitment
to local resolution and provide a robust framework for
consultation between management and unions on matters
arising out of industrial instruments, workforce change or
other workforce matters.

The health service is committed to ensuring the highest 
level of ethical behaviour through all aspects of our 
activities. We uphold our responsibility to the community 
to conduct and report on our business transparently and 
honestly while maintaining processes that ensure our 
staff, at all levels, understand these responsibilities. This 
support includes management, investigation and resolution 
of matters that may require reporting to external agencies 
(i.e. Crime and Corruption Commission, Public Service 
Commission, Queensland Ombudsman, Office of the Health 
Ombudsman), conciliation and advocacy within
industrial and other tribunals.

During 2017-2018 the health service continued to 
navigate the industrial environment with minimal 
industrial disputation reaching the Queensland Industrial 
Relations Commission. 

Our people

The health service supports the As One Public Service 
Disability Employment Strategy. As at 29 June 2018, 1.38 
per cent of the workforce (100 employees) had identified 
as having a disability.

Increasing Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
representation in employment and reducing the overall 
level of disadvantage among Indigenous  Australians, is 
an integral part of the health service’s commitment to 
closing the gap between Indigenous and non-Indigenous  
Australians.

As at 29 June 2018, the health service employs 104 staff 
who have identified as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
people, which represents 1.44 per cent of the workforce.

The health service encourages and supports linguistically 
diverse backgrounds across all occupational streams.   
As at 29 June 2018, 8.02 per cent (579 employees) have 
identified themselves as having a non-English speaking 
background. 
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3
The region’s most vulnerable patients are in safe hands 
with the commencement of services in the paediatric 
critical care unit at Sunshine Coast University Hospital 
(SCUH).

A first for the region, the unit provides care for critically  
ill children aged up to 16 years. Paediatric critical care 
Director Dr Paula Lister said the opening of the unit meant 
fewer children had to be transferred to Brisbane for 
treatment.

“This is an exciting new service for our region which 
officially began on 29 January. And in the first six months, 
we have cared for more than 100 seriously ill children 
who would have otherwise been transferred to Brisbane 
for treatment. Our aim is to provide a high level of care for 
young patients right here, closer to homes,” Dr Lister said.

“Many children with life threatening and potentially 
recoverable illnesses or injuries may now be cared for at 
Sunshine Coast University Hospital.

“Some complex cases will still be transferred to Brisbane’s 
Lady Cilento Children’s Hospital (LCCH) for care, but even 
these children will often benefit from improved intensive 
care stabilisation before transfer

Dr Lister said the unit was part of a state-wide network of 
units providing specialised care for critically ill children.

“We work closely with clinicians at LCCH to ensure we 
continue to provide the best outcomes for the child and 
their family.”

Adjunct Professor Naomi Dwyer, Sunshine Coast Hospital 
and Health Service Chief Executive, said the two-bed unit 
was part of the health service’s commitment to improving 
access to healthcare for locals.

“This is an exciting time for our region with the expansion 
of our services at SCUH to continue until 2021.

“We’re dedicated to ensuring we continue to serve the 
health needs of the Sunshine Coast and Gympie regions, 
and provide high-level local health services.”

The paediatric critical care unit is staffed by a 
multidisciplinary team including paediatric intensivists, 
specialised paediatric critical care nursing, and allied 
health staff.

Our perfomance

Region’s most vulnerable in safe hands

The Paediatric Critical Care Unit team,  Claire Duffell, Sam Ingles, Dr Paula Lister, Lauren Morgan and Charlotte Moore.
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Table 5:  
Service Delivery Statement

 Notes 2017-2018
Target/Est.

2017-2018
Actual

Percentage of patients attending emergency departments seen within recommended timeframes:

• Category 1 (within 2 minutes) 100% 97%

• Category 2 (within 10 minutes)    80% 68%

• Category 3 (within 30 minutes)    75% 61%

• Category 4 (within 60 minutes)    70% 77%

• Category 5 (within 120 minutes)    70% 96%

Percentage of emergency department attendances who depart within 
four hours of their arrival in the department

   >80% 73%

Median wait time for treatment in emergency departments (minutes) 20 20

Median wait time for elective surgery (days)   25 39

Percentage of elective surgery patients treated within clinically recommended times:

Category 1 (30 days)    >98% 94%

Category 2 (90 days)    >95% 89%

Category 3 (365 days)    >95% 96%

The Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Board is 
responsible for the delivery of the organisation’s strategy 
and monitoring of performance.

We measure our success by our ability to achieve the 
objectives set out in our Strategic Plan 2016-2020.  
 
The Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 
performance is also monitored through a Service  
Agreement with Department of Health.

In 2017-2018 the health service delivered increased 
services to our growing population. The table below 
provides information on the volume of services provided.

Our performance against the Service Delivery Statements 
is outlined below.

Delivering our services

Our performance
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CONT. Notes 2017-2018
Target/Est.

2017-2018 
Actual

Percentage of specialist outpatients waiting within clinically recommended time

Category 1 (30 days)     80% 95%

Category 2 (90 days)     70% 55%

Category 3 (365 days)     90% 88%

Percentage of specialist outpatients seen within clinically recommended time

Category 1 (30 days) 81% 81%

Category 2 (90 days) 70% 52%

Category 3 (365 days) 90% 69%

Total weighted activity units (WAUs): 1 158,222

Acute inpatient 93,457 98,418

Outpatients 20,904 18,432

Sub-acute   9,218 6,551

Emergency department 20,281 20,147

Mental health   9,810 10,135

Prevention and primary care 2   4,307 4,539

Number of Telehealth outpatient occasions of service >2,000 3,336

Average cost per weighted activity unit for activity based funding facilities $5,598 $5,663

Rate of healthcare associated Staphylococcus aureus activity  
(including MRSA) bloodstream (SAB) infections/10,000 acute public 
hospital patient days

     <2.0 0.45

Rate of community follow-up within 1-7 days following discharge from an 
acute mental health inpatient unit

>68 % 68%

Proportions of readmissions to an acute mental health inpatient unit within 
28 days of discharge

<9% 10%

Ambulatory mental health service contact duration (hours) >67,780 59,606

Service delivery statement notes:

Notes: 

1. A Weighted Activity Unit (WAU) provides a common unit of measurement that is weighted by acuity and resource use so all activity is measured 
consistently. A Service Level Agreements (SLA) between the Department of Health and the HHS specifies the activity being purchased in WAUs by 
service type.

2. Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service achieved a total of 158,222 WAUs in 2017/18 compared to a target of 158,789.  A coding audit is 
currently taking place to ensure all activity has been coded correctly.  The final coded inpatient data closes for 2017/18 in late September.

Our perfomance

Table 5 cont’d:  
Service Delivery Statement
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Clinical staff working within the Sunshine Coast Mental 
Health and Addiction Services’ Community Care Unit  have 
actively been involved in the developing and designing 
of a new initiative, Stages of Medication Administration 
(SOMA).  

A three-month trial commenced in July 2017, to further 
develop process and workplace instructions to guide 
clinical staff to adhere to SOMA and ensure consumer 
safety.  To support this process in a consistent approach, 
the Comunity Care Unit implemented four stages of SOMA. 

Two memory aids are used: Firstly an acronym (ASIS) and 
secondly a colour associated with each stage, using the 
song "I can see a rainbow" (red, yellow, pink, green). The 
acronym and colours are: 
• A: Administer (red): this is full administration by 

nursing staff 
• S: Supervised (yellow): residents take their own 

medication but this process is fully supervised by 
nursing staff

• I: Informed (pink): residents take their own medication 
and inform staff (nursing or allied health) by phone or 
in person. Staff then complete medication check-ins 
three times per week 

• S: Self-managed (green): residents self-manage their 
own medication and staff check-in weekly. 

The overall objective of the initiative was to:
• include staff from all disciplines who can be routinely 

involved in enhancing medication adherence through 
improve governance and medication safety while 
maintaining a least restrictive provision of care for all 

residents
• improve consistency in the assessment of a resident’s 

level of independence in managing their own 
medication

• increase communication between staff, residents 
and families, and interventions to support increasing 
abilities

• support residents living with persistent and serious 
mental illness improve their mental and physical 
wellbeing, through enhancing their ability to transition 
and live independently within the community.  

With the success of the three month trial, a collaborative 
approach was implemented to guide residents, carers 
and families through each of the four stages.  A self-
directed learning package was developed for clinicians, 
psychoeducation sessions, written and oral information for 
residents and a SOMA ASIS Poster supported the initiative.  

Since the implementation of SOMA there has been a 
reduction in medication administration errors due to an 
improved governance process, whilst maintaining the least 
restrictive provisions of care and supporting the resident’s 
recovery. 

In May 2018 the SOMA initiative was selected as a  winner 
of the National Medicinewise Awards for the category of 
Consumer Initiative: community or population level.

Our performance

New mental health medication regime nationally recognised

Community Care Unit (CCU) team proud winners of National Medicinewise Awards
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service has 
experienced significant growth in both the range and 
capacity of services. 

In March 2017 we opened the doors of the $1.8 billion 
Sunshine Coast University Hospital. The new hospital has 
changed the way services are delivered across the health 
service. The new tertiary health precinct is supporting our 
health service to innovate and better meet the diverse 
health needs of our community. Sunshine Coast University 
Hospital brings new clinical capability and capacity, an 
expanded workforce and an increase in self-sufficiency 
in health care on the Sunshine Coast. It is an important 
element in helping us achieve our vision of delivering 
‘health and wellbeing through exceptional care’. 

Better care and experience for individuals 
The provision of safe and reliable care is fundamental to 
our ethos. During 2017-2018 we worked to achieve this 
through:

• Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander diabetes clinic 
opened in October 2017, operating every second 
Tuesday morning from Caloundra Health Service. 

• The 2016-2017 Quality of Care report was published 
and disseminated in December 2017.

• Successful implementation in January 2018, of an 
effective integrated safety solution (RiskMan) in line 
with business needs and contemporary practice. 

• In January 2018, we opened our new Paediatric Critical 
Care Unit at Sunshine Coast University Hospital. This 
service is a first for the coast and provides care for some 
of the region’s sickest children.

• In March 2018 we underwent an Organisation Wide 
Survey by the Australian Council on Healthcare 
Standards against the EQuIP National Standards and 
the National Standards for Mental Health Services  and  
at 30 June 2018 the health service achieved full four-
year accreditation for the services it provides.

• At all our facilities we offer patients the opportunity to 
have their say on the health care they receive. During 
the first 12 months of operations at Sunshine Coast 
University Hospital we received a 4.5-star satisfaction 
rating.

• We appointed a dedicated prostate cancer nurse. Based 
at Sunshine Coast University Hospital and available 
free-of-charge to patients across the health service, the 
Prostate Cancer Specialist Nurse acts as the main point 
of contact for men and their families, supporting them 
with any issues and concerns related to their prostate 
cancer treatment. 

• Residents diagnosed with Type 2 Diabetes can now go 
online to learn more about their condition. The health 
service produced a video, Type 2 Diabetes and Me, to 
show people how to manage their condition. The video 
can be downloaded or patients can attend face-to-face 

information sessions at Maroochydore and Gympie.
• Establishment of the Geriatric Emergency Department 

Intervention (GEDI) program at Sunshine Coast 
University Hospital emergency department—single 
point of contact for elderly (aged 70 and over) patients—
undertaking structured comprehensive assessments for 
those presenting to emergency department. 

Better outcomes for our population 
Our services are connected to improve access to health 
and care for our population: 

• 2018 marked the 10th year event anniversary of 
Apology Day. This was celebrated at Gympie Hospital 
hosted by the health service’s Cultural Capability team 
with local Aboriginal Elder Aunty Judi Wickes, 100 staff 
and community members in the Peaceful Garden at 
Gympie Hospital.

• Introduction of Independent Patient Rights Advisor 
roles. The role is to work cooperatively with both 
patients and the staff of the Mental Health and 
Addiction Service to ensure patient rights under the 
Mental Health Act 2016 are safeguarded and patient 
health and wellbeing is promoted. Rights Advisors also 
work with the patient’s nominated support person(s), 
family, carers and other support persons. 

• We continue to transform the way we deliver care 
to our communities. In February 2018, we joined 
the Choosing Wisely Australia initiative to help us 
improve our patient’s experience and journey through 
our health service. Its aim is to start conversations 
between consumers and health care professionals 
about unnecessary tests, treatments and procedures, 
enhancing the quality of care and, where appropriate, 
reducing unnecessary care. 

• In March 2018, with North Coast Aboriginal Corporation 
for Community Health, we co-sponsored the Annual  
Well Persons Health Check Day for the Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander community hosted at the 
University of the Sunshine Coast.

• In April, we joined elders and our Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait islander community to commence work 
on the Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 
Reconciliation Action Plan. The plan will build strong 
relationships, respect and opportunities within the 
health service and community.

• Continuing participation in the Sunshine Coast 
Integrated Care Alliance—a health alliance coordinating 
and connecting care in seven key cross sectorial 
projects in hospital avoidance, early intervention, 
possible preventable hospitalisations, care coordination 
and shared care. 

• Mental health joint commissioning and coordination 
initiative with the PHN, GPs and non-government 
providers.  

Performance against strategic objectives

Our perfomance
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• The expansion of the Nurse Navigator model of care. 
Services expanded from Caloundra, Maleny and 
Gympie to encompass the entire geographical areas 
of the health service. Outreach services are offered to 
Maleny, Noosa and Maroochydore areas. The service 
continues to work across health care systems to reduce 
fragmentation, mitigate barriers, educate and empower 
patients and assist in the coordination of care.

• Formation of a Nambour General Hospital Consumer 
and Community Engagement Council. Opportunity for 
Nambour and Hinterland residents to have their say, 
share ideas for improvement and be involved in the way 
public healthcare is delivered in their local community.

Better use of resources for health and care 
We are optimising the use of our resources. In 2017-2018:

• As we continue the exciting journey of digital 
transformation for our health service, we have 
embarked on a significant piece of work in the 
preparation for the integrated electronic Medical Record 
(ieMR). Due for roll-out at Sunshine Coast University 
and Nambour General hospitals by the end of 2018. 
The ieMR will mean faster and easier access to patient 
information, leaving more time for our clinicians to care 
for patients and less time looking for paperwork. 

• We have successfully delivered technology solutions 
to meet both clinical and non-clinical business 
requirements. This has enabled us to improve the way 
the health service collects and manages information 
and records management. 

• The Sunshine Coast University Hospital Program was 
the winner of the ‘Delivering Healthcare’ category in 
the 2017 Queensland Health Awards for Excellence, in 
recognition of the safe opening of the new hospital in 
March 2017.

• Redevelopment works at Caloundra Health Service 
commenced in November 2017 and are on track for 
completion by late 2018. 

• The scope and funding for the Nambour General 
Hospital redevelopment project was confirmed in May 
2018. Construction will commence in first quarter 2019 
with an anticipated completion by December 2022.

• Oral Health Noosa Community Health Dental Clinic 
underwent an exciting upgrade that includes significant 
upgrades to instrument sterilisation equipment and 
storage at the facility.

Better organisational capability 
We aim to ensure our people are engaged, competent and 
valued. During 2017-2018:

• Several of our staff were honoured for exceptional 
care at the health service’s Australia Day Achievement 
Awards. 

• In January 2018, more than 60 junior doctors (interns) 
launched the next phase of their medical careers 
at the Sunshine Coast commencing their rotational 
duties at Sunshine Coast University, Nambour General, 
Caloundra, Maleny and Gympie hospitals.

• A new generation of nurses joined the health service 
to deliver exceptional patient care throughout 2018. 
86 nursing graduates were employed for the 2018 
Graduate Registered Nurse and Midwife program. 

• A unique partnership in crime prevention was 
implemented in October 2017. A first of its kind, the 
Hospital Watch brings health service staff, Queensland 
Police, Neighbourhood Watch groups and the local 
community together with the aim of discouraging crime 
from occurring in and around the hospital 

• Four medical students from Griffith University’s Rural 
Clinical School continued their medical training in the 
Longlook Program at Gympie Hospital. The Longlook 
program is an extended rural placement program.

• A new Clinical Research Unit to facilitate best practice 
in clinical trial and research was opened. The space 
allocated has been adapted to allow the unit to have 
patients for an extended length of stay to enable early 
phase trials. 

• August 2017 saw the formalisation of a 25-year 
partnership between the health service, Griffith 
University (Medical School), University of the Sunshine 
Coast and TAFE Queensland East Coast to train the next 
generation of doctors for the Sunshine Coast. 

Our performance
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The Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Board is 
comprised on eight members appointed by the Governor 
in Council on the recommendation of the state Minister 
for Health and Minster for Ambulance Services. Members 
bring a wealth of knowledge and experience in both the 
public and private sector with expertise in health, finance, 
business and law.

The Board is responsible for the overall governance of the 
Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service and derives its 
authority from the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 and 
other subordinate legislation.

The Board provides strategic direction to the health service 
to ensure goals and objectives meet the needs of the 
community it provides health services to and are aligned to 
current government health strategies and policies.

Key responsibilities
The Board has a range of functions as articulated in the 
Charter and include but are not limited to:

• overseeing the health service including its control and 
accountability systems

• reviewing, monitoring and approving systems for risk 
management, internal control and legal compliance 

• ensuring appropriate safety and quality systems are 
in place to ensure safe, high quality health care is 
provided to the community

• providing input into and final approval of 
management’s development of organisational strategy 
and performance objectives, including agreeing the 
terms of the SCHHS Service Agreement with the Chief 
Executive (Director-General) of the Department of 
Health

• approval of, and ongoing monitoring of the annual 
health service budget and financial and performance 
reporting.

Hospital and Health Board

Our governance

4
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Organisational structure

• HR Business Partners
• HR Conduct and Performance
• Recruitment
• Workforce Analytics
• Organisational Capability
• Projects 

• Finance, Funding and Performance
• Business Services
• Asset and Infrastructure Management Services -BEMS
• Contracts, Procurement and Commercial Services
• Operational Support Services

Professional Leads
• Executive Director Medical
• Executive Director Nursing and Midwifery
• Executive Director Allied Health 

Service Groups
• Surgical Services, Medical Services, Community Integrated and Sub-

acute Services, Mental Health and Addiction Services, Women’s and 
Families Services

• Clinical Access and Operations
• Facilities

• ICT Strategy and Architecture
• ICT Services
• Clinical Information Services
• Corporate Records

• Safety, Quality and Innovation
• Research
• Education
• Sunshine Coast Health Institute

Office of the CE
• Director 
• Internal Audit
• Communications and 

Corporate Affairs
• Legal Counsel
• Risk Management
• Board Operations
• Ethics and Integrity

• Project Delivery Unit
• Health Service Planning

Sunshine 
Coast 

Hospital 
and  

Health 
Board

Health 
Service 
Chief 

Executive

Executive Director Finance,  
Business and Operational Services

Executive Director Clinical Services

Chief Information Officer

Executive Director Innovation, Quality,
Research and Education

Chairperson
Clinical Council

Executive Director SCUH Program

Executive Director Human Resources

Our governance
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Dr Lorraine Ferguson AM is a registered nurse, a 
respected educator, an experienced executive and 
Board member and author of a number of published 
works on healthcare reform, clinical management and 
nursing. She was appointed a Member of the Order of 
Australia in 2002 for service to critical care nursing, 
particularly in clinical, management and education 
disciplines, and to professional nursing organisations.

Since 2008 Lorraine has worked as a casual academic 
and independent education consultant and has 
been involved in research and development of 
online educational materials for a number of tertiary 
institutions. Previously she held a conjoint appointment 
as Associate Professor of Nursing (Clinical Leadership 
and Professional Development) with the University 
of Western Sydney and the Sydney West Area Health 
Service.

Lorraine has held senior nursing and management 
positions at the College of Nursing, North Sydney Area 
Health Service and Royal North Shore Hospital. She has 
also served as a member of nursing executive teams, 
and as a member and chair of local, state and national 
committees including quality, casemix, clinical costing, 
healthcare funding, research ethics and curriculum 
development.

Lorraine also held numerous board memberships and 
executive positions including President and Honorary 
Treasurer, New South Wales College of Nursing. She 
also holds Adjunct Associate Professor positions with 
the University of the Sunshine Coast and the University 
of Western Sydney.

Original appointment date 1 July 2012. 
Current term 18 May 2016 to 17 May 2019.

Original appointment date 6 September 2012. 
Current term 27 May 2016 to 17 May 2019.

Dr Lorraine Ferguson AM 

Board Chair
RN, BSocSc, MPH, PhD, FACN, Ass.FACHSM, ACCCN (life member), 

Dip Company Directors Course

Peter Sullivan 

Deputy Chair
BBus (Acc), FCPA

Mr Peter Sullivan is a highly-credentialed executive 
and has held a broad range of financial leadership 
and strategic planning positions in large complex 
organisations. 

Peter was the Pro Vice-Chancellor (Corporate Services) and 
Chief Financial Officer of the University of the Sunshine 
Coast from 2007 until his retirement in 2013 and was 
responsible for overseeing a range of business functions 
to facilitate the ongoing financial and planning viability of 
the university. He provided advice on budget and financial 
management issues as well as major strategy and policy 
functions. 

Peter’s key achievements included the establishment 
of a planning and reporting framework that allowed 
the University to undertake strategic and operational 
planning. He also established an audit an assurance 
framework to assist the university in its stewardship 
accountable system of governance and continuous 
improvement processes.

Prior to that appointment Peter was appointed Executive 
Director Finance and Resource Planning at the Queensland 
University of Technology, where he was responsible 
and accountable for corporate planning and resourcing 
policies and practices of the university

Our governance
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Original appointment 6 September 2012. 
Current term 18 May 2016 to 17 May 2019

Edward (Ted) Weaver is a Senior Medical Officer in the 
Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology at the Sunshine 
Coast University Hospital. He is Head of the Sunshine Coast 
Clinical Unit, School of Medicine University of Queensland, 
and Sub Dean Griffith University School of Medicine 
Sunshine Coast. He is an Associate Professor in Obstetrics 
and Gynaecology at both University of Queensland and 
Griffith University.

From 1990 to 2011, he was a private specialist in obstetrics 
and gynaecology in Nambour and a visiting medical officer 
at Nambour and Selangor Private Hospitals. In 2001 he was 
awarded an Honorary Fellowship of the Australian College 
of Midwives in recognition of work developing collaborative 
systems of maternity care.

Ted was Vice President of the Royal Australian and New 
Zealand College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists 
(RANZCOG) form 2006, and President from 2008, during a 
time of significant maternity care reform in Australia.

Ted sits on the Education Strategy and Selection 
Committees and is the Vice Chairman of the Queensland 
Training Accreditation for RANZCOG. He was a member of 
the Recognition of Medical Specialties Committee for the 
Australian Medical Council.

In 2011, Ted was awarded the University of Queensland 
Medical Society and School of Medicine Distinction in 
Clinical Teaching Award for the Sunshine Coast Clinical 
School and in the 2016 Australia Day Honours he was 
awarded an Order of Australia Medal (General Division) for 
his service to medicine and to medical education.

Associate Professor Edward Weaver OAM 

Board member
MBBS, FRANZCOG, FACM (Hon)

Original appointment 18 May 2013. Current term 17 May 2017  
to 18 May 2020

Cosmo Schuh 

Board member
BBus, CA, CPA

Cosmo Schuh has worked as a Public Accountant in 
Gympie and South-East Queensland for more than 
35 years. After graduating from the University of 
Southern Queensland in 1976 he moved to Gympie 
and developed an accounting business servicing 
the Gympie area and extending throughout rural 
Queensland.

Cosmo has been involved extensively in property 
development and syndication, financial management, 
estate planning and strategic management for small 
to medium businesses. He sits on a number of boards 
for private and public companies and is a Director of a 
family Charitable Foundation.  He is also a Registered 
Company Auditor.

Board member profiles
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Appointed 18 May 2017 to 17 May 2020

Brian Anker

Board member
MAICD

Brian Anker has held a number of senior executive roles 
within the Queensland Government. Until November 2010 
he was the Deputy Director-General, Innovation of the 
former Queensland Department of Employment, Economic 
Development and Innovation, and worked in partnership 
with leaders in the industry, science and technology.

In 2011, Brian established Anker Consulting Pty Ltd, 
to provide strategic advice and planning particularly to 
the research and university sectors. He has undertaken 
strategic reviews for the University of the Sunshine Coast, 
assisted the University of Queensland and Queensland 
University of Technology on specific funding projects, 
and assessments. In addition, he provides employee 
mentoring to corporations. 

Brian has an extensive background in the business 
and industry sectors and he is currently the Chair of 
the federally funded National Research Data Services 
Initiative. He is a current member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors and has been a member of 
a number of boards and committees. 

Brian has also served as government representative 
on review bodies for the Australian Institute of 
Bioengineering and Nanotechnology, Australian Tropical 
Forest Institute, Australian Tropical Science and Innovation 
Precinct, and the Institute for Molecular Bioscience.

Original appointment 18 May 2013. 
Current term 18 May 2017 to 17 May 2020

Anita Phillips

Board member
BA, Grad Dip Leg.Studs, MPA, Dip Soc.Studs, GAICD, AMAASW 

Ms Anita Phillips has an extensive career, spanning more 
than thirty years as an Executive Director in the public 
sector at all levels of government and in social welfare and 
community services agencies.  

Her most recent position was as the Public Advocate/
Guardian in the ACT. Anita also brings valuable experience 
as a former Member of the Queensland Parliament and an 
adviser to Federal Ministers. After graduating as a social 
worker, Anita spent many years in North Queensland, 
predominately in hospital and health settings. She has 
also worked in a diverse range of health and community 
settings, where she enjoyed direct consultation with 
patients, their families and other consumers of these 
services, as well as managing and developing these 
agencies. 

Anita holds a Master of Public Administration and a 
Graduate Diploma in Legal Studies, and is a sessional 
lecturer in Legal Studies and Public Policy in Social 
Work at the Australian Catholic University. Since 2014, 
Anita has conducted her own consultancy, Calm Energy 
Consulting, through which she provides services and is a 
Board Director for several not for profit agencies. 

She has current governance experience, in that she 
is a Graduate of the AICD, and has been appointed 
by the Commonwealth Government as a Community 
Member on the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island Health 
Practitioners’ Board, and is an elected Director on the 
National Board of the Australian Association of Social 
Workers. 
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Original appointment 1 July 2012. 
Current term 18 May 2017 to 17 May 2020

Dr Mason Stevenson

Board member 
MB BS (Monash Uni 1983), FAMA(2011)

Professor Julie-Anne Tarr

Board member 
PhD, JD, LLM, BA, GAICD 

Dr Mason Stevenson has 30 years’ experience as a General 
Practitioner (GP), the majority on the Sunshine Coast. He 
has held senior roles within medical associations since 
1996 and owned and managed medical practices since 
1990.

Mason began his medical career in Melbourne after 
completing his studies at Monash University in 1983. He 
completed his internship and Junior Resident Medical 
Officer training at the Queen Victoria Medical Centre. Once 
completed, Mason worked as a doctor for Melbourne 
Doctors After Hours Cooperative for a number of years 
before joining the Glen Waverley Medical Centre in 
Melbourne as Principal General Practitioner Assistant in 
1988.

In 1990, Mason moved to the Sunshine Coast to open and 
work in his own private practice as a GP. Mason received 
his Vocational Registration – General Practitioner in 1996. 
This same year he became an owner in a group GP practice 
with three other doctors and Treasurer of the Sunshine 
Coast Division of General Practice for two years.

Mason has held various executive positions within 
medical associations including Treasurer and President of 
the Sunshine Coast Local Medical Association (SCLMA), 
Treasurer and President of the Australian Medical 
Association (AMA) of Queensland, and Queensland 
representative for the AMA Federal Council. From 2010 
to mid-2014, Mason worked as a GP subcontractor 
while continuing in executive positions within these 
organisations.

Mason has and will continue to be the Chair of the PHN 
Sunshine Coast Clinical Council from 2016 – 2020.

Professor Julie-Anne Tarr brings a diverse background 
in commercial law and governance to the Board. As a 
Professor in the Business School of the Queensland 
University of Technology, her area of specialty is complex 
project management, insurance and risk.

From 2007 to 2010, Julie-Anne served as the General 
Manager/Chief Operational Officer of the Queensland 
Institute of Medical Research and also actively engaged in 
the boards of several medical research facilities and start-
up companies.

Prior to returning to Australia in 2007, Julie-Anne worked 
as the Director of USP Solutions, the commercial arm of 
the University of South Pacific and at Indiana University, 
where held a professional appointment in the Law School.
Julie-Anne has authored three books on insurance and 
risk, several editions of the Laws of Australia treatise on 
Insurance and Insurance Contracting, and a number of 
articles and law reform reports.

She is a Fellow of the Australian Centre for Philanthropy 
and Non-profit Studies and has served on the 
Humanitarian Law Committee for the Red Cross (Qld) as 
well as a number of other community based non-profit 
bodies.

Julie-Anne holds degrees from the University of 
Queensland (PhD), Cornell University (JD), Monash 
University (LLM), and University of Wisconsin (BA).

Original appointment 18 May 2016. 
Current term 18 May 2017 to 17 May 2021

Board member profiles
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The Board has legislatively prescribed committees which 
assist the Board to discharge its responsibilities. Each 
committee operates in accordance with a Charter that 
clearly articulates the specific purpose, role, functions and 
responsibilities.

The committees are:
• Executive Committee
• Audit and Risk Committee
• Finance and Performance Committee
• Safety and Quality Committee.

Executive Committee
The role of the Executive Committee is to support the 
Board in its role of controlling our organisation by working 
with the Health Service Chief Executive to progress 
strategic priorities and ensure accountability in the 
delivery of services.

Committee members:
• Dr Lorraine Ferguson AM (Chair)
• Mr Peter Sullivan
• Associate Professor Edward Weaver.

Audit and Risk Committee
The purpose of the Audit and Risk Committee is to provide 
independent assurance and assistance to the Board on:

• the organisations risk, control and compliance 
frameworks

• the Board’s external accountability responsibilities as 
prescribed in the Financial Accountability Act 2009, 
the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011, the Hospital 
and Health Boards Regulation 2012 and the Statutory 
Bodies Financial Arrangements Act 1982.

The Audit and Risk Committee has observed the terms 
of its charter and had due regard to the Treasury’s Audit 
Committee Guidelines.

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for 
overseeing, advising and making recommendations to the 
Board on the following matters, including but not limited 
to:

• appropriateness of the health service’s financial 
statements ensuring compliance with relevant 
accounting policies and standards

• monitoring and advising the Board about the internal 
audit function

• consulting with Queensland Audit Office—the external 
auditor—in relation to proposed audit strategies and 
annual audit plans

• reviewing the findings and recommendations of 
external audit (including from performance audits) and 
the management response

• reviewing the risk management framework for 
identifying, monitoring and managing significant 
risks, including fraud

• assessing and contribute to the audit planning 
processes relating to the risks and threats to the 
health service

• reviewing, through the internal and external audit 
functions, whether relevant policies and procedures 
are in place and complied with, including those for 
management and exercise of delegations.

Committee members:
• Mr Cos Schuh (Chair)
• Professor Julie-Anne Tarr
• Mr Peter Sullivan.

Finance and Performance Committee
The Finance and Performance Committee oversees the 
financial position, performance and resource management 
strategies of the health service in accordance with relevant 
legislation and regulations. It also provides advice and 
recommendations to the Board on the following matters 
including, but not limited to:

• assessing the budgets and ensuring they are 
consistent with the organisational objectives and 
appropriate having regard to the organisations 
funding to enable the approval of the annual budgets 
by the Board

• monitoring the financial and operating performance of 
the health service

• monitoring activity performance against prescribed 
indicators and targets

• monitoring the health service’s performance against 
relevant Service Agreement KPIs specifically related to 
performance and funding

• monitoring human resource indicators and compliance 
with the health service’s strategic workforce planning.

Committee members:
• Mr Peter Sullivan (Chair)
• Mr Brian Anker
• Mr Cos Schuh
• Dr Mason Stevenson.

Board Committees
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SCHHB 
meetings

Executive 
Committee

Finance and 
Performance 
Committee

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Safety and 
Quality 

Committee

Total number of meetings* 11 1 12 4 4

Dr Lorraine Ferguson AM 11 1

Assoc Prof Edward Weaver 9 1 3

Mr Peter Sullivan 10 1 11 4

Dr Mason Stevenson 10 9 4

Mr Brian Anker 11 12 4

Mr Cosmo Schuh 11 12 4

Prof Julie-Anne Tarr 10 4

Ms Anita Phillips  11 4

Table 6:  Board member meeting attendance 2017-2018

The role of the Safety and Quality Committee is to ensure 
a comprehensive approach to governance of matters 
relevant to safety and quality of health services is 
developed and monitored.

The Committee is also responsible for advising the Board 
on matters relating to safety and quality of health services 
provided including:

• strategies to minimise preventable patient harm
• reducing unjustified variations in clinical care
• improving the experience of patients and carers of the 

health service in receiving health services

• monitoring the health service’s governance 
arrangements relating to the safety and quality of 
health services, including monitoring compliance with 
health service policies and plans about safety 

• promoting improvements in the safety and quality of 
health services being provided.

Committee membership:
• Mr Brian Anker (Chair)
• Dr Mason Stevenson
• Associate Professor Edward Weaver
• Ms Anita Phillips.

* Board member remuneration is approved by Governor-in-Council as part of the terms of appointment. Each member is entitled to receive a fee, with 
the exception of appointed public service employees unless otherwise approved by the Government. Members may also be eligible for superannuation 
payments. Annual Board fees payable to the Chair are $85,714 and for the Deputy Chair and members $44,503.  Annual Sub-Committee fees for Chairs 
are $4,000 and for Sub-Committee members $3,000.    

Total remuneration to Board Members (including out of pocket expenses reimbursed) is disclosed in the Financial Statements segment of this Annual 
Report (refer to Key Management Personnel, Board members, note 26). 

Our governance

Safety and Quality Committee



46 Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 2017–2018 Annual Report

Hospital and Health Service executive

Adjunct Professor Naomi Dwyer
Health Service Chief Executive
 
BBusMan, GradCertMgt, MBL, AICDC  

Reporting to the Health Service Chief Executive are executives who are responsible for a portfolio 
within the organisation. Together they form the Executive Leadership Team.

Adjunct Professor Naomi Dwyer was appointed as the 
Chief Executive of the Sunshine Coast Hospital and 
Health Service in December, 2017.

This follows an extensive history of executive 
leadership roles including Chief Executive Officer of 
South Australia’s state-wide Women’s and Children’s 
Health Network and Chief Operating Officer, Gold 
Coast Hospital and Health Service where she was 
instrumental in leading transformational change to 
deliver high quality care to her community.

Naomi believes that authentic clinician and consumer 
engagement are at the heart of high performing 
healthcare organisations, which explains much about 
her leadership style and career achievements.  She 
is also committed to connecting education, research 
and clinical service, and was a key member of South 
Australia’s successful bid to develop one of Australia’s 
first National Health and Medical Research Council  
Academic Health Science Centres in South Australia, 
focused on accelerating the translation of evidence into 
health care delivery across the life course.

Naomi holds academic titles with both Griffith 
University and University of Adelaide, and has 
undergraduate and postgraduate qualifications  
in Business and Law.  She is also a Director,  
Health Roundtable.

 

Piotr (pronounced Peter) commenced his role as the 
Executive Director Medical Services in March 2009, after 
moving from the central coast of New South Wales where 
he had worked as the Director of Medical Services. 

His clinical background is in general practice.  While 
pursuing a career in management, he has continued 
limited clinical practice and holds the dual Fellowship of 
the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners as 
well as the Fellowship of the Royal Australasian College 
of Medical Administrators.  Furthermore, he holds 
an MBA and is a Graduate Member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. In his role, Piotr oversees 
maintenance of high standards of clinical practice. He 
also contributes to the HHS’ achievement of key safety, 
quality and operational KPIs as well as ensuring timely 
access to safe and reliable services for patients.

  

He has worked clinically in various settings, both in 
Australia and the United States of America. As a qualified 
statistician, his particular interest is in data analysis and 
financial mathematics, he is pursuing a PhD in a related 
area.  During his time with the health service, he has led 
a number of innovative initiatives aimed at improving 
patient access to appropriate care. Furthermore, he has 
fostered active collaboration with university academics 
to commence a program of research at the health service, 
pertaining to human factor analysis of medication-related 
incidents. 

Dr Piotr Swierkowski 
A/Executive Director Clinical Services

BSc (Biochem), MBBS(Hons), FRACGP, FRACMA, MHA, E-MBA, GAICD, MAppStat
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The Executive Director Finance, Business and 
Operational Services provides leadership and strategic 
advice on the financial performance and the financial 
management of our organisation to the Board, Health 
Service Chief Executive, Executive Leadership Team and 
senior management. 

The Executive Director Finance, Business and 
Operational Services supports the Health Service Chief 
Executive in strategic negotiations with Department of 
Health, and has an overarching responsibility to enable 
the maximisation of our revenue streams. 

John commenced with the health service in April 2015. 

He began his career with 12 years working for 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers (PwC), initially employed in 
business services, taxation and audit. John later moved 
to Senior Manager roles in audit, as an IT specialist 
and financial advisory. Over the following 15 years 
John gained valuable experience from senior roles 
in commercial businesses including finance, change 
management, business development and company 
restructuring.  

Between 2009 and 2015 John gained a strong 
understanding of Queensland Health and the challenges 
faced in providing health services as the Chief Finance 
Officer for the Cairns and Hinterland Hospital and Health 
Service.

John is committed to maintaining the financial 
sustainability the Service has achieved since its 
establishment in 2012 while providing access to high 
quality  care. 

John Slaven   
Executive Director Finance, Business and 
Operational Services
B Commerce CA

Dr Margaret Way
Executive Director Innovation, Quality,  
Research and Education
BSc, MBA, FACHSM, DrPH

The Executive Director Innovation, Quality, Research and 
Education is a key member of the Executive Leadership Team 
accountable for the effective leadership and management of 
safety and quality, clinical and corporate governance functions, 
ensuring effective consumer engagement, leading initiatives to 
increase organisational effectiveness and the provision of high 
quality patient care.

The role is also responsible for leading the development of 
teaching, training and research activities across the health 
service, and establishing a central hub to support partnering 
with University of the Sunshine Coast, Griffith University and TAFE 
Queensland through a Joint Venture Appointment established as 
the Sunshine Coast Health Institute. 

Margaret joined the Health Service in March 2017 and has 
extensive experience in health service leadership, strategy and 
performance. Her previous positions at Austin Health and Alfred 
Health involved strategic planning, performance improvement, 
and implementing clinical governance systems and processes 
to deliver effective and safe healthcare to patients. She has a 
strong research and educational background underpinned by a 
Masters of Business Administration from Monash University, a 
Professional Doctorate in Public Health at LaTrobe University and 
she is a graduate of the Leadership Victoria Program. Margaret is 
an Adjunct Associate Professor, Monash University Department 
Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine, where she teaches in the 
Masters of Public Health Program. Margaret also holds an expert 
appointment with the Australian Commission on Safety and 
Quality in Healthcare on the Clinical Communications Advisory 
Group. She is also appointed Chair of Queensland Health’s State 
Directors Clinical Governance Improvement and Implementation 
Partnership.

Margaret is passionate about collaborating and working with 
clinicians, and supporting staff and consumers in improving 
the safety and quality of the health services we provide to our 
communities.

Our governance
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Angela Bardini
A/Executive Director Sunshine Coast   
University Hospital Program
RN, Grad Cert Health Services Management

The Executive Director Sunshine Coast University 
Hospital Program provides leadership in the 
planning and delivery of health services across 
the Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service, 
including the delivery and ongoing transformation of 
the new Sunshine Coast University Hospital.

Angela commenced with Queensland Health 28 
years ago at Royal Brisbane Hospital. She has 
held a variety of clinical and health infrastructure 
roles; across public and private sector; in tertiary, 
secondary and corporate settings; with the last 5.5 
years in positions at a health service executive level. 
The past 18 months have been spent in the senior 
leadership role of Program Director—Operational 
Commissioning for the Sunshine Coast University 
Hospital Program. 

Angela is committed to the ongoing transformation 
of the health service to meet community 
expectations. She is focused on the successful 
implementation of the health service’s Project 
Delivery Unit to ensure the lessons and benefits of 
all our significant initiatives are realised; supporting 
our staff through exceptional change with the aim 
of adding value to our patients experiences through 
facilitating exceptional care.

Dr Mauritius Du Toit
A/Executive Director Medical Services

MBChB, M. Med (Community Health), FRACMA

Dr Mauritius du Toit was appointed to the health service 
in April 2011 as the Deputy Executive Director of Medical 
Services (DEDMS) and is currently acting in the role of 
Executive Director of Medical Services (EDMS).  The DEDMS 
oversees the recruitment and professional performance 
of the junior medical staff and is the professional lead for 
medication safety and medication approvals.  The DEDMS 
further assists the EDMS role in the execution of its core 
functions which include but not limited to supporting the 
strategic responsibilities of the role, credentialing and 
the performance management of Senior Medical Staff, 
maintenance of and compliance with the national safety 
standards, medical education and accreditation standards 
and matters pertaining to demand and patient flow.

Mauritius completed his MB,ChB at the University of 
Stellenbosch, South Africa and after a few years working in 
clinical medicine in Australia, New Zealand and the United 
Kingdom, returned to South Africa to specialise in Public 
Health. Following attainment of his specialty, Mauritius was 
appointed as the Senior Medical Superintendent of Mowbray 
Maternity Hospital and Midwife Obstetric Units, a large public 
neonatal and obstetric services in Cape Town and later as the 
Senior Medical Superintendent of Alexandra Hospital, Cape 
Town. Alexandra Hospital is a psychiatric hospital. 

Mauritius relocated to Australia in 2008 and was appointed 
as the Deputy Director of Medical Services for Northern 
Sydney Central Coast Health Services. During this period he 
attained his Fellowship in Medical Administration (FRACMA).

Mauritius believes the success of the organisation lies with 
its employees in conjunction with setting and maintaining 
clear standards.

Our governance
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The Executive Director Nursing and Midwifery is the 
professional lead for nursing and midwifery services. 
In this role, Suzanne leads the strategic direction, 
clinical governance and professional support for all 
nursing and midwifery services. The position is also 
accountable for enhancing research, innovation, 
education, the nursing and midwifery workforce, and 
the future development of these services.

Suzanne commenced her role as Executive Director 
Nursing and Midwifery in February 2017, after moving 
from Melbourne, Victoria where she worked as the 
Director of Nursing Services at a large metropolitan 
health service. 

Suzanne’s background is in renal nursing, nursing 
education, safety, quality and workforce development.  
 
She has extensive nursing leadership experience 
in Australia and England and is passionate about 
working collaboratively with the Nursing and Midwifery 
Leadership team to support all nurses and midwives 
to deliver exceptional care and reach their career 
potential. 

Suzanne Metcalf
Executive Director Nursing and Midwifery 

RN, DipHE, BSc (Hons) Healthcare Practice, Grad Dip Clinical Education,  
Grad Dip Renal Nursing

The Executive Director of Allied Health is the professional 
lead for allied health services. In this role, Gemma 
leads the strategic direction, clinical governance 
and professional support for up to 30 allied health 
professions. The position is responsible for the future 
development and enhancement of services through 
embracing and leading innovation, research and 
education across the allied health workforce.

Gemma commenced in the role of Executive Director 
Allied Health in September 2017. Gemma has worked 
for health service since 2005 in a variety of clinical and 
leadership roles. Gemma’s passion clinically has been in 
the assessment and treatment of hand and upper limb 
conditions, achieving full membership of the Australian 
Hand Therapy Association for more than 10 years. 

Gemma has extensive experience in allied health 
leadership, starting her career in New Zealand in 1991 
and then in Australia from 2004. She is also very 
passionate about health and well-being, completing a 
Masters in Human Movement Science at the University 
of Wollongong in 1995. She is currently enrolled in a 
doctoral program through the University Sunshine Coast 
completing research on allied health leadership and 
specifically looking at effective leadership programs that 
deliver efficient and effective outcomes.

 

Gemma Turato
Executive Director Allied Health

Dip Occ Therapy, MSc (Human Movement), Enrolled PhD, USC

Our governance
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Barry Mather

Chief Information Officer

Morne completed his Anaesthetic training at Chris Hani 
Baragwanath hospital in Soweto South Africa before 
emigrating to Australia.

During his time in Bundaberg as Director of Anaesthetics 
and Intensive Care Unit, Morne was instrumental in the 
hospital gaining ANZCA accreditation for Anaesthetic 
specialists training.

In 2011 Morne received and Australia Day medal for 
contributions made to telehealth. 

He was Director of Anaesthetics on the Sunshine Coast 
before becoming the medical lead for safety and quality. 
During his time as director, Morne completed a Masters 
in Health Management from the University of New South 
Wales. 

Morne has very strong focus on clinical governance, 
with particular interest in patient advocacy, clinical 
engagement and learning from other industries. He is a 
firm believer in equality of access for all Australians to 
excellent healthcare.

He also serves in the RAAF specialist reserves with the 
rank of Squadron Leader, and is a qualified commercial 
pilot. 

Dr Morne Terblanche

Chair Clinical Council (from 16 May 2018)

Dr Jeremy Long (1 July 2017 - 15 May 2018)

Our governance

Barry commenced as the inaugural Chief Information 
Officer in February 2015. Prior to this he was the Chief 
Technology Officer at Ramsay Health Care, based in 
Sydney, New South Wales, where he had worked in many 
different technology roles since 2005. 

Prior to Ramsay Health Care, Barry worked for a small 
private healthcare organisation where he transferred from 
the parent operations in the United Kingdom. Barry is a 
United Kingdom national and moved to Australia in 2003.

Training in electrical and mechanical engineering, Barry 
has a keen eye for detail which he twins with a passion for 
technology. 

A keen desire for technology to help to increase the 
safe and efficient delivery of healthcare is paramount to 
his working ethics. He is proud of a ‘can-do’ attitude to 
delivering technology solutions to meet both clinical and 
non-clinical business requirements. Involving clinicians 
in solution design and delivery is often key to ensuring 
successful project delivery; Barry sees this as the key to a 
successful partnership of technology in healthcare.

Barry also has a desire to give back to the community, 
having devoted 10 years of volunteer service in senior 
rescue positions to the New South Wales State Emergency 
Service, and can often be found fundraising for charity 
events.
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The Strategic Executive Committee is the overarching 
body within our committee structure supporting the 
Health Service Chief Executive.
  
To guide the operation of the organisation, a strategic 
level committee system has been implemented.  Each 
committee has terms of reference clearly describing 
their respective purpose, functions and authority. 
These committees all have appropriate sub-delegation 
relevant to the function and purpose of the committee.  

The committees are a vehicle for providing essential 
integration and uniformity of approach to health 
service planning, patient safety and quality, service 
development, workforce, resource management, 
information, communication and technology, 
performance management and reporting. 

Number of meetings held

1 Executive Leadership Team*                           37

2 Clinical Council  2

3 Work Health Safety and Wellbeing Governance 
Committee

8

4 Education Council** 0

5 Patient Safety and Quality Committee      11

6 Research Clinical Council*** 5

7 ICT Governance 11

8 Strategic Project Management 25

Table 7:  
Strategic committees

• Strategic Executive Committee
• Clinical Council
• Work Health Safety and Wellbeing Governance 

Committee
• Education Council

• Patient Safety and Quality Committee
• Research Clinical Council
• ICT Governance
• Strategic Project Management

Our strategic committees:

* Strategic Executive Committee formerly Executive Leadership Team.
** Education Council commenced May 2018.
*** Research Clinical Council commenced February 2018.

Our governance
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Internal audit
The Sunshine Coast, Wide Bay and Central Queensland 
hospital and health services have established a hub and 
spoke internal audit function to ensure effective, efficient 
and economical operation of the function. The function 
provides independent assurance and advice to the Board 
Audit and Risk Committee and executive management. 
It enhances the health service’s corporate governance 
environment through an objective, systematic approach to 
evaluating internal controls and risk assessment. 

The role, operating environment and reporting 
arrangements of the function are established in the 
Internal Audit Charter that has been approved by 
the Hospital and Health Board Chairs. The Charter 
is consistent with the Institute of Internal Auditors 
Professional Practices Framework and the Audit  
Committee Guidelines.

The internal audit function is independent of management 
and the external auditors. The function has:

• discharged the responsibilities established in the 
Internal Audit Charter by executing the annual 
audit plan prepared as a result of risk assessments, 
materiality, contractual and statutory obligations, 
as well as through consultation with executive 
management

• provided reports on the results of audits undertaken to 
the Health Service Chief Executive and the Audit and 
Risk Committee

• monitored and reported on the status of 
the management’s implementation of audit 
recommendations to the Audit and Risk Committee

• liaised with the Queensland Audit Office to ensure there 
was no duplication of ‘audit effort’

• supported management by providing advice on 
corporate governance and related issues including 
fraud and corruption prevention programs and risk 
management

• allocated audit resources to areas on a risk basis where 
the work of internal audit can be valuable in providing 
positive assurance or identifying opportunities for 
positive change.

The audit team are members of professional bodies 
including the Institute of Internal Auditors, CPA Australia 
and ISACA. The health services continue to support their 
ongoing professional development. 

External scrutiny
Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service’s operations 
are subject to regular scrutiny from external oversight 
bodies.  During the financial year 2017-2018 this 
has included the Queensland Audit Office, Crime and 
Corruption Commission, Office of the Health Ombudsman, 
Australian Council on Healthcare Standards (full 
accreditation received 30 June 2018), Aged Care Standards 
and Accreditation Agency, National Quality Management 
Committee of BreastScreen Australia, Postgraduate 
Medical Education Council of Queensland, Australian 
College of Accreditation, National Association of Testing 
Authorities, Queensland Ombudsman, the Coroner and 
others.  

During the period 1 July 2017 to 23 May 2018 there have 
been no health service reported cases to the Coroner that 
have progressed to Coronial Inquest. 

On 30 September 2017 the health service received a 
recommendation from the coroner that an independent 
clinical review should be conducted on a Healthcare 
related death. This was conducted accordingly and the 
coroners feedback to improve recognition and response to 
clinical deterioration has been actioned.

Risk management
Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service is committed 
to effectively managing its risks through the application of 
best practice risk management principles and practices.  

The health service has an established risk management 
system, underpinned by our Enterprise Risk Management 
Framework.  Revised in 2018 to reflect implementation 
of a new information management system (RiskMan), 
the framework applies a standardised and structured 
approach for the identification, assessment, evaluation, 
management and monitoring of risks aligned to 

Audit and risk management

Our governance
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international standards (ISO 31000).  The framework 
reinforces that everyone within SCHHS has a role to 
play in managing risk and assigns accountabilities and 
responsibilities for risk management at appropriate 
management levels.

Our risk appetite statement establishes the tone for 
risk management, providing guidance on the type and 
level of risk the health service should pursue or retain 
in pursuit of our objectives.  Our risk exposures relate to 
the achievement of our strategic objectives, the provision 
of safe and quality health care services, promotion of a 
healthy and engaged workforce, sustainable financial 
management and ability to meet statutory obligations.  
Significant risks are reported to the Board, its sub-
committees and the Strategic Executive Committee on a 
regular basis.

Right to information
This financial year 2017–2018, there were 184 
applications received under both Right to Information 
and Information Privacy Acts (2014–2015: 320), with 
26 withdrawn by the applicant and 142 finalised in the 
year. The total number of pages processed including full 
and part access was 29,376 with 1502 pages refused 
in full. Fees collected for applications under the Right to 
Information totalled $4848 (including application fees and 
access fees).

Please note:  above figures do not necessarily represent 
a decrease in volume of overall applications. A better 
reflection would be to also include the amount of 
Administrative Access applications we are processing  as 
this would demonstrate our commitment to the “Push” 
model in making data available under administrative 
access schemes (which is a requirement of the RTI Act)

Administrative and functional 
records management
The Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 
administrative records program has continued to 
collaborate with the Sunshine Coast University Hospital 
Program to implement a SharePoint-eDRMS (electronic 
document records management system). This system 

is being used by the program to capture its records and 
will form a benchmark against which to assess future 
developments in records and information management for 
the health service. 

New governance has been placed over SharePoint use 
within the health service and on the classification of 
administration and functional records. 

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service has completed 
its third record-keeping maturity survey. The higher tiers 
of the health service were measured for record-keeping 
compliance. The results show improved record-keeping 
practices with some areas identified for improvement. 

The records education sessions continue and resources 
are set to expand with video education to be made 
available. 

Release of confidential information
In accordance with section s160 of the Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011, the health service is required to include 
a statement in its Annual Report detailing the disclosure of 
confidential information in the public interest. There were 
no disclosures under this provision during 2017-2018.

Our governance
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Continued growth for the health service

The role of Nambour General Hospital and Caloundra 
Health Service facilities have changed since the 
commencement of services at Sunshine Coast University 
Hospital in March 2017. Nambour General Hospital bed 
capacity has reduced from 425 to 137, while Caloundra 
Health Service has reduced to 34 beds. Refurbishments 
at these facilities are underway and will result in fit for 
purpose infrastructure aligned with service delivery 
and models of care and reduce the amount of leased 
accommodation across the Sunshine Coast Hospital and 
Health Service.  

At completion of the Nambour General Hospital 
Redevelopment project in 2022, bed capacity will increase 
to approximately 251 beds and optimise clinical and 
operational adjacencies through the colocation of services. 
The Caloundra Health Service Redevelopment project is 
due for completion at the end of 2018 and as a result, 
capacity will increase to 46 beds and bed alternatives.  

The Sunshine Coast University Hospital Stage 2 program 
continues to build the capacity and capability of the 
new Sunshine Coast University Hospital tertiary hospital 
to meet community growth and demand for local 
services. Bed capacity will increase from 507 to 602 
beds. The program encompasses the design, building, 
commissioning of additional clinical spaces including 
the procurement, installation and commissioning of 
furniture fittings and equipment; introducing new and/
or improved tertiary services and specialisations; and 
the recruitment, training and onboarding of a skilled and 
capable workforce to meet service needs. The introduction 
of new and complex or expanding services will commence 
from mid-2018 and include vascular surgery, plastic and 
reconstructive surgery, head and neck surgery, maternal 
foetal medicine, complex paediatrics, neonatology, cardiac 
surgery, neuro surgery, trauma, thoracic surgery and 
interventional neuro radiology.

Our future
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ICT Strategy and Roadmap
Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service has 
developed an ICT Strategy and Roadmap to articulate how 
information and technology will support the delivery and 
transformation of healthcare in the health service over the 
next four years.  These documents provide an overview 
of the ICT systems and services we plan to deliver and 
describe their relationship to the clinical and business 
needs of the health service over this period.  They will 
guide ICT investment decisions, provide a basis for 
planning required funding and communicate our direction 
and priorities to those who rely upon our ICT capabilities.

ieMR (integrated electronic Medical Record)
As a significant step in the journey to digital transformation 
of healthcare on the Sunshine Coast, the health service 
commenced work in 2017 on implementing the Cerner 
integrated electronic Medical Record (ieMR) system at 
Sunshine Coast University Hospital and Nambour General 
Hospital, with go-live scheduled before the end of 2018. 
The ieMR system will be the core clinical information 
system used by our frontline clinicians for planning, 

managing and documenting the delivery of care to our 
patients.  It will improve access to patient information and, 
by reducing fragmentation, complexity and redundancy, 
it will also contribute to improvements in the safety and 
quality of patient care.

Metavision 
The introduction of Metavision in the Paediatric Critical 
Care Unit (PCCU) and the adult Intensive Care Unit (ICU) 
has automated data capture from biomedical devices used 
in these units, providing the ability to quickly visualise 
data trends and enabling more timely support for clinical 
decisions and interventions.

GP Data Linkage
Integrated care is emerging as a cornerstone of research 
and strategic planning for the Health Service.  The health 
service has initiated a proof-of-concept project to link 
patient data obtained from several General Practices in the 
Sunshine Coast region with existing secondary care data 
for patients who consent to share their clinical information 
with the health service for the purpose of research. 

Enhancing technology

Our future
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Growing our own health workforce

The Sunshine Coast’s future medical workforce is assured, 
with the commencement of Griffith University’s medical 
school at Sunshine Coast Health Institute in 2019.

The institute is colocated with Sunshine Coast Univesity 
Hospital and is a unique partnership between the health 
service, Griffith University, University of the Sunshine 
Coast and TAFE Queensland East Coast. 

Griffith University’s Medical program has been training the 
doctors of the future on the Gold Coast since its inception 
in 2005, with expansion of the program to the Sunshine 
Coast to commence early next year. Griffith Medicine 
students will undertake the majority of their rotations at 
Sunshine Coast University Hospital.

Deputy Head of the Griffith University School of Medicine 
at the Sunshine Coast, Associate Professor Jennifer 
Williams said: “This is an exciting opportunity for students 
to undertake the Doctor of Medicine program in a state-of-
the-art facility in one of the fastest-growing regions in the 
country, at the Sunshine Coast University Hospital.”

Health Service Chief Executive and Griffith University 
Adjunct Professor Naomi Dwyer says the start of the 
medical program in 2019 would be a game changer for 
health education in the region.

“It is wonderful for our region and means medical students 
from the Sunshine Coast, Gympie and other regions will be 
able to train at Sunshine Coast University Hospital.

“We know that training in a local facility results in students 
being more likely to stay, or ultimately return, to the health 
service after their medical training is completed. It is an 
important factor in our aim to grow our own health staff. 

“This cements our commitment to health industry 
education and training, which is a win for our students and 
all parties involved. The future of health in the region just 
got brighter.” 

Our future

Associate Professor Jennifer Williams, is the newly appointed Deputy 
Head of the Griffith University School of Medicine (Sunshine Coast).
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Statement of compliance 
The Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service ("SCHHS") has prepared these financial statements in compliance with section 
62 ( 1) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and section 43 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009. 

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements and have been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. In addition, the financial statements comply with Queensland 
Treasury's Financial Reporting Requirements for the year ending 30 June 2018 and other authoritative pronouncements. 

With respect to compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, as SC HHS is a not-for-profit statutory body 
it has applied those requirements applicable to not-for-profit entities. Except where stated, the historical cost convention is used. 

New, revised or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory are only adopted early when 
mandated by Queensland Treasury. 

Basis of financial statements preparation 
The financial statements cover the Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service as an Individual entity. 

Comparative information reflects the audited 2017 financial statements except where restated for a prior period reclassification. 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional and presentation currency of SCHHS. Amounts in 
this report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar. 

Accounting policies are specified in the Notes and should be read in conjunction with the numerical information and other 
disclosures. 

Assets and liabilities are classified as either 'current' or 'non-current' in the Statement of Financial Position and associated notes. 

Assets are classified as 'current' where their carrying amount is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date. 

Liabilities are classified as 'current' when they are due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date, or SC HHS 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement to beyond 12 months after the reporting date. 
All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. 

Issuance of financial statements 
The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Chief Executive and the Acting Executive Director Finance, Business and 
Operational Services, of the Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service, and, the Board Chair of the Sunshine Coast Hospital 
and Health Board, as at the date of signing the Management Certificate. 
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 

Contents and financial statements preparation Information 

30 June 2018 

General Information 

SCH HS was established on 1 July 2012 as a statutory body under the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011. 

SCHHS is controlled by the State of Queensland which is the ultimate parent. 

The head office and principal place of business of SCH HS Is: 

Sunshine Coast University Hospital 
6 Doherty Street 
Birtinya 
QLD4575 

For further information In relation to the financial statements, please call 07 5202 0017, email SCHHS-CFO@health.qld.gov.au 
or visit the SCH HS website at http://www.heallh.qld.qov.au/sunshinecoast. 
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 

Statement of comprehensive income 

For the year ended 30 June 2018 

Note 2018 2017 
$'000 $'000 

Income 
Health service funding 1 1,082,392 911,996 
User charges 2 68,535 61,433 
Grants and other contributions 3 34,341 18,695 
Other revenue 7,629 5,233 
Gains on asset disposals 1,469 51 

Total income 1,194,366 997 408 

Expenses 
Employee expenses 4 (730,429) (609,612) 
Supplies and services 5 (328,882) (311,119) 
Grants and subsidies (46) (229) 
Depreciation and amortisation 13, 15 (106,684) (41,134) 
Impairment losses (781) (917) 
Interest expense 22 (27,599) (15,297) 
Other expenses 6 (13,879) (11,830) 
Total expenses (1,208,300) (990,138) 

Operating result for the year (13,934) 7 270 

Other comprehensive income 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to operating result 
Increase in the asset revaluation surplus 20 185,536 11 580 

Other comprehensive income for the year 185,536 11 580 

Total comprehensive income for the year 171,602 18 850 

The above statement of comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 

Statement of financial position 

As at 30 June 2018 

Note 2018 2017 
$'000 $'000 

Assets 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 9 78,459 120,500 
Trade and other receivables 10 32,363 16,952 
Inventories 11 5,156 5,302 

Other assets 12 8,251 3,518 

Total current assets 124,229 146,272 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 13 1,995,944 1,877,790 
Intangibles 15 12,391 14 242 

Total non-current assets 2,008,335 1,892,032 

Total assets 2,132,564 2,038,304 

Liabilities 
Current llablllties 
Trade payables 16 61,902 55,027 
Interest bearing liability 17 17,507 16,950 
Accrued employees benefits 18 29,498 26,688 
Unearned revenue 19 13,288 5,587 

Total current llabllltles 122,195 104,252 

Non-current llabllltles 
Interest bearing liability 17 520,662 528,287 
Unearned revenue 19 84,267 87,387 

Total non-current llabllitles 604,929 615,674 

Total llabllitles 727,124 719,926 

Net assets 1i4osi440 1,318,378 

Equity 
Contributed equity 1,193,070 1,277,610 
Asset revaluation surplus 20 204,860 19,324 
Accumulated surpluses 7,510 21444 

Total equity 1�05,440 1,318,378 

The above statement of financial position should be read In conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 
Statement of changes In equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 

Asset 
Contributed revaluation Accumulated Total 

equity surplus surpluses equity 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Balance at 1 July 2016 324,994 7,744 14,174 346,912 
Result for the year 7,270 7,270 

Other comprehensive income for the year 11 580 11 580 

Total comprehensive income for the year 11 580 7 270 18 850 

Transactions with owners in their capacity 
as owners: 

Equity injections * 993,750 993,750 
Equity withdrawals (41,134) (41,134) 

Balance at 30 June 2017 1,277,610 19,324 21,444 1 318,378 

Asset 
Contributed revaluation Accumulated Total 

equity surplus surpluses equity 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Note 
Balance at 1 July 2017 1,277,610 19,324 21,444 1,318,378 
Result for the year (13,934) (13,934) 
Other comprehensive income for the year 20 185 536 185 536 
Total comprehensive income for the year 185,536 (13,934) 171,602 

Other comprehensive income for the year 
Equity injections • 21 22,399 22,399 
Equity withdrawals 21 {106,939) (106,939) 
Balance at 30 June 2018 1,193,070 204,860 7,510 1,405,440 

*Includes the assets and liabilities associated with the SCUH transferred from the Department of Health - see Note 27

The above statement of changes in equity should be read In conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 
Statement of cash flows 

For the year ended 30 June 2018 

2018 2017 
Note $'000 $'000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Health service funding 966,274 889,063 
User charges 62,285 59,399 
Grants and other contributions 24,979 20,651 
Interest received 98 83 
GST collected from customers 6,507 4,660 
GST input tax credits 27,666 21,002 
Other revenue 5,236 2,829 
Employee expenses (727,619) {601,228) 
Supplies and services (320,584) (297,997) 
Grants and subsidies (46) (229) 
GST paid to suppliers (28,691) (21,523) 
GST remitted (8,414) (3,511) 
Interest expense (27,371) (8,263) 
Other expenses (13,611) (11,639) 

Net cash from/(used by) operating activities 7 (31,291) 53,297 

Cash flows from Investing activities 
Payments for property, plant and equipment (37,350) (4,884) 
Payments for intangibles (2,536) {6,269) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 7,653 51 

Net cash from/(used by) investing activities (32,233) (11,102) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from equity Injections 28,424 9,818 
Borrowing redemptions (6,941) (2,466) 

Net cash from/(used by) financing activities 21,483 7 352 

Net lncrease/(decrease) In cash held (42,041) 49547 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 120,500 70,953 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 9 78,459 120,500 

The above statement of cash flows should be read In oonjunotlon with the accompanying notes 
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 

Notes to the financial statements 

30 June 2018 

Note 1. Health service funding ..................................................................................................................................... 68 

Note 2. User charges ................................................................................................................................................... 68 

Note 3. Grants and other contributions ........................................................................................................................ 69 

Note 4. Employee expenses ........................................................................................................................................6 9 

Note 5. Supplies and services ...................................................................................................................................... 70 

Note 6. Other expenses ............................................................................................................................................... 71 

Note 7. Reconciliation of result to net cash from/(used in) operating activities ........................................................... 71 

Note 8. Budget vs actual comparison .......................................................................................................................... 72 

Note 9. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents .................................................................................................... 78 

Note 10. Current assets - trade and other receivables ................................................................................................ 78 

Note 11. Current assets - inventories .......................................................................................................................... 79 

Note 12. Current assets - other assets. ....................................................................................................................... 80 

Note 13. Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment ..................................................................................... 80 

Note 14. Fair value measurement ................................................................................................................................ 84 

Note 15. Non-current assets - intangible assets ......................................................................................................... 85 

Note 16. Current liabilities - trade payables ................................................................................................................ 87 
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Note 18. Current liabilities - accrued employee benefits .............................................................................................. 87 
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 

Notes to the flnanclal statements 

30 June 2018 

Note 1. Health service funding 

Activity based funding 
Block funding 
Funding for depreciation 
Other system manager funding 

2018 
$'000 

852,336 
61,991 

106,684 
61,381 

1,082,392 

2017 
$'000 

689,160 
51,558 
41,133 

130 145 

911,996 

Health service funding primarily comprises revenue from the Department of Health ("the Department") as System Manager for the 
public health system in Queensland. 

Funding from the Department Is provided predominantly for specific public health services purchased by the Department from 
SCH HS in accordance with a service agreement between the Department and SCHHS. Activity based funding Is based on agreed 
activity volumes and a state-wide price, per the service agreement. Revenue is recognised on the basis of purchased activity 
once delivered. Block funding Is not based on levels of public activity. Block funding is received for other services the HHS has 
agreed to provide under the service agreement. This funding has specific conditions attached which are not related to activity 
covered by activity based funding. The service agreement Is reviewed periodically and updated for changes in activities and 
prices of services delivered by SCHHS. 

SC HHS receives an offset from the Department to cover depreciation costs resulting in a non-cash revenue and non-cash equity 
withdrawal. 

Cash funding instalments from the Department are received fortnightly throughout the year. Revenue is recognised as obligations 
under the service level agreement are fulfilled by SCH HS. Accounting adjustments are required where the services provided are 
above or below the agreed level. 

Other system manager funding Includes funding required to cover various administrative, operational and support costs, including 
project related costs. 

Note 2. User charges 

Sale of goods and services 
Hospital fees 
Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme reimbursement 

2018 
$'000 

4,683 
36,593 
27,259 

68,535 

2017 
$'000 

3,260 
26,477 
31,696 
61433 

Hospital fees (for patients who elect to utilise their private health cover) and sales of goods and services are recognised as 
revenue when earned and can be measured reliably with a sufficient degree of certainty. This involves either Invoicing for related 
goods/services and/or recognising accrued revenue based on estimated volumes of goods/services delivered. 

Under the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) the Australian Government subsidises the cost of a broad range of listed 
prescription medicines for various medical conditions. Hospital patients have access to medicines listed on the PBS at subsidised 
prices on discharge and through outpatient clinic and consultations. Patients are Invoiced at the reduced PBS rate and SCHHS 
lodge monthly claims for co-payments through PBS arrangements at which time the revenue is recognised. 

$2.024m (2017: $2.024m) was received from the Department of Communities, Child Safety and Disability Services in relation to 
the Evolve lnteragency Services program. 

Financials

65



Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 

Notes to the financial statements 

30 June 2018 

Note 3. Grants and other contributions 

Australian Government - nursing home grants 
Australian Government - other grants 
State Government entities - grants 
Other grants 
Donations 
Donations of non-current physical assets 

2018 
$'000 

1,638 
8,799 

13,386 
699 

9,698 
121 

34,341 

2017 
$'000 

1,236 
8,831 
7,195 

508 
857 

68 
18 695 

Grants, contributions, donations and gifts that are non-reciprocal in nature are recognised as revenue in the year in which the 
SCH HS obtains control over them. Where grants are received that are reciprocal in nature, revenue is progressively recognised 
as it is earned, according to the terms of the funding arrangements. 

Contributed assets are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are recognised only when a fair value can be 
determined reliably and the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated. Where this is the case, an equal 
amount of revenue and expense is recognised. 

Australian Government - other grants

This grant revenue Is mainly related to the Transition Care Program - $4.557m (2017: $4.546m) and the Home and Community 
Care Program - $3.818m (2017: $3.876m). 

State Government entities - grants

$13.368m (2017: $6.114m) is related to reimbursements received from the Department to fund various expenses and capital 
purchases made by SCHHS. 

Donations 

SC HHS receives corporate services support from the Department for no direct cost. Corporate services received would have been 
purchased If they were not provided by the Department and include payroll services, accounts payable and banking services. The 
fair value of corporate services received in 2018 were $8.773m for payroll services and $0.468m for accounts payable and banking 
services. An equal amount of expense is recognised as services received below fair value. Refer to Note 5. Supplies and services. 
There is no prior year comparative provided as the fair value of these services could not be measured reliably. 

This category also reflects receipts from individuals and not for profit, charitable entities including the Wishlist Foundation -
$0.262m (2017: $0.717m). 

Note 4. Employee expenses 

Wages and salaries 
Employer superannuation contributions 
Annual leave levy 
Long service leave levy 
Redundancies 
Workers' compensation premium 
Other employee related expenses 

The number of full-time equivalent employees as at 30 June 2018 ls 6,746 (2017: 6,378). 

2018 
$'000 

579,376 
60,461 
66,175 
12,297 

437 
6,638 
5,146 

730.429 

2017 
$'000 

480,102 
61,651 
56,499 
10,266 

1,049 
6,942 
4113 

609,612 
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 

Notes to the financial statements 

30 June 2018 

Note 5. Supplies and services 
2018 2017 

$'000 $'000 

Consultants and contractors 24,076 24,428 
Ambulance service 8,113 10,281 
Electricity and other energy 12,673 7,805 
Services purchased from private hospitals 75,678 91,030 
Patient travel 2,323 2,328 
Other travel 1,199 963 
Water 1,729 1,543 
Building services 3,304 2,674 
Computer services 6,476 6,120 
Motor vehicles 296 250 
Communications 12,616 7,339 
Repairs and maintenance 25,286 16,442 
Expenses relating to capital works 5,810 2,478 
Operating lease rentals 3,773 4,723 
Drugs 37,336 40,615 
Clinical supplies and services 56,993 54,667 
Catering and domestic supplies 13,093 12,206 
Pathology, blood and parts 22,637 19,142 
Services received below fair value * 9,241 
Other supplies and services 6,633 6085 

328,882 311,119 

* SCHHS receives corporate services support from the Department for no direct cost. Corporate services received would have
been purchased If they were not provided by the Department and Include payroll services, accounts payable and banking services.
The fair value of corporate services received in 2018 were $8.773m million for payroll services and $0.468m for accounts payable
and banking services. An equal amount of income Is recognised as services received below fair value. Refer to Note 3. Grants
and other contributions. There is no prior year comparative provided as the fair value of these services could not be measured
reliably.

Services purchased from private hospitals during the year amounted to $75.578m (2017: $91.030m). These expenses include 
the agreements with Ramsay Health Care for the provision of health services to public patients within the Noose Private Hospital 
and the Sunshine Coast University Private Hospital. Refer also to Note 32. Arrangements for the provision of public Infrastructure 
by other entities. 

A total of $39.711m (2017: $33.327m) was expensed in relation to Quarterly Service Payments due to Exemplar Health. This 
value is included within the expense categories Electricity and other energy, Building services, Repairs and maintenance, and 
Other supplies and services. Refer to Note 31: Public Private Partnership. 
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 
Notes to the financial statements 
30 June 2018 

Note 6. Other expenses 

Insurance premiums 
Inventory written off 
Losses from the disposal of non-current assets 
Special payments 
Other legal costs 
Other 

2018 
$'000 

9,221 
99 

268 
3 

819 
3469 

13,879 

2017 
$'000 

8,667 
124 
191 

8 
412 

2 428 
11,830 

Audit fees- Total estimated audit fees paid or payable to the Queensland Audit Office relating to the 2017-18 financial year were 
$0.250m (2017: $0.280m). There are no non-audit services included in this amount. 

Certain losses of property and health litigation costs are insured with the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF). The 
maximum excess amount payable is $20,000 for each claim event. The claims made in respect of these losses have yet to be 
assessed by QGIF and the amount recoverable cannot be estimated reliably at reporting date. Upon notification by QGIF of the 
acceptance of the claims, revenue will be recognised for the agreed settlement amount and disclosed as Other Revenues 
Insurance compensation. 

Occasionally SCHHS makes a special (ex-gratia) payment even though it is not contractually or legally obligated to make such a 
payment to other parties. SCHHS maintains a register of all special payments greater than $5,000 and discloses the nature of 
those particular payments. There were no payments greater than $5,000 during the period (2017: $6,651). 

Note 7. Reconciliation of result to net cash from/(used in) operating activities 
2018 2017 
$'000 $'000 

Operating result for the year (13,934) 7,270 

Adjustments for: 
Proceeds from disposal of property plant and equipment (1,469) (51) 
Losses on disposal of non-current assets 268 191 
Depreciation and amortisation 106,684 41,134 
Depreciation offset from the Department of Health (106,684) (41,133) 
Revaluation loss I (gain) on land assets 
Assets donated revenue - non-cash (121) (68) 
Impairment losses on receivables 781 917 

Movements in assets and liabilities: 
(lncrease)/decrease in trade and other receivables (27,870) 10,753 
(lncrease)/decrease in GST receivables (932) 628 
(lncrease)/decrease in Inventories 146 482 
(lncrease)/decrease in accrued revenue (966) 2,633
(lncrease)/decrease in prepayments (1,434) (73)
lncrease/(decrease) in trade and other payables 6,966 12,713
lncrease/(decrease) In salary and wages accrued 2,729 7,144
lncrease/(decrease) In other employee benefits 81 1,240
lncrease/(decrease) in unearned revenue 4,681 (492) 
lncrease/(decrease) in Interest payable (127) 10,009

Net cash from operating activities (31,291} 53.297 
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Note 8. Budget vs actual comparison 

Statement of comprehensive income 

$'000 
Budget 

2018 

Income 
Health service funding 1,050,341 
User charges 72,425 
Grants and other contributions 11,816 
Other revenue 7,102 
Gains on asset disposals 27 
Total Income 1,141,711 

Expenses 
Employee expenses (727,640) 
Supplies and services (293,729) 
Grants and subsidies (165) 
Depreciation and amortisation (76,060) 
Impairment losses (617) 
Interest expense (34,591) 
other expenses (22,101} 
Total expenses (1,154,803} 

Operating result for the year (13,092) 

Other comprehensive Income 
Increase in the asset revaluation surplus 17,316 
Other comprehensive Income for the year 17,316 

Total comprehensive Income for the year 4,224 

$'000 
Actual 

2018 

1,082,392 
68,535 
34,341 
7,629 
1,469 

1,194,366 

(730,429) 
(328,882) 

(46) 
(106,684) 

(781) 
(27,699) 
(13,879} 

(1,208,300} 

(13,934) 

185,536 
185,636 

171,602 

$'000 
Variance 

2018 

32,051 
(3,890) 
22,525 

527 
1,442 

62,655 

(2,789) 
(36,153) 

119 
(30,624) 

(264) 
6,992 
8,222 

(53,497) 

(842) 

168,220 
168,220 

167,378 

% 
Variance 

3% 
(6%) 

191% 
7% 

5341% 

0% 
12% 

(72%) 
40% 
51% 

(20%) 
(37%) 

To be consistent with the financial statements, original budgeted figures are reclassified at the line item level where necessary. 

Explanations of variances - Statement of comprehensive Income 

Grants and other contributions 

The Increase is predominantly due to recoveries of non-capital expenditure from the Department for Information and 

communication technology costs and other costs associated with the Integrated electronic Medical Record system and the staged 
transition to the SCUH ($13.4m). The increase Is also due to goods and services received below fair value from the Department 

($9.2m). The SCHHS recognised this revenue, which is offset by an identical amount under supplies and services expenses, for 
the first time In 2017-18. This was not known at the time the budget was set. 

Gains on asset disposals 

The Increase relates to the sale of Griffith University's share of the assets related to their interest In the Sunshine Coast Health 

Institute (SOHi) Joint operation and the Medical School dedicated assets, Initially held by the SCHHS. 
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Note 8: Budget vs actual comparison (continued) 

Supplies and services 

The increase in supplies and services is predominantly due to the recognition of goods and services received below fair value 
from the Department ($9.2m). The SCHHS recognised this expense, which is offset by an identical amount under Grants and 
other contributions, for the first time in 2017-18. This was not known at the time the budget was set. The increase was also due 
to net additional expenditure funded under amendments to the service agreement between SCHHS and the Department. This 
includes: 

- additional expenditure on equipment maintenance, minor works and expensed construction costs ($8.8m).

- additional facility operating costs such as electricity, water, cleaning, food, linen and security ($6.9m).

- additional expenditure on non-clinical contracted labour for the expensed component of software development ($6.3m).

- additional expenditure on medical and nursing contractors ($4.7m).

- additional expenditure on pathology services, clinical supplies and blood products ($3.8m).

- additional expenditure on services outsourced to the Noosa Hospital, the SCUPH and for oral health ($3.7m).

- additional expenditure on professional and consultancy services ($2.2m).

- lower than expected expenditure on the patient travel subsidy scheme and ambulance charges, including in relation to the
SCUPH ($5.9m),

- lower than expected costs of pharmaceuticals {$4.4m), and

- lower than expected costs for renting buildings ($1.1 m).

Depreciation and amortisation 

The increase is predominantly due to the transfer of additional non-current assets from the Department to the SCHHS following 

the completion of construction of the SCUH. The additional expenditure includes a one-off correction from 2016-17 for the 

componentisation of building assets. 

Interest expense 

The decrease relates to the favourable impact of the floating rate component of the interest-bearing liability used to partially fund 

the purchase of SCUH assets. 

Other expenses 

The decrease is predominantly due to the reclassification of contingent project expenditure that was budgeted as other expenses 

however has been expensed to employee expenses and other supplies and services as part of the phased start-up of the SCUH 

($7.8m). 

Increase in the asset revaluation surplus 

The increase is due to higher than expected valuations of land ($3.7m) and buildings ($164.5m) across the SCHHS. 
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Note 8: Budget vs actual comparison (continued) 

Statement of financial position 

Assets 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Trade and other receivables 
Inventories 
Other assets 
Total current assets 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
Intangibles 
Total non-current assets 

Total assets 

Liabilities 
Current llabllltles 
Trade and other payables 
Interest bearing liability 
Accrued employees benefits 
Unearned revenue 
Total current liabllitles 

Non-Current llabllltles 
Interest bearing liability 
Unearned revenue 
Total non-current llabllitles 

Total liabilities 

Net assets 

Equity 

Contributed equity 
Asset revaluation surplus 
Accumulated surpluses 
Total equity 

Explanations of variances • Statement of financial position 

Cash and cash equivalents 

$'000 

Budget 
2018 

64,136 
7,854 
5,999 
8,854 

86,843 

1,603,804 
21,547 

1,625,351 

1,712,194 

50,754 
7,048 

23,538 
1 

81,341 

444,175 

444,175 

526,516 

1,186,678 

1,156,312 
29,285 
1 081 

1,186,678 

$'000 $'000 % 
Actual Variance Variance 

2018 2018 

78,459 14,323 22% 
32,363 24,509 312% 
5,156 (843) (14%)
8,251 {603) (7%) 

124,229 37,386 

1,995,944 392,140 24% 
12,391 {9,156) (42%) 

2,008,335 382,984 

2,132,564 420.370 

61,902 11,148 22% 
17,507 10,459 148% 

29,498 6,960 25% 
13288 13,287 1328700% 

122,195 40,864 

620,662 76,487 17% 
84267 84 267 -% 

604,929 160,764 

727,124 201,608 

1,405,440 218,762 

1,193,070 36,758 3% 
204,860 175,575 600% 

7,510 6,429 595% 
1,405,440 218,762 

The Increase Is predominantly due to the Impact of the timing of cash receipts and payments at year end ($11.6m). There was an 
Increase In operating receivables held at 30 June 2018 relative to budget ($25.5m) offset by an Increase In current llabllltles at 30 
June 2018 relative to budget ($37.1 m), 
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Trade and other receivables 

The increase is predominantly due to accrued funding revenues receivable from the Department at year end for additional 

services, endoscopy long wait reduction and reimbursement of outsourced services ($15.0m), higher revenues receivable from 

user charges and private practice ($5.6m), revenues receivable from Exemplar Health for favourable movements in the floating 

rate component of the financial liability under the service agreement it holds with the SC HHS for the SCUH ($3.0m), and income 

from the University of the Sunshine Coast ($0.4m), TAFE Queensland East Coast ($0.3m) and Griffith University for 

reimbursement of shared costs of the joint operation of the SCHI ($0.3m). 

Property, plant and equipment 

The increase relates predominantly to higher than expected revaluations of land assets ($12.2m) and building assets ($155.2m), 

higher than budgeted transfers of building and equipment assets from the Department following the completion of the construction 

of the SCUH ($208.4m), higher than expected capital assets under construction as part of the staged rollout of services at the 

SCUH and refurbishment of other assets across the Service ($27.6m) offset by underestimated accumulated depreciation 

expenditure on buildings ($12.4m). 

Intangibles 

The decrease is due to lower than expected capitalisation of expenditure on information and communications technology assets 

under the transition to the new SCUH ($5. 7m). This is due in part to the reclassification of expenditure to the income statement. 

The decrease is also due to higher than expected accumulated amortisation on developed software ($3.5m). At the time the 

budget was set the timing of capitalisation of developed software was not known. 

Trade and other payables 

The increase is predominantly due to funding payable back to the Department at 30 June 2018 ($15.0m) largely due to favourable 

movements in the floating rate component on the interest-bearing liability held to partially fund the assets of the SCUH. The 

increase is also due to underestimated expenses payable to private sector entities at balance date ($4.7m) and to the Queensland 

Department of Public Works for asset related services ($1.3m). This is offset by overestimated accrued expenses payable to 

Exemplar Health at 30 June 2018 including for the final quarterly service payment for 2017-18 ($6.2m) and to the Department for 

supplies and services received not yet paid ($5.0m). 

Interest bearing liabilities (current and non-current) 

Current: The increase relates to Interest expenditure which was budgeted as a trade payable as at 30 June 2018 ($9.9m) and 

underestimated loans payable to Exemplar Health as at 30 June 2018 ($0.6m). 

Non-current: The increase is due to the underestimated value of the loan used to partially fund SCUH assets ($76.Sm). 

Accrued employee benefits 

The liabilities for accrued rostered days off and superannuation were underestimated when the budget was set. 

Unearned revenue (current and non-current) 

Current: The Increase is predominantly due to unearned revenue funding received from the Department ($7.9m) largely for 

program costs associated with the staged opening of the SCUH. The increase is also due to bringing to account the current liability 

portion of unearned revenues associated with the car park at the SCUH ($3.8m). At the time the budget was set these liabilities 

were not known. In addition to this unearned grant revenues were similarly underestimated ($1.6m). 

Non-current: The increase is predominantly due to bringing to account the non-current liability portion of unearned revenues 

associated with the car park at the SCUH ($83.6m). At the time the budget was set this liability was not known. In addition to this 

other unearned revenues were similarly underestimated ($0.6m). 
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Statement of cash flows 

$'000 $'000 $'000 % 
Budget Actual Variance Variance 

2018 2018 2018 
Cash flows from operating activities 
Health seivice funding 1,050,340 966,274 (84,066) (8%) 
User charges 68,952 62,285 (6,667) (10%) 
Grants and other contributions 14,654 24,979 10,325 70% 
Interest received 99 98 (1) (1%)
GST collected from customers 6,507 6,507 -%
GSTinput tax credits 19,042 27,666 8,624 45%

Other revenue 6,871 5,236 (1,635) (24%)
Employee expenses (726,086) (727,619) (1,533) 0% 
Supplies and services (292,717) (320,584) (27,867} 10% 
Grants and subsidies (162) (46) 116 (72%) 
GST paid to suppliers (18,676) (28,691) (10,015) 54% 
GST remitted (366) (6,414) (6,048) 1652% 
Interest expense (34,591) (27,371) 7,220 (21%) 
Other expenses (21,853) (13,611) 8,242 (38%) 

Net cash from/(used by) operating activities 65,507 {31,291) (96,798) 

Cash flows from Investing activities 
Payments for property, plant and equipment (9,639) (37,350) (27,711) 287% 
Payments for Intangibles (5,311) (2,536) 2,775 (52%) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 
equipment (172) 7,653 7,825 (4549%) 

Net cash from/(used by) Investing activities (15,122) (32,233) (17,111) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from equity injections 8,Q38 28,424 20,386 254% 
Proceeds from equity withdrawals (76,060) 76,060 {100%) 
Borrowing redemptions (6,459) (6,941) (482) 

Net cash from/(used by) financing activities (74,481) 21.483 95,964 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (24,096) (42,041) (17,945) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year 88,232 120,500 32,268 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 64,136 78,459 14,323 
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Explanations of variances - Statement of cash flows 

Health service funding 

The decrease is predominantly due to the inclusion of funding revenues for depreciation expense as cash inflows In the budget. 

Under current arrangements funding revenues for depreciation are returned to the Department as an equity withdrawal. These 

revenues and withdrawals were budgeted as cashflows however did not result in actual cashflows ($76.1m). 

Grants and other contributions 

The increase is predominantly due to recoveries of non-capital expenditure from the Department for information and 

communication technology costs and other costs associated with the integrated electronic Medical Record system and staged 

transition to the SCUH net of accruals ($10.Sm). 

Other revenue 

The decrease Is predominantly due to the incorrect treatment of amortisation of car park deferred revenue as a cashflow in the 

budget ($3.9m) offset by higher than expected rental receipts from retailers at the new SCUH ($0.Bm) and receipts for services 

to be provided after balance date ($1.5m). 

Supplies and services 

Refer to the Statement of comprehensive income Budget vs Actual commentary for an explanation of the bulk of this variance. 

The Statement of comprehensive income contains an actual non-cash entry for goods and services received below fair value from 

the Department ($9.2m). This amount was not known at the time the budget was set. 

For the interest and other expense categories, refer to the Statement of comprehensive income Budget vs Actual commentary. 

Payments for property, plant and equipment 

The increase is predominantly due to higher than expected capital assets under construction as part of the staged rollout of 

services at the SCUH, and from the refurbishment of other assets across the SCHHS ($27.6m). At the time the budget was set 

this expenditure was not known. 

Payments for intangibles 

The decrease is predominantly due to lower than expected capitalisation of expenditure on information and communications 

technology assets. 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 

The increase is predominantly due to the sale of SCHI assets to Griffith University as part of the joint operation ($7.6m). At the 

time the budget was set this sale was not known. 
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Note 9. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 

Cash at bank and on hand 
24-hour call deposits

2018 
$'000 

74,730 
3,729 

78,469 

2017 
$'000 

117,637 
2,863 

120,500 

A deposit is held with the Queensland Treasury Corporation reflecting the value of the Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 
General Trust Fund. The value of this deposit as at 30 June 2018 was $3.729m (2017: $2.863m) and the Annual Effective Interest 
Rate was 2.41 % (2017: 2.49%). For further information on the General Trust refer to Note 29. General Trust. The main operating 
bank account does not earn interest. 

Note 1 O. Current assets • trade and other receivables 
2018 2017 
$'000 $'000 

Trade receivables 16,363 13,582 
Less: Allowance for Impairment of receivables (962) (774)

15,391 12,808 

GST input tax credits receivables 3,313 2,288 
GST payable {1,303) (1,210) 

2,010 1 078 

Health service funding In arrears 14,962 3,066 
32,363 16,952 

Trade debtors at 30 June 2018 Included amounts due from the Granted private practice arrangement of $3.548m (2017: $2.343m), 
which has been Included in accrued revenue In prior years. 

Trade debtors are recognised at their carrying value less any impairment. The recoverability of trade debtors is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis at an operating unit level. All known bad debts are written off when Identified, and, approved by senior management. 

At the end of each reporting period SCHHS assesses whether there ls objective evidence that a financial asset Is impaired. 
Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, the class of debtor, changes in debtor credit ratings and current 
outstanding accounts over 60 days. The allowance for Impairment reflects the assessment of the credit risk associated with 
receivables balances. 

Accommodation billing makes up the majority of aged receivables. It takes approximately 20 days from the date of discharge for 
billing to be sent for payment. Under normal circumstances there Is an approximate four week turn around before receipt. 

If health funds require additional Information (e.g. pre-existing forms, accident forms, acute care certificates) this can further extend 
the collection period. 

Movements In the provision for Impairment of receivables are as follows: 

Opening balance 
Additional provisions recognised 
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable 
Closing balance 

2018 
$'000 

774 
388 

{200) 
962 

2017 
$'000 

312 
631 

(169) 
774 

18 
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Note 1 0. Current assets - trade and other receivables (continued) 

Ageing of past due but not impaired as well as impaired financial assets are disclosed in the following tables. 

Financial assets (receivables) not impaired 2018 

$'000 
1 - 30 days 31 -60 days 61 - 90 days 

Not overdue overdue overdue overdue 

Receivables 4,861 4,027 1,411 3,640 

Financial assets (receivables) not impaired 2017 

$'000 
1 - 30 days 31 -60 days 61 - 90 days 

Not overdue overdue overdue overdue 

Receivables 3,667 3,180 1,323 3,704 

Individually impaired financial assets (receivables) 2018 

Receivables (gross) 
Allowance for impairment 
Carrying amount 

1 -30 days 
overdue 

$'000 
31 - 60 days 61 - 90 days 

overdue overdue 

23 16 
(23) (16)

lndivldual/y impaired financial assets (receivables) 2017 

Receivables (gross) 
Allowance for impairment 
Carrying amount 

Note 11. Current assets - Inventories 

1 -30 days 
overdue 

177 
(177) 

$'000 
31 - 60 days 61 - 90 days 

overdue overdue 

205 
(205) 

More than 90 
days overdue 

1,452 

More than 90 
days overdue 

934 

More than 90 
days overdue 

923 
(923) 

More than 90 
days overdue 

392 
(392) 

Total 

15,391 

Total 

12,808 

Total 

962 
(962) 

Total 

774 
(774) 

Inventories consist malnly of pharmaceutical and medical supplies held for distribution In hospitals and are provided to 
patients at a subsidised rate. Inventories are measured at weighted average cost adjusted for any loss in service potential. 
The value of Inventory Is expensed by SC HHS In the period they are consumed. 

Supplies may ba held on site under arrangements with external suppliers. The terms for the consumption of these goods by 
SCHHS are outlined In the agreement with the relevant supplier. The goods do not form part of the inventory holding of 
SCHHS and are not valued within the financial statements. 
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Note 12. Current assets - other assets 

Accrued revenue 
Prepayments 

2018 2017 
$'000 $'000 

5,993 2,694 
2,258 824 
8,251 3 618 

Revenue accrued at 30 June 2018 included amounts for reimbursement of expenses by the Department of $4.644m (2017: 

$1. 759m) and reimbursements under the PBS of $1.286m (2017: $1.019m). 

Note 13. Non-current assets • property, plant and equipment 

Balances and reconclllatlon of carrying amounts 

2018 2017 
$'000 $'000 

Land - at fair value 74,465 70,093 
Buildings - at fair value 2,093,074 1,922,968 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (326,848) (250,923) 

1,766,226 1,672,035 
Plant and equipment - at cost 205,978 194,663 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (78,543) (69,482) 

127,435 136,071 
Capital work In progress - at cost 27,828 691 

1,995,944 1,877,790 

Capital 
Plant and works In 

Land Buildings equipment progress Total 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2016 61,142 195,451 28,919 285,512 

Additions 2,960 1,992 4,952 
Disposals (191) (191) 
Revaluation increments 8,951 2,629 11,680 
Transfers In - 1,600,447 115,473 1,615,920 
Transfers out 
Transfers between classes * 877 634 (1,401) 110 
Adjustment to ·accumulated depreciation on transfers 1 (66) (65) 
Depreciation expense (27,370) (12,658) (40,028) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2017 70,093 1,672,035 135,071 591 1,877,790 

Additions 30 8,282 29,169 37,471 
Disposals (6,413) (1,026) (6,439) 
Revaluation Increments 4,362 181,174 185,536 
Revaluation decrements (60) (60) 
Transfers In 4,229 4,229 
Transfers out (265) (255) 
Transfers between classes 1,010 912 (1,922) 
Adjustment to accumulated depreciation on transfers (31) (31) 
Depreciation expense (82,550) (19,747) (102,297) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2018 74,465 1,766,226 127,436 21i828 1,995,944 

*Due to original costs being Incorrectly recorded In 2017 $0.110m of computing hardware (Plant and equipment class) was
transferred from Software work In progress. Refer Note 15. Non-current assets - intangible assets.
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Note 13. Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Accounting Policy 

Recognition 

Items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value equal to more than the following thresholds, and with a useful 
life of more than one year, are recognised at acquisition. Items below these values are expensed on acquisition. 

Acquisition 

Class 

Buildings (including land improvements) 

Land 

Plant and Equipment 

Threshold 

$10,000 

$1 

$5,000 

Actual cost is used for the initial recording of all non-current physical asset acquisitions. Cost is determined as the value given as 
consideration plus expenditures incidental to the acquisition, including all other costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use, 
such as architects' fees and engineering design fees. Training costs are expensed as incurred. 

Assets under construction are at cost until they are ready for use. The construction of major health infrastructure assets relating 
to the SCHHS is funded by the Department and managed by SCHHS. These assets are assessed at fair value upon practical 
completion by an independent valuer. They are then transferred from Department to SCHHS via an equity adjustment. 

Any expenditure that increases the capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and depreciated over the remaining 
useful life of the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

Land and buildings are subsequently measured at fair value in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment, AASB 
13 Fair Value Measurement and Queensland Treasury's Non-Current Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. In respect 
of these asset classes, the cost of items acquired during the financial year have been judged by management to materially reflect 
the fair value at the end of the reporting period. 

Plant and equipment is measured at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any Impairment in accordance with Queensland 
Treasury's Non-Current Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. 

Assets under construction are not revalued until they are ready for use. 

Componentisation of complex assets 

Complex assets comprise separately identifiable components (or groups of components) of significant value, that require 
replacement at regular intervals and at different times to other components comprising the complex asset. The only complex 
asset that Is currently componentised is SCUH (buildings and site improvements). 

On initial recognition, the asset recognition thresholds outlined above apply to the complex asset as a single Item. 

When a separately identifiable component (or group of components) of significant value is replaced, the existing component(s) 
are derecognised. The replacement component(s) will be capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits from the 
significant component will flow to SCHHS in conjunction with the other components comprising the complex asset and the cost 
exceeds the asset recognition thresholds specified above. 

Replacement components that do not meet the asset recognition thresholds for capitalisation will be expensed. 

Components are valued on the same basis as the asset class to which they relate. 
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Note 13. Non-current assets • property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Depreciation 

For each class of depreciable assets the following depreciation methodologies are employed: 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis to allocate the net cost or revalued amount of each asset, 
progressively over Its estimated useful life. It Is assumed that all assets have a residual value of zero. This is based on the general 
practice that SCHHS uses assets until there Is no longer any economic benefit to be derived. Where a revaluation has occurred, 
the amortisation and depreciation for future periods will be calculated on the re-stated net book value on the same basis as had 
been applied previously, over the remaining estimated useful life of the asset. 

Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned 
useful lives distinct from the asset to which they relate and are depreciated accordingly. 

Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and the new 
depreciable amount is depreciated (or amortised) over the remaining useful life of the asset. 

Useful lives of assets are reviewed annually and where necessary, are adjusted to better reflect the consumption profile of the 
asset. Significant Judgement is used in reviewing the useful life of each asset. This includes factors such as asset usage and rate 
of technical obsolescence. The depreciation charge will increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated, or 
when the asset becomes technically or functionally obsolete, abandoned, sold or written off. 

Amortisation and depreciation Is not charged against land and artwork, which have Indefinite lives; or work-in-progress assets (as 
they have not been commissioned). 

For each class of depreciable assets, the following depreciation rates were used: 

Impairment 

Class Depreciation Rates Used 

Buildings 1.1 % - 4.4% 

Plant and Equipment 4.4% - 33.3% 

Useful llves 

23-90 years

3-23 years

A review was conducted In order to identify indicators of impairment in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. It was 
concluded that no assets were materially impaired as at 30 June 2018. 

Consignment equipment 

Equipment Is held on site under arrangements with external suppliers. The terms for the use by SCHHS are outlined In the 
agreement with the relevant supplier. The items do not form part of the asset base of the SCH HS and are not valued within the 
financial statements. 

Land and building revaluation disclosures 

The land and building revaluation process Is overseen by the Board and coordinated by Senior Management. 

The fair values reported by SCH HS are based on appropriate valuation techniques that maximise the use of available and relevant 
observable Inputs and minimise the use of unobservable Inputs. Refer to Note 14. Fair value measurement. 

Where assets have not been specifically appraised In the reporting period, their previous valuations are materially kept up-to-date 
via the application of relevant indices, as provided by engaged experts. 

Independent valuers I quantity surveyors engaged by SCH HS provide assurance of the robustness, validity and appropriateness 
of the valuation techniques employed. 

Land Is measured at fair value using indexation or Independent asset specific revaluations. Independent asset specific 
revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure land assets are carried at fair value. The independent revaluations 
occur at least once every five years except in the case of immaterial assets which may have revaluations deferred to the next 
annual program of revaluations. In the off-cycle years indexation is applied where there Is no evidence of significant market 
fluctuations In land prices. 

22 
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Note 13. Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Land and building revaluation disclosures (continued) 

Land indices are based on actual market movements for the relevant locations and asset category and are applied to the fair 
value of land assets on hand. 

Fair value is determined by applying current replacement cost methodology (gross replacement cost of a modern equivalent) or 
an Index which approximates movement in market prices for construction labour and other key resource inputs, as well as changes 
in design standards as at reporting date. Both methodologies are executed on behalf of SCHHS by independent valuers and 
quantity surveyors. 

Current replacement cost is determined on the basis of replicating the future service potential of the asset, adjusted for various 
factors. These factors include (amongst others) physical condition, age, gross floor area, number of floors, sub-components and 
functionality. The impact of refurbishments and upgrades contribute to the condition and remaining useful lives assessments, 
which form part of the current replacement cost calculation. 

Physical condition is based on visual Inspection, asset condition data, guidance from asset managers and historical reports. 

For residential buildings held by SCHHS on separate land titles fair value Is determined by reference to Independent market 
revaluations. 

Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is credited to the asset revaluation surplus of the appropriate 
class, except to the extent it reverses a revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense. A decrease in 
the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense, to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation 
surplus relating to that asset class. 

On revaluation accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in the carrying amount of the asset and the 
change in the estimate of remaining useful life. 

Materiality is considered in determining whether the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of an asset is 
material, in which case revaluation is warranted. 

The impact of the land and building revaluations was reflected in equity (asset revaluation reserve). 

Land result 

The indexation assessment for the year ending 30 June 2018 resulted in an Increase in value of $1. 752m (2017: $nil) to the 
carrying value of the land assets. 

Land assets revalued by way of reference to specific valuations as at 30 June 2018 resulted in an increase In value of $2.610m 
(2017: $8.951m) to the carrying amount of land. 

Overall, this is an increment of $4.362m or 5.9% (2017: $8.951m or 14.6%) to the land portfolio as at 30 June 2018. 

The majority of this increase ($2.1 00m) related to the SCUH site (2017: $8.900m). Refer to Note 32. Arrangements for the 
provision of public infrastructure by other entities. 

Buildings result 

The result of the indexation assessment indicated an overall 4.2% (2017: 3.8%) Increase over the period. For the year ending 
30 June 2018 this increase was applied to the relevant building assets with the net result being an increase in value of $60.187m 
(2017: $6.206). 

Buildings assessed by way of asset specific valuations resulted in an Increase in value of $120.987m (2017: ($3.577m)). 

Overall, this is an increment of $181.174m or 11.5% (2017: $2.629m or 1.4%) to the building assets portfolio as at 30 June 2018. 
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Note 14. Fair value measurement 

Accounting Policy 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset In an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price Is directly derived from 
observable inputs or estimated using another valuation technique. 

Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the assets being valued, and include, but 
are not limited to, published sales data for land and residential dwellings. 

Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that are not available publicly, but are relevant to the characteristics 
of the assets being valued. Significant unobservable inputs used by SCH HS include, but are not limited to, subjective adjustments 
made to observable data to take account of the specialised nature of health service buildings and on hospital-site residential 
facilities, including historical and current construction contracts (and/or estimates of such costs), and assessments of physical 
condition and remaining useful life. Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and reliable observable 
inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities. 

A fair value measurement of an asset takes Into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefit by using the 
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
The current use of the asset Is deemed to be its highest and best use. 

Categorisation of fair values 

The following tables detail the SCHHS assets, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three-level hierarchy, based on the 
lowest level of Input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being: 

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets that the entity can access at the measurement date 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets, either directly or indirectly 

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the assets 

Level2 Level3 Total 
2017 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Assets 

Land 70,093 70,093 
Buildings (residential) 982 982 

Buildings (health service sites) 1,671,053 1,671,053 
Total assets 71,075 1,671,053 1,742,128 

Level2 Level3 Total 
2018 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Assets 

Land 74,455 74,455 
Buildings (residential) 922 922 
Buildings (health service sites) 1,765,304 1,765,304 
Total assets 76,377 1,766,304 1,840,681 

There were no transfers between levels during the financial year. 
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Note 14. Fair value measurement (continued) 

Categorisation of fair values (continued) 

Valuation techniques for fair value measurements categorised within level 2 and /eve/ 3. 

Land has been valued using a market approach based on similar assets, sales market data, location and market conditions. 

Residential buildings have been valued using a market approach based on similar assets, sales market data, location and market 
conditions. 

Health service site buildings have been valued using a current replacement cost based on approximating prices and movements 
in prices for construction costs and other key resource inputs, as well as changes in design and current condition assessments. 

Level 3 assets 

Movements in level 3 assets during the current financial year are set out below: 

Balance at 1 July 2016 

Gains recognised in other comprehensive income 
Transfers in 
Transfers from works in progress 
Disposals 
Depreciation for the year 
Balance at 30 June 2017 

Gains recognised in other comprehensive income 
Transfers in 
Transfers from works in progress 
Disposals 
Depreciation for the year 
Balance at 30 June 2018 

Note 15. Non-current assets- Intangible assets 

Accounting Policy 

SCHHS intangible assets are measured at their historical cost as there is no active market for these assets. 

Buildings 
(Health service 

sites) 

$'000 

194 371 

2,629 
1,500,447 

877 

(27,272) 
1,671,052 

181,077 
30 

1,010 

(5,413) 
(82.462) 

1,765,304 

Intangible assets with a cost or other value equal to or greater than $100,000 are recognised in the financial statements. Items 
with a lesser value are expensed. Each intangible asset is amortised over its estimated useful life. 

Useful lives for the Software Internally Generated assets are generally between 2 years and 6 years. 

Ali Intangible assets are assessed for Indicators of impairment on an annual basis. As no indicators of impairment have been 
identified, none of SCHHS intangible assets have been Impaired during 2018. 
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Note 15. Non-current assets- Intangible assets (continued) 

Balances and reconciliation of carrying amounts 

During the period $2.536m (2017: $6.269m) of expenditure was incurred in relation to the purchase and development of several 
new or upgraded IT systems for use at the SCUH or across the service. 

Software 
Internally 

Generated: At Software work In 
2017 Cost progreH Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 

Cost 15,348 15,348 
Less: Accumulated amortisation (1,106) (1,106) 
Carrying amount at end of period 14,242 14242 

Categorisation of fair value hierarchy 

Movement 
Carrying amount at start of period 4,782 4,782 
Additions 1,540 4,729 6,269 
Transfers 9,401 (9,401) 
Transfer to plant and equipment * (110) (110) 
Transfers from the Department 4,407 4,407 
Amortisation (1,106) (1,106) 
Carrying amount at end of period 14 242 14 242 

Software 
Internally 

Generated: At Software work In 
2018 Cost progress Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 

Cost 15,348 2,536 17,884 
Less: Accumulated amortisation (6,493) (6,493) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 9,855 2,536 12,391 

Movement 
Carrying amount at 1 July 14,242 14,242 
Additions 2,636 2,636 
Transfers 
Transfer to plant and equipment 
Transfers from the Department 
Amortisation {4,387) (4,387) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 9,866 2,636 12,391 

*Due to original costs being Incorrectly recorded In 2017 $0.11 Om of computing hardware was transferred to Plant and equipment.
Refer Note 13. Non-current assets- Property, plant and equipment.
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Note 16. Current liabilities - trade payables 

Trade payables 
Health funding payables 
Other payables 

2018 2017 
$'000 $'000 

46,728 46,041 
15,080 8,550 

94 436 

61,902 55,027 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to SCH HS prior to the end of the financial year and which 
are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 - 60 days of recognition. 

Note 17. Interest bearing liability 

2018 2017 
$'000 $'000 

Current 
Interest bearing liability - PPP arrangement 17,507 16 950 
Total 17,507 16 950 

Non-Current 
Interest bearing liability - PPP arrangement 520,662 528,287 
Total 520,662 528,287 

Refer to Note 31. Public Private Partnership 

Note 18. Current liabilities - accrued employee benefits 

2018 2017 
$'000 $'000 

Salaries and wages accrued 25,767 23,038 
Other employee benefits payable 3 731 3650 

29,498 26,688 

Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised in the Statement of financial position at current salary rates. 
As SCHHS expects such liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, the liabilities are recognised at 
undiscounted amounts. 

Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is 
expected to continue In future periods. Accordingly, It is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees 
and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this 
leave as it is taken. 

Workers' compensation insurance is a consequence of employing employees, but Is not counted In an employee's total 
remuneration package. It is not an employee benefit and is recognised separately as an employee related expense. 
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Note 18. Current liabilities -accrued employee benefits (continued) 

Annual Leave and Long Service Leave 

SCHHS participates in the Annual Leave Central Scheme and the Long Service Leave Central Scheme. 

Under the Queensland Government's Annual Leave Central Scheme and the Long Service Leave Central Scheme, levies are 
payable by SCHHS to cover the cost of employees' annual leave (including leave loading and on-costs) and long service leave. 

These levies are expensed in the period in which they are payable. Amounts paid to employees for annual leave and long service 
leave are claimed from the schemes quarterly in arrears which is currently facilitated by the Department. 

No provision for annual leave or long service leave is recognised in the financial statements of SCHHS, as the liability for these 
schemes is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of
Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting. 

Superannuation 

Employer superannuation contributions are paid to employee nominated superannuation funds. Contributions are expensed in 
the period in which they are payable and the obligation of SCHHS is limited to Its contribution to employee nominated 
superannuation funds. 

Note 19. Unearned revenue 

Unearned revenue - current 

Unearned revenue - non-current 

2018 
$'000 

13,288 

13,288 

84,267 

84,267 

2017 
$'000 

5,587 
5,587 

87,387 
87,387 

The current component includes $8.009m (2017: $1.823m) received from the Department in advance of services being delivered. 

As part of the SCUH construction contract Exemplar Health (EH) built two 'car parks in return for a licence to operate the carparks 
over 25 years, therefore the construction cost of these carparks has been accounted for as an upfront payment for the 25 year 
lease. This revenue will be progressively recognised over the 25 year term of the lease. Refer Note 31: Public Private Partnership. 

SCHHS has deferred revenue from the carpark licence to operate the carpark granted to Exemplar Health. 

The revenue wlll be unwound over the 25 year term of the agreement. As at 30 June 2018, the balance relating to the car park 
is non-current of $83.649m (2017: $87.387m) and current of $3. 738m (2017: $3. 738m). 

The amount of revenue recognised for the year ending 30 June 2018 was $3.738m (2017: $2.337m). 

Financials

85



Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 
Notes to the financial statements 
30 June 2018 

Note 20. Equity - asset revaluation surplus 

Asset revaluation surplus - buildings 
Asset revaluation surplus - land 

Movement in asset revaluation surplus 

Movements In the assets revaluation surplus during the current year are set out below: 

Balance at 1 July 2016 
Revaluations 
Balance at 30 June 2017 
Revaluations 
Balance at 30 June 2018 

Note 21. Equity injections and equity withdrawals 

Equity Injections and equity withdrawals 
Cash injection from the Department for capital works and acquisitions 
Return of equity injection to the Department 
Reclass equity received to revenue 
Non cash injection of capital assets related to SCUH PPP 
Non cash injection of other capital assets 
Non cash withdrawal for depreciation offset 
Non cash withdrawal for assets transferred to the Department 
Non cash transfer of PPP related liabilities from the State 
Net equity injections and equity withdrawals for the period 

2018 
$'000 

189,832 
15,028 

204,860 

2018 
$'000 

28,424 

(10,219) 
3,995 

199 
(106,684) 

(255) 

(84,540) 

2017 
$'000 

8,658 
10666 
19,324 

Revaluation 
Surplus 

$'000 

7,744 
11,580 
19,324 

185,536 
204,860 

2017 
$'000 

9,818 

(5,172) 
1,615,849 

4,411 
(41,134) 

(631,156) 
952,616 

Non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities between wholly-owned Queensland State Public Sector entities are adjusted to 
contributed equity in accordance with Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities. 
Appropriations for equity adjustments are similarly designated. 

SCHHS receives funding from the Department to cover depreciation costs. However, as depreciation is a non-cash expenditure 
Item, the Minister of Health has approved a withdrawal of equity by the State for the same amount, resulting In non-cash revenue 
and non-cash equity withdrawal. 
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Note 22. Financial Instruments 

Accounting Policy 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. SCHHS holds financial instruments in the form of cash, receivables, payables and interest bearing 
liabilities (borrowings). 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, plus any transaction costs directly attributable to the borrowings, then 
subsequently held at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate Is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments ·or receipts through the expected life of a financial instrument (or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period) to the net carrying amount of that instrument. 

Any borrowing costs are added to the carrying amount of the borrowing to the extent they are not settled in the period in which 
they arise. Borrowings are split between current and non-current liabilities using the principles set out in the foreword on page 1 
of this report under the heading, Basis for Financial Statements Preparation. 

Recognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised In the Statement of financial position when SCH HS becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

Classification 

Financial instruments are classified and measured as follows: 

- Cash and cash equivalents
- Receivables - held at amortised cost
- Payables - held at amortised cost
- Interest bearing liabilities - held at amortised cost

SCH HS does not enter Into transactions for speculative purposes, or for hedging. Apart from cash and cash equivalents, SCHHS 
holds no financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss. 

Categorisation of financial instruments 

The SCH HS has the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities. 

Financial Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Trade and other receivables 
Total Financial Assets 

Flnanclal Llabllltles 
Trade and other payables 
Interest bearing llablllty 
Total Flnanclal Llabllltles 

io1e 2017 
$'000 $'000 

78,459 120,500 
32,363 16,952 

110,822 137,452 

2018 2017 
$'000 $'000 

61,902 65,027 
638,169 546,237 
800,071 600.264 

Except for GST receivables and GST payables both classified In Trade and other receivables, no other financial assets and 
flnanclal liabilities have been offset and presented as net in the Statement of financial position. 

The carrying amount of financial liabilities measured at amortised cost approximates their fair value at reporting date. 

The Interest bearing liability Is In relatlon to the financing obligatlon SCHHS has with Exemplar Health In relatlon to SCUH. The 
term of the arrangement Is 25 years from 16 November 2016. Refer to Note 31: Public Private Partnership. 
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Note 22. Financial instruments (continued) 

The effective interest rate on the Interest bearing liability is the current Bank Bill Swap Rate plus 2.70% (2017: 2.70%) which 
translates to 4.85% as at 30 June 2018 (2017: 4.46%) and is denominated in $AUD. No interest has been capitalised during the 
current period. 

There have been no defaults or breaches of the agreement during the 2018 year. No assets have been pledged as security. 

Financial risk management 

SCHHS has exposure to a variety of financial risks arising from financial instruments - credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. 

Financial risk management is implemented pursuant to Queensland Government and SCHHS policies. The policies provide 
principles for overall risk management and aim to minimise potential adverse effects of risk events on the financial performance 
of SCH HS. SCH HS measures risk exposure using a variety of methods as follows: 

Risk exposure Measurement method 

Credit risk Ageing analysis, cash inflows at risk 

Liquidity risk Monitoring of cash flows by management 

Market risk Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the potential for financial loss arising from a counterparty defaulting on its obligations. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at balance date is equal to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset, inclusive of any allowance for impairment. 
The allowance for impairment reflects the occurrence of loss events. If no loss events have arisen in respect of a particular debtor, 
or group of debtors, no allowance for impairment is made in respect of that debtor/ group of debtors. If SCH HS determines that 
an amount owing by such a debtor does become uncollectable (after deploying appropriate debt recovery actions), that amount 
Is recognised as a bad debt expense and written-off directly against receivables. In other cases where a debt becomes 
uncollectable but the uncollectable amount exceeds the amount already allowed for impairment of that debt, the excess Is 
recognised directly as a bad debt expense and written-off directly against receivables. 

The carrying amount of trade receivables and cash balances held on deposit with the Queensland Treasury Corporation and the 
Commonwealth Bank of Australia represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. Refer to Note 10. Current assets - trade and 
other receivables and Note 9. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that SCHHS will not have the resources required at a particular time to meet its obligations to settle its 
financial liabilities. SCHHS has exposure to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. SCHHS aims to 
reduce the exposure to liquidity risk by ensuring that sufficient funds are available to meet employee and supplier obligations at 
all times. An approved debt facility of $6m under Whole-of-Government banking arrangements to manage any short-term cash 
shortfalls has been established. No funds had been withdrawn against this debt facility as at 30 June 2018 (2017: $nil). 

The financial liabilities which expose SC HHS to liquidity risk are Trade and other payables, and an Interest bearing liability. Trade 
and other payables are current in nature and will be due and payable within twelve months. As such no discounting of cash flows 
has been made to these Ii abilities In the Statement of financial position. Refer to Note 16. Current liabilities - trade payables. 

The Interest bearing liability has a current (within twelve months) component and a non-current component. Refer Note 31: Public 
Private Partnership. 

Market risk - Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because changes In market 
interest rates. 

In relation to cash deposits held, our sensitivity analysis indicates that the impact on revenue due to interest rate movements is 
immaterial for SCHHS. SCHHS has minimal interest rate exposure on the 24 hour call deposits. There is no interest rate risk on 
the main operating accounts as these accounts do not earn interest. Refer to Note 9. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents. 

The interest rate sensitivity analysis of the Interest bearing liability, depicting the outcome on net income if interest rates would 
change by +/- 1 % from the year end rates, is indicated below. The interest rate change impacts the Floating Rate Component 
of the Interest Bearing Liability. With all other variables held constant, SCHHS would have a surplus and equity Increase I
(decrease) of $4.789m (2017: $3.039m). 
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Note 23. Contingent assets 

There. are no known contingent assets noted as at 30 June 2018. 

Note 24. Contingent llabllltles 

Utigation in progress 

As at 30 June 2018, the following cases were filed in the courts naming the State of Queensland acting through the Sunshine 
Coast Hospital and Health Service as defendant: 

Court 

Supreme Court 
District Court 
Tribunals, commissions and boards 

2018 
No. of cases 

1 

1 

1 

3 

2017 
No. of cases 

SCHHS legal advisers and management believe it would be misleading to estimate the final amounts payable, If any, In respect 
of the litigation before the courts at this time. 

All SCHHS indemnified claims have been managed by the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF}. As at 30 June 2018 
there were 21 claims managed by QGIF on behalf of SCHHS (2017: 42 claims}, some of which may never be litigated or result in 
payment of claims. Tribunals, commissions and board figures represent the matters that have been referred to QGIF for 
management. 

Investigations into non-conforming building products 

The Queensland Government has established a dedicated taskforce to determine the existence of, and develop a response 
strategy regarding, non-conforming building products (particularly around aluminium composite panelling} on Queensland 
Government owned buildings and non-government owned buildings. A new Cladding Investigation and Remediation Program 
(CIRP} has commenced with the scope of material/products and their associated installation methodologies widened. The 
SCHHS has two campuses Identified for further testing and review, these being (i} the SCUH - some materials do not appear to 

be referenced In the Fire Engineering Reports initially produced as part of the construction /development phase and (II} 
Nambour General Hospital - a sample of cladding materials will be assessed in August. The HHS Is awaiting the outcome of 
the testing and associated actions as the program progresses. 
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Note 25. Commitments 

Public private partnership commitments 

Committed at reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable: 
within one year 
one year to five years 
more than five years 

Lease commitments - operating 

Committed at reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable: 
within one year 
one year to five years 
more than five years 

Capital expenditure commitments 

Committed at reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable: 
within one year 

Other commitments 

Committed at reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable: 
within one year 
one year to five years 
more than five years 

All amounts disclosed are exclusive of GST. 

Public private partnership commitments 

2018 
$'000 

35,638 
204,144 

1,001,149 
1,240,931 

939 
597 

26 
1,562 

9,833 

9,833 

59,434 
50,337 
20,647 

130,418 

2017 
$'000 

40,061 
196,434 

1,031,380 
1,267,875 

1,133 
388 

1 521 

1623 
1623 

89,871 
54,121 

934 
144 926 

These outgoings are In relation to the SCUH Public private partnership. The amounts are not recognised in the accounts of 
SCHHS. The entity is however contractually committed to these future outgoings as at 30 June 2018. Refer Note 31: Public 
Private Partnership. 

Leases 

The majority of operational leases are in relation to the tenancy of various administrative, residential and commercial buildings. 
SCHHS is not party to any finance leases. 

Other commitments 

These commitments partly ($47.273m) relate to health services to be provided to public patients by the Noosa Private Hospital 
(2017: $71.360m). There will also be commitments Incurred ($11.666m) relating to health services provided to public patients 
(2017: $51.685m) by the SCUPH. The Agreement is due for completion on 20th September 2018. Refer to Note 32. 
Arrangements for the provision of public Infrastructure by other entitles. 

The balance of Other commitments ($71.479m, 2017: $21.881 m) relates mainly to contracts for equipment servicing, consulting 
and ancillary support costs. 
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Note 26. Key management personnel 

The responsible Minister of SCHHS is Identified as a KMP of SCHHS, consistent with additional guidance Included in the revised 
version of AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. That Minister is the Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services ("the 
Minister"). Non-ministerial KMP are outlined below. 

Position (Board) Contract classification Name of Incumbent Original Cessation date 
and appointment (Board) appointment 
authority date 

Board Chair Board Chair Hospital and Dr Lorraine Ferguson, 18/05/2016 

Provide strategic leadership 
Health Boards Act 2011 AM 

as Board Chair 
and guidance and effective 

Section 25 (1) (a) 

oversight of management, 
operations and financial 
performance. 

Board Member Board Member Hospital Dr Mason Stevenson 01/07/2012 
and Health Boards Act 

Provide strategic guidance 2011 Section 23 (1) Mr Peter Sullivan 06/09/2012 
and effective oversight of 
management, operations Dr Edward Weaver 06/09/2012 

and financial performance. Mr Cosmo Schuh 18/05/2013 

Mr Brian Anker 18/05/2013 

Prof. Julie-Anne Tarr 18/05/2016 

Ms Anita Phillips 18/05/2017 

Position (Executive) Contract classification Name of Incumbent Original Cessation date 
and appointment (Executive) appointment 
authority date 

Chief Executive Hospital and Health Boards John Slaven (Acting) 01/07/2017 09/07/2017 

Provide strategic leadership 
Act 2011 Section 33 

and direction, promote 
effective and efficient use of Scott Lisle (Acting) 10/07/2017 10/12/2017 
resources, develop health 
service plans, workforce 
plans and capital works for Adjunct Professor 11/12/2017 
the delivery of public sector Naomi Dwyer 
health services. 

Executive Director, Clinical HES3-2 Hospital and Kerrie-Anne Hayes 27/10/2014 04/04/2018 
Services Health Boards Act 2011 

Provide leadership and 
Section 74 

manage the clinical service Dr Piotr SWierkowski 10/04/2018 
operations of SCH HS (Acting) 
Including evaluating each of 
the Health Service Groups. 

Executive Director, HES3-1 Hospital and John Slaven 08/04/2016 02/08/2018 
Finance, Business and Health Boards Act 2011 
Operatlonal Services Section 74 

Provide strategic leadership 
and operational control of 
the finance, business and 
operational support 
functions. 

Chief Information Officer HES2-1 Hospital and Barry Mather 02/02/2015 29/06/2018 

Provide strategic leadership 
Health Boards Aot 2011 

and operational control of 
Section 74 

the Information technology 
function. 
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Note 26. Key management personnel (continued) 

Position Contract classification 
and appointment 
authority 

Executive Director, SCUH HES2-5 Hospital and 
Program Health Boards Act 2011 

Provide strategic leadership 
Section 74 

and direction for all aspects 
of preparation and 
mobilisation for the Sunshine 
Coast University Hospital 
and the related health 
service reconfiguration. 

Executive Director, Human HES2-4 Hospital and 
Resource Health Boards Act 2011 

Provide strategic leadership 
Section 74 

and operational control of 
the human resources 
function. 

Executive Director of MMOl2 Hospital and 
Medical Services Health Boards Act 2011 

Professional leader for all 
Section 74 

medical practitioners and 
oversight of the patient 
safety agenda, credentialing, 
education and research. 

Executive Director, NRG13-2 Queensland 
Nursing and Midwifery Health Nurses and 
Services Midwives Award - State 

Provide leadership, strategic 
2015 

direction, clinical governance 
and professional support for 
nursing and midwifery 
services including 
credentialing, education and 
research. 

Executive Director, HES2-4 Hospital and 
Innovation, Quality, Health Boards Act 2011 
Research and Education Section 74 

Provide strategic leadership 
and operational control of 
the education and research 
functions. 

Executive Director • Allied HP8.1, Health Practitioners 
Health and Dental Officers 

Professional leadership for 
(Queensland Health) 

all allied health practitioners, 
Award - State 2015 

Including professional 
governance, credentialing, 
education and research. 

Name of incumbent Original Cessation date 
(Executive) appointment date 

Scott Lisle 01/07/2012 09/07/2017 

Angela Bardin! (Acting) 10/07/2017 10/12/2017 

Scott Lisle 11/12/2017 15/04/2018 

Angela Bardini (Acting) 21/03/2018 

Nicholas Lake 30/03/2015 29/03/2018 

Dr Piotr Swierkowski 01/07/2012 09/04/2018 

Dr Mauritius Du Toit 12/03/2018 
(Acting) 

Suzanne Metcalf 13/02/2017 

Dr Margaret Way 01/03/2017 

Gemma Turato 02/10/2017 
(Acting from 01/09/17) 

Executive Director, Finance, Business and Operational Services - John Slaven resigned 6th July 2018 (effective from 2 August) 
and Andrew McDonald assumed the role of Acting Executive Director, Finance, Business and Operational Services from 
9th July 2018. 

The position of Chair Clinical Council Is no longer deemed to be KMP and as such has not been Included In 2018. 
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Note 26. Key management personnel (continued) 

Key management personnel remuneration - Executive Leadership Team (EL T) 

Section 74 of the Hospital and Health Board Act 2011 provides the contract of employment for health executive staff must state 
the term of employment, the person's functions and any performance criteria as well as the person's classification level and 
remuneration package. 

Remuneration policy for SCHHS key executive management personnel is set by direct engagement common law employment 
contracts and various award agreements. The remuneration and other terms of employment for the key executive management 
personnel are also addressed by these common law employment contracts and awards. The remuneration packages provide 
for the provision of some benefits including motor vehicles. 

Remuneration packages for key management personnel comprise the following components: 
• Short term employee monetary benefits which includes salary, allowances, salary sacrifice component and leave entitlements

expensed for the entire year or for that part of the year during which the employee occupied the specified position.
Performance bonuses are not paid under the contracts in place.

• Short term non-monetary benefits consisting of provision of vehicle and other non-monetary benefits including FBT
exemptions on benefits.

• Long term employee benefits include amounts expensed in respect of long service leave.
• Post-employment benefits include amounts expensed in respect of employer superannuation obligations.
• Redundancy payments are not provided for within individual contracts of employment. Contracts of employment provide only

for notice periods or payment In lieu of notice on termination, regardless of the reason for termination.

Key management personnel remuneration - Board 

SCHHS is independently and locally controlled by the Hospital and Health Board (The Board). The Board appoints the health 
service chief executive and exercises significant responsibilities at a local level, including controlling the financial management of 
the SCH HS and the management of the SCH HS land and buildings (Section 7 Hospital and Health Board Act 2011). 

Board members are remunerated for their services. The value of remuneration received by Board Members in their capacity as 
Board Members, and, the EL T, are disclosed in the following sections. 

Key management personnel remuneration - Minister 

Ministerial remuneration entitlements are outlined in the Legislative Assembly of Queensland's Members' Remuneration 
Handbook. SC HHS does not bear any cost of remuneration of Ministers. The majority of Ministerial entitlements are paid by the 
Legislative Assembly, with the remaining entitlements being provided by Ministerial Services Branch within the Department of the 

Premier and Cabinet. 

As all Ministers are reported as KMP of the Queensland Government, aggregate remuneration expenses for all Ministers is 

disclosed in the Queensland General Government and Whole of Government Consolidated Financial Statements, which are 
published as part of Queensland Treasury's Report on State Finances. 
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Note 26. Key management personnel (continued) 

2018 Short term benefits 

Non-

Name (Board) Monetary monetary 

$'000 $'000 

Dr Lorraine Ferguson AM 89 -

IDr Mason Stevenson 50 8 

Mr Peter Sullivan 54 -

Dr Edward Weaver 50 8 

Mr Cosmo Schuh 51 -

Mr Brian Anker 51 -

Professor Julie-Anne Tarr 47 -

Ms Anita Phillips 47 -

Post-

employment 

benefits 

$'000 

8 

5 

5 

5 

5 

5 

4 

4 

Board members were also reimbursed $744 (2017: $nil) for out of pocket expenses. 

2018 Short term benefits Post-

Non- employment 

Name (Executive) Monetary monetary benefits 

$'000 $'000 $'000 

Adjunct Professor Naomi Dwyer 238 4 25 

Scott Lisle (Acting HSCE) 113 - 11 

Kerrie-Anne Hayes 169 8 16 

John Slaven 219 9 22 

Nicholas Lake 157 9 13 

Barry Mather 182 9 18 

Dr Piotr Swierkowski 485 4 36 

Suzanne Metcalfe 239 8 23 

Dr Margaret Way 200 6 20 

Gemma Turato 171 9 18 

Angela Bardlnl 160 - 16 

Dr Mauritius Du Tolt 135 9 10 

Scott Lisle 89 9 8 

Long term Termination 

benefits benefits Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 

- - 97 

- - 63 

- - 59 

- - 63 

- - 56 

- - 56 

- - 51 

- - 51 

Longterm Termination 

benefits benefits Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 

5 - 272 

2 - 126 

3 - 196 

4 - 254 

3 - 182 

3 - 212 

10 - 635 

4 - 274 

4 - 230 

3 - 201 

3 - 179 

3 - 167 

1 - 107 
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Note 28. Key management personnel (continued) 

2017 Short term benefits 

Non-

Name (Board) Monetarv monetarv 
$'000 $'000 

Dr Lorraine Ferguson AM 93 -

Dr Mason Stevenson 53 -

Mr Peter Sullivan 68 -

Dr Edward Weaver 51 -

Dr Karen Woolley 44 -

Mr Cosmo Schuh 54 -

Mr Brian Anker 52 -

Professor Julie-Anne Tarr 50 -

Ms Anita Phillips 5 -

2017 Short term benefits 

Name (Executive) Non• 
Monetarv monetarv 

Kevin Hegarty (former Chief Executive) 346 8 

Kerrie-Anne Hayes 226 9 

Uohn Slaven 213 9 

Scott Usie 225 9 

Nicholas Lake 206 9 

Barry Mather 186 9 

Dr Piotr Swierkowskl 457 7 

!Suzanne Metcalfe 93 -

Dr Margaret Way 71 -

George Pllnt (former Acting Deputy
163 9 

Director, Clinical Services)

V,.djunct Professor Graham Wllklnson
(former Executive Director, Nursing and 125 7 

!Midwifery Services)

Dr Jeremy Long (fonner Chair Clinical
417 

Councll)
-

Post-
employment Long term Termination 

benefits benefits benefits Total 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

10 - - 103 

6 - - 59 

6 - - 74 

5 - - 56 

5 - - 49 

6 - - 60 

5 - - 57 

5 - - 55 

1 - - 6 

Poat-
employment Long term Termination 

benefits benefits benefits Total 

34 7 - 395 

23 4 - 262 

21 4 - 247 

23 4 - 261 

21 4 - 240 

19 4 - 218 

32 9 - 505 

9 2 - 104 

7 1 - 79 

16 3 - 191 

12 2 - 146 

30 8 - 456 
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Note 27. Related party transactions 

Related parties of SCHHS include -

the Minister 
each KMP of the State (all Ministers responsible for Whole of Government) 
all non-ministerial Key Management Personnel 
any close family members of the above three groups 
any entity controlled or jointly controlled by a person from any of the above four groups 

Transactions with Queensland Government controlled entities 

SCHHS is controlled by its ultimate parent entity, the State of Queensland. All State of Queensland controlled entities meet the 
definition of a related party in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. 

The following table summarises significant transactions with Queensland Government controlled entities: 

Entity Note Revenue 
$'000 

Expenses 
$'000 

Assets 
$'000 

Liabilities 
$'000 

For the year ending 30 June 2018

Department of Health (a) 1,091,633 96,895 

As at 30 June 2018

14,962 23,765 
Queensland Treasury Corporation (b) 71 4 3,728 

For the year ending 30 June 2017 

Department of Health (a) 911,996 90,409 

As at 30 June 2017

3,066 10,374 
Queensland Treasury Corporation (b) 66 4 2,863 

(a) Department of Health

SCH HS receives funding in accordance with a service agreement with the Department of Health. The Department receives its 
revenue from the Queensland Government and the Commonwealth. SC HHS is funded for eligible services through block 
funding, activity based funding or a combination of both. 

Activity based funding is linked to an agreed number of activities per the service agreement and a state-wide price by which 
relevant activities are funded. Block funding is not based on levels of public care activity. 

The funding from the Department Is provided predominantly for specific public health services purchased by the Department 
from SCHHS in accordance with the service agreement. 

The recognised value of funding related to the service agreement is outlined in Note 1: Health Service Funding. 

The Department provides some supplies and services to SCHHS. These relate mainly to procurement, ambulance services, 
communication and information technology, payroll, pathology, drug supplies, medical equipment repairs and maintenance and 
linen supply. 

SCHHS receives corporate services support from the Department for no direct cost. Corporate services received would have 
been purchased if they were not provided by the Department and include payroll services, accounts payable and banking 
services. Refer to Note 5. Supplies and services. 

SCHHS also received assets from the Department in relation to the SCUH (relating to the initial transfer of medical equipment in 
2017), transferred via equity under an enduring designation from the Minister for Health. Refer Note 21. Equity injections and 
equity withdrawals. 

(b) Queensland Treasury Corporation

SCH HS has a bank account with the Queensland Treasury Corporation for general trust monies and receive interest and Incur 
bank fees on this bank account. 

Other 

There are no other Individually significant transactions with Queensland Government controlled entities. 

Transactions with other related parties 

There are no individually significant transactions with other related parties. The SCHI Is a recognised related party to SCHHS. 
Refer Note 33: Joint operations. 
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Note 28. Patient Trust 

SCHHS acts in a custodial capacity in relation to patient trust accounts. These transactions and balances are not recognised in 
the financial statements. Although patient funds are not retained by SCHHS, trust activities are included in the audit performed 
annually by the Auditor-General of Queensland. 

Patient Trust receipts and payments 

Receipts 

Amounts receipted on behalf of patients 
Total receipts 

Payments 

Amounts paid to or on behalf of patients 
Total payments 

Trust assets and llablllties 

Assets 

Cash held and bank deposits 
Total assets 

Note 29. General Trust 

2018 
$'000 

623 
623 

(835) 
(635) 

71 
71 

2017 
$'000 

656 
656 

(650) 
(650) 

83 
83 

In 2017-18 SCHHS received cash contributions to the Study, Education and Research Trust (SERT) fund primarily from private 
practice clinicians (Refer Note 30. Granted Private Practice) and from external entitles to provide for education, study and research 
In clinical areas. 

Contributions were also received from benefactors In the form of gifts, donations and bequests for stipulated purposes. 
Contributions are collected and held within the Trust The contributions of the Trust are included In the audit performed annually 
by the Auditor-General of Queensland. 

Payments are made from the Trust for specific purposes in accordance with the Trust Polley. 

General Trust 
Opening balance 
Revenue received during the year 
Expenditure during the year 
Balance of the General Trust 

2018 
$'000 

2,783 
2,627 
(712) 
4,698 

2017 
$'000 

2,977 
1,194 

(1,388) 
2,783 

The closing cash balance of the General Trust Is $4.176m (2017: $2.870m). This Is held on deposit with the Queensland Treasury 
Corporallon-$3.729m (2017: $2.863m) and the Commonwealth Bank - $0.447m (2017: $0.007m). These amounts are controlled 
by SCHHS and are Included In the cash balances In Note 9. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents. 
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Note 30. Granted Private Practice 

SCHHS has a Granted Private Practice arrangement In place. This arrangement covers Retention and Assigned revenue. 

Assigned Revenue 

The billing generated by doctors under the Assigned Model is paid and recognised as revenue to SCHHS. The Assigned doctors 
are employees of SCHHS. 

Retention Revenue 

The billing generated under the Retention Model is initially payable to the private practice doctors directly. Under this arrangement, 
doctors receive the generated revenue up to an established annual cap. Amounts over the cap are split 1/3 to the doctor and 2/3 
to SCHHS. The Retention doctors are employees of SCHHS. 

Recoverable costs (administration etc.) in respect of the doctors practicing under the Retention Model, which the SCHHS is 
entitled to, are recorded in the SC HHS statement of comprehensive income category, User Charges. 

Granted Private Practice Revenues and Expenses 
Billing - Assigned Model 
Billing - Retention Model 
Interest 
Payments to SCHHS 
Payments to retention doctors 
To SCHHS for recoverable costs related to the Retention Model 
To SCH HS for the SERT fund 

2018 
$'000 

7,924 
10,788 

17 
(7,941) 
(3,835) 
(4,775) 
(2,178) 

2017 
$'000 

5,652 
5,278 

13 
(5,662) 
(2,199) 
(2,806) 

(276) 

The only asset of the arrangement is cash, the balance of which is held in the Private Practice bank account. This account does 
not form part of the cash and cash equivalents of the SCHHS. As at 30 June 2018 the balance was $2.033m (2017: $1.083m). 

Payables due to SCHHS for Assigned revenue and recoverable costs were $1.650m, and payables due to the Retention doctors 
were $0.157m as at 30 June 2018 (2017: $0.956m and $0.108m, respectively). Refer to Note 10. Current assets - trade and 
other receivables. 

Note 31. Public Private Partnership 

In 2012 the State, represented by the Department of Health, entered into a Public Private Partnership (PPP) with Exemplar 
Health (EH) to finance, design, build and operate the SCUH. During 2016-17 the Department novated all rights and obligations 
to SCH HS as the State representative and legal counterparty to the PPP arrangement. 

The 25 year operating phase of the PPP commenced on the 16th of November 2016, this being the date of Commercial 
Acceptance. For an agreed fee EH provides specialist building and amenity services to SCHHS. As part of the arrangement, 
EH manages all SCH HS building and plant infrastructure Including refurbishment and renewal, repairs and maintenance and 
replacement of certain equipment. EH is obligated to ensure ali Infrastructure and assets (including carparks) are kept In a fit for 
use condition throughout the operating term. 

Borrowings of $537.694m represented the fair value of the liability payable to EH for the construction of SCUH as at the date of 
commercial acceptance. The liability Is repayable over a 25 year term. Refer to Note 22: Financial Instruments. 

The licence to occupy SCUH Incorporates the commitment of EH to occupy and operate, or sublease, Dedicated Commercial 
Areas to provide defined retail services at SCUH. The SCHHS Is entitled to receive a minimum entitlement which In 2018 was 
$0.838m (2017: $0.767m). 

Other than certain assets contained within the SCHI (refer Note 33: Joint Operations) SCH HS has full control of all SCUH 
buildings, land, specialist medical assets and all other equipment. At the end of the 25 year term the assets will remain In the 
control of SCHHS. 
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Note 31. Public Private Partnership (continued) 

Financing cash flow is subject to adjustment based upon movements in the market Bank Bill Swap Rate. The forecasted cash 
flows have been prepared based on the current Bank Bill Swap Rate plus the margin on the facility totalling an effective interest 
rate of4.85% (2017: 4.46%). The estimated financial impacts of the PPP are outlined in the following table. 

Later than one Later than five 
Not Later than year but not years but not Later than ten 

Total 
one year later than five later than ten years 

years years 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Indicative cash 
flows 

Net Outflows 

Borrowing 561 2,786 5,057 30,434 38,838 
redemption 

Interest payments 2,007 8,590 9,884 15,720 36,201 

Estimated net cash 
2,568 11,376 14,941 46,154 75,039 

flow 

Service Concession Asset- Economic Infrastructure 

As part of the PPP EH constructed two carparks on the SCUH site. These car parks are legally owned by SCH HS and recorded 
in the building asset class at a fair value of $115.947m as at 30 June 2018 (2017: $115.282m). The State has granted EH a 
licence to undertake car parking operations for the duration of the 25 year operating term which entitles EH to generate revenue 
from the operations themselves. 

As part of the PPP SCH HS may be contractually obligated to make a revenue payment if a number of independent contractual 
tests are met. One such test relates to ensuring SCHHS employs a minimum number of staff physically based at SCUH from 
1 July 2017 onwards. As at 30 June 2018 SCHHS has exceeded the minimum staff threshold. 

As part of the agreement staff and public car parking rates are capped and subject to CPI. 
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Note 32. Arrangements for the provision of public infrastructure by other entities 

SCHHS has entered into contractual arrangements with Ramsay Health Care for the construction and operation of public 
infrastructure facilities on SC HHS land. After an agreed period of time ownership of the facilities will pass to SCH HS. 

SCHHS does not control the building facilities associated with these arrangements. Therefore, these facilities are not recorded 
as assets. SCHHS has not recognised any rights or obligations that may be attached to those arrangements, other than those 
recognised under Australian Accounting Standards. 

Facility Commencement Date Termination Date Counterparty and Operator 

Noosa Hospital 1 September 1999 30 June 2020 Ramsay Health Care-

Sunshine Coast University Private 
30 June2013 20 September 2018 Ramsay Health Care 

Hospital - Services 

Sunshine Coast University Private 
2 December 2013 1 December 2063 Ramsay Health Care 

Hospital - Facility 

Noosa Hospital 

The agreement has been structured to transfer substantially all the risks associated with the operation of a public hospital to 
Ramsay Health Care. 

Under this arrangement, SC HHS funds the operators for the provision of services to public patients. The level of services and the 
amount paid is subject to annual review. A capital recovery charge is paid to the operator as part of the service agreement for 
the purpose of maintaining public infrastructure. 

An estimate of the value of building assets to be transferred on completion of the agreement has not yet been determined. The 
operator is not permitted to charge any fees to public patients other than those normally charged for a service in a public hospital. 

· Sunshine Coast University Private Hospital (SCUPH) - Services

The services agreement has been structured to ensure that service capacity is available for, and supplied to, public patients within
the facility. The operator is not permitted to charge any fees to public patients other than those normally charged for a service
in a public hospital.

The service capacity will continue to transition to the SCHHS from 2018-2019.

Sunshine Coast University Private Hospital (SCUPH) - Facility

After the service term, Ramsay Health Care will continue to operate the entire facility as a private provider of health services for
a further 45 years. At the end of the 60 year period the bullding and related building Infrastructure will be transferred to SCH HS.
An estimate of the value of the asset to be transferred on completion of the agreement has not yet been determined.

The financial Impacts of the contracts for the year ending 30 June 2018 are summarised in the table on the following page. These
values are incorporated within the main financial statements of the SCHHS for the year ending 30 June 2018.

Noose Hospital - land

The recognised fair value of the land asset at Noosa Is $7.961M (2017: $6.893m). The entire site Is dedicated to the operations
of the Noosa Hospital and Specialist Centre.
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Note 32. Arrangements for the provision of public Infrastructure by other entities (continued) 

Sunshine Coast University Private Hospital (SCUPH) - land 

The recognised fair value of the entire land asset at Kawana is $44.5M (2017: $42.4m). This is the site of the SCUH. 

The portion of the site dedicated to the SCUPH (Ramsay Health Care facility) is approximately 7.9% with an estimated value of 
$3.531M (2017: $3.364m). 

Other 

As part of separately negotiated contracts, SC HHS places a number of its own medical staff within the Noosa and SCUPH facilities 
to ensure continuity of service and medical resourcing needs are met. SCHHS charges staff cost recoveries to Ramsay Health 
Care at rates pursuant to the underlying contracts. 

2018 2017 
$'000 $'000 

Revenue and expenses 

Revenue 
Health service funding from the Department of Health 75,258 91,006 

Expenses 
Service fee to Ramsay Health Care (Noosa) (22,501) (21,758) 
Service fee to Ramsay Health Care (SCUPH) (52.757) (69,248) 
Total expenses (75,258) (91,006) 

Assets and liabllltles 

Assets 
Land asset Noosa site 7,961 6,893 
Land asset Kawana (SCUPH) site 3,531 3 364 
Total assets 11,492 10,257 

Liabilities 
Service fee due to Ramsay Health Care (Noosa) (1,883) (1,820) 
Service fee due to Ramsay Health Care (SCUPH) (4,077) (6,726) 
Total liabilities (5,960) (8,546) 

1 year or Between 1 
less and 5 years Total 
$'000 $'000 $'000 

Indicative cash flows 

Inflows 
Health service funding from the Department of Health 35,011 23,928 68,939 

Outflows 
Service fees related to Noosa (23,346) (23,928) (47,273) 
Service fees related to SCUPH (11,666) (11,666) 

Net lndlcatlve·cash flows 

The Indicative cash flows for Noosa are prepared by applying a CPI uplift factor to the current underlying budgeted cash flows. 

The Indicative cash flows for SCUPH are prepared In accordance with the contracted fee schedule over the five year term. 
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Note 33. Joint operations 

SCHHS is a partner together with TAFE East Coast Queensland, the University of the Sunshine Coast and Griffith University in 
the operation of the SCHI. The SCHI operates as an unincorporated joint operation under a Joint Venture Agreement (JVA), 
based at the Sunshine Coast University Hospital. 

The primary aims of the SCHI are to advance the education of trainee medical officers, nurses, midwives and other health care 
professionals, whilst providing outstanding patient care and extending research knowledge. 

SCHHS has a 28.9% (2017: 52.6%) interest in the SCHI. Griffith University became a partner on 1 October 2017 taking up a 
23. 7% interest in the SCHI. Each joint operator has rights and obligations to the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the
SC Hi according to their Interest in the joint operation. Under the JVA, the joint operators contribute to the running costs of the
SCHI at set percentage allocations, which are a reflection of the relative space and resource utilisation of each joint operator
under the Agreement.

All joint operators have equal decision making rights, irrespective of the underlying interests. 

The assets of SCHI include specialist equipment to facilitate medical research and teaching, in addition to the building fitout 
within the shared joint operation areas. 

The financial impacts of the SCHI, as they relate to SCHHS, are Included within the main statements of SC HHS. Summary 
information about the SCHI is as follows: 

SCHI 

2018 
$'000 

Total income 4,121 
Total expenses 3,857 
Total comprehensive result 265 

Current assets 1,485 
Non-current assets 18,251 
Total assets 19,736 
Current liabilities 1,228 
Total liabilities 1,228 
Net assets 18,508 

Note 34. Taxation 

SCHHS's 
share 

2018 
$'000 

1,191 
1115 

76 

429 
5,274 
5?03 

355 
355 

5,348 

SCHI 

2017 
$'000 

(1) 
1 695 

(1,694) 

1,169 
19 284 
20,453 
(1,140) 

(1,140) 

19 313 

SCHHS's 
share 

2017 
$'000 

490 

(490) 

338 
5 573 

5 911 

(329) 

(329) 
5 582 

The only federal taxes that SCHHS is assessed against are Fringe Benefit Tax (FBT) and Goods and Services Tax (GST). All 
FBT and GST reporting to the Commonwealth is managed centrally by the Department with payments/receipts made on behalf 
of the SC HHS reimbursed to/from the Department on a monthly basis. GST credits receivable from, and GST payable to the 
Australian Tax Office (ATO), are recognised on this basis. 

Both SCHHS and the Department satisfy section 149-26 of the A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 (Cth) (the 
GST Act). Consequently they were able, with other Hospital and Health Services, to form a group for GST purposes under Divis ion 
149 of the GST Act. Any transactions between the members of the group do not attract GST. 

Note 35. First year application of new standards or change in policy 

SCH HS did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies during 2017-18. 

No Australian Accounting Standards were applied for the first time for 2017-18. 

No Australian Accounting Standards have been early adopted for 2017-18. 
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Note 36. Future impact of Accounting Standards not yet effective 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments.and AASB2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

AASB 9 and AASB2014-7 first applies to the SCHHS's financial statements from 2018-19 and supersedes AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The main impacts of these standards on the SCH HS are that they will change the 
requirements for the classification, measurement, impairment and disclosures associated with the SCHHS's financial assets. 
AASB 9 will introduce different criteria for whether financial assets can be measured at amortised cost or fair value. 

SCHHS has reviewed the impact of AASB 9 on the classification and measurement of Its financial assets. The following 
summarises the estimated Impact (or ranges of estimates) of AASB 9 which will change the categorisation and valuation of the 
amounts reported in Note 22. Financial instruments: 

• There will be no change to either the classification or valuation of the cash and cash equivalent item.

• Trade and other receivables will be classified and measured at amortised cost, similar to the current classification of 
trade and other receivables. However, new Impairment requirements will result In a provision being applied to all 
receivables rather than only on those receivables that are credit Impaired. The majority of trade receivables Is owed from 
other government agencies, and the amount of impairment for trade receivables owing from these other government
agencies is Insignificant and Immaterial due to the low credit risk (high quality credit rating) for the State of Queensland.
No additional impairment provision will be raised for these amounts on transition.

• The SC HHS does not expect a material change in the reported value of financial assets.

• All financial liabilities listed In Note 22. Financial instruments will continue to be measured at amortised cost. The SCHHS 
does not expect a material change in the reported value of financial liabilities.

This initial assessment does not expect a material impact from the adoption of AASB 9 to its financial instruments, to the Statement 
of comprehensive Income, or the Statement of financial position, including the extent of additional disclosures required, and no 
Impacts on the opening balances on the date AASB 9 Is adopted are foreseen. 

AASB 1058 Income of Not-For-Profit Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

These Standards first apply to the SCHHS's financial statements from 2019-20 and supersede AASB 118 Revenue and AASB 
1004 Contributions. AASB 15 defines the methodology for recognising revenue from contracts with customers and the disclosures 
required. 

Under AASB 15 SCHHS will need to Identify the contract, Identify the performance obligations, determine the transaction price, 
allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations and recognise revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied. 

The SCH HS plans to adopt the transitional retrospective approach whereby the 2019-20.financlal statements will not restate 
2018-19 comparatives and recognise the transitional accounting difference in accumulated surpluses. 

The SCHHS plans to apply AASB 1058 and AASB 15 to all existing contracts not yet concluded and adopt the practical 
expedient to ignore re-measurement of assets acquired for significantly less than fair value upon transition. 

AASB 15 is likely to impact the revenue disclosures of SCHHS, particularly in relation to contract balances, performance 
obligations and judgements made in applying the Standard. It Is not yet known to what extent the Standard will impact the financial 
measurement of revenue for SCHHS. 

AASB 16 Leases 

This Standard first applies to the SCHHS's financial statements from 2019-20. When applied, the standard supersedes AASB 
117 Leases, AASB Interpretation 4 Detenninlng whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, AASB Interpretation 115 Operating 
Leases - Incentives and AASB Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Fonn of a 
Lease. 

Unlike AASB 117 Leases, AASB 16 introduces a single lease accounting model for lessees. Lessees will be required to 
recognise a right-of-use asset (representing rights to use the underlyin·g leased asset) and a liability (representing the obligation 
to make lease payments) for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying assets are of low value. 

In effect, the majority of operating leases (as defined by the current AASB 117) will be reported on the statement of financial 
position under AASB 16. There will be a significant increase in assets and liabilities for entities that lease assets. The Impact on 
the reported assets and liabilities would be largely In proportion to the scale of the leasing activities of SCHHS. 
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 

Notes to the financial statements 

30 June 2018 

Note 36. Future impact of Accounting Standards not yet effective (continued) 

The right-of-use asset will be initially recognised at cost, consisting of the initial amount of the associated lease liability, plus any 
lease payments made to the lessor at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentive received, the initial estimate 
of restoration costs and any inltial direct costs incurred by the lessee. The right-of-use asset will give rise to a depreciation 
expense. 

The lease liability will be initially recognised at an amount equal to the present value of the lease payments during the tease 
term that are not yet paid. Current operating lease rental payments will no longer be expensed in the Statement of 
comprehensive income. They will be apportioned between a reduction in the recognised lease liability and the implicit finance 
charge (the effective rate of interest) In the tease. The finance cost will also be recognised as an expense. 

The SCHHS plans to adopt the transitional retrospective approach whereby the 2019-20 financial statements will not restate 
2018-19 comparatives. Further, an assessment will be made on a lease by lease basis as to whether leases will be accounted 
for as If AASB 16 had always applied, or at an equal value of the lease liability based off prospective cash flows upon adoption. 
SC HHS has not yet quantified the impact on the Statement of comprehensive Income or the Statement of financial position of 
applying AASB 16 to its current operating leases, Including the extent of additional disclosure required. 

AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors 

This Standard first applies to the SCHHS's financial statements from 2019-20 and applies to all Public sector entities. 

The new requirements mean assets will be recognised consistently, regardless of how they are financed, across various Public 
sector entities. 

In addition, more disclosures will be made around the terms of service concession arrangements, giving taxpayers a greater 
understanding of the risks associated with such projects. 

SCHHS has not yet quantified the impact on the Statement of comprehensive income or the Statement of financial position of 
applying AASB 1059 to its service concession arrangements, including the extent of additional disclosures required. 

Note 37. Events after the reporting period 

No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2018 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the operations 
of SCH HS, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of SCHHS In future financial years. 

Note 38. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to 
assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions 
on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management believes to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to 
the respective notes) within the next financial year are discussed below. 

Allowance for impairment of receivables 

The level of allowance is assessed by taking into account the ageing of receivables, historical collection rates and specific 
knowledge of the individual debtor's financial position. Refer to Note 10. Current assets - trade and other receivables. 
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 

Notes to the financial statements 

30 June 2018 

Note 38. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

Fair value measurement 

Fair value measurement can be sensitive to the various valuation inputs selected. Considerable judgement is required to 
determine what is significant to fair value and therefore which category the asset Is placed in can be subjective. Refer to Note 14. 
Fair value measurement. 

Estimation of useful lives of assets 

The useful lives could change slgnlficantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation charge will 
increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have 
been abandoned or sold wlll be written off or written down. 

Contingencies 

Contingent assets and liabilities require a degree of judgment as to the occurrence or non-occurrence, timing and magnitude of 
uncertain future events. Accordingly, contingent assets and liabilities are assessed continually to ensure that developments are 
appropriately reflected In the financial statements. 
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Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 

Management Certificate 

For the year ended 30 June 2018 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to Section 62 (1) of the Financial Accountability Act 
2009 (the Act), Section 43 the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009 and other prescribed requirements. In 
accordance with Section 62 (1) (b) of the Act we certify that in our opinion: 

a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all material
respects;

b) the financial statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with prescribed
accounting standards, of the transactions of Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service for the financial year
ended 30 June 2018 and of the financial position of the Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service at the end
of that year; and

c) these assertions are based on an appropriate system of internal controls and risk management processes
being effective, In all material respects, with respect to financial reporting throughout the reporting period.

Andrew McDonald CA Dr Lorraine Ferguson 
Board Chair 

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health 

Board 

Adjunct Professor Naomi Dwyer 
Chief Executive 

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health 

Service 

·NExecutive Director Finance, Business
and Operational Services

/1r°� 
Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health
Service
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Board of Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying financial report of Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health 

Service. 

In my opinion, the financial report: 

a) gives a true and fair view of the entity's financial position as at 30 June 2018, and its

financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended

b) complies with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance

Management Standard 2009 and Australian Accounting Standards.

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the 

statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 

flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements including summaries of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the management 

certificate. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing 

Standards, which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Financial Report section of my report. 

I am independent of the entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 

Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. I 

have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code and the 

Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for my opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most 

significance in my audit of the financial report of the current period. I addressed these 

matters in the context of my audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming my 

opinion thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Specialised buildings valuation ($1,766.2 million) 

Refer to Note 13 in the financial report. 

Key audit matter How my audit addressed the key audit matter 

Buildings were material to Sunshine Coast 
Hospital and Health Service at balance date, 
and were measured at fair value using the 
current replacement cost method. For 2018 
buildings representing approximately 15% of 
the written down value of the buildings asset 
class were comprehensively revalued, with 
indexation being applied to the remaining 
buildings. 

The current replacement cost method 
comprises: 
• Gross replacement cost, less

• Accumulated depreciation

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 
derived the gross replacement cost of its 
buildings at balance date using unit prices that 
required significant judgements for: 
• identifying the components of buildings

with separately identifiable replacement
costs

• developing a unit rate for each of these
components, including:

o estimating the current cost for a
modern substitute (including locality
factors and oncosts), expressed as a
rate per unit (e.g. $/square metre)

o identifying whether the existing
building contains obsolescence or less
utility compared to the modern
substitute, and if so estimating the
adjustment to the unit rate required to
reflect this difference.

• The measurement of accumulated
depreciation involved significant
judgements for forecasting the remaining
useful lives of building components.

The values used for indexation purposes are 
based on estimates of labour and material cost 
inflation adjusted for specific market conditions 
and as such also require judgement to 
appropriately determine. 

The significant judgements required for gross 
replacement cost and useful lives are also 
significant for calculating annual depreciation 
expense. 

My procedures included, but were not limited to: 

• Assessing the adequacy of management's review
of the valuation process.

• Assessing the appropriateness of the components
of buildings used for measuring gross replacement
cost with reference to common industry practices.

• Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the experts used to develop the
models.

• Reviewing the scope and instructions provided to
the valuer, and obtaining an understanding of the
methodology used and assessing its
appropriateness with reference to common
industry practices.

• For unit rates associated with buildings that were
comprehensively revalued this year:

o On a sample basis, evaluating the relevance,
completeness and accuracy of source data
used to derive the unit rate of the:
• modern substitute (including locality

factors and oncosts)
• adjustment for excess quality or

obsolescence.

• For unit rates associated with the remaining
buildings

o Assessing the appropriateness of indexation
rates used for changes in cost inputs.

o Recalculate the application of the indices to
the asset balances.

• Evaluating useful life estimates for reasonableness
by:

• 

o Reviewing management's annual assessment
of useful lives.

o At an aggregated level, reviewing asset
management plans for consistency between
renewal budgets and the gross replacement
cost of assets.

o Ensuring that no asset still in use has reached
or exceeded its useful life.

o Enquiring of management about their plans for
assets that are nearing the end of their useful
life.

o Reviewing assets with an inconsistent
relationship between condition and remaining
useful life.

Where changes in useful lives were identified, 
evaluating whether they were supported by 
appropriate evidence. 
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Responsibilities of the entity for the financial report 

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 

view in accordance with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and 

Performance Management Standard 2009 and Australian Accounting Standards, and for 

such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the 

financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

The Board is also responsible for assessing the entity's ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless it is intended to abolish the entity or to otherwise cease 

operations. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 

whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor's report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 

Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my

opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher

than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the entity.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the entity's use of the going concern basis of

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's

ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I

am required to draw attention in my auditor's report to the related disclosures in the

financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. I base my

conclusions on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor's report.

However, future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a

going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including

the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that I identify during my audit. 

From the matters communicated with the Board, I determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key 

audit matters. I describe these matters in my auditor's report unless law or regulation 

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, I 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication. 

In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2018: 

a) I received all the information and explanations I required.

b) In my opinion, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping

of accounts were complied with in all material respects.

C G Strickland 
as delegate of the Auditor-General 

30 August 2018 

Queensland Audit Office 
Brisbane 
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Accessible
Accessible healthcare is characterised by the ability of people to obtain appropriate 
healthcare at the right place and right time, irrespective of income, cultural background or 
geography.

ABF

Activity Based Funding 

A management tool with the potential to enhance public accountability and drive technical 
efficiency in the delivery of health services by:

• capturing consistent and detailed information on hospital sector activity and accurately
measuring the costs of delivery

• creating an explicit relationship between funds allocated and services provided
• strengthening management’s focus on outputs, outcomes and quality
• encouraging clinicians and managers to identify variations in costs and practices

so they can be managed at a local level in the context of improving efficiency and
effectiveness

• providing mechanisms to reward good practice and support quality initiatives.

ACHS Australian Council on Healthcare Standards

ACP Advanced Care Planning

Acute Having a short and relatively severe course.

Acute care

Care in which the clinical intent or treatment goal is to:

• manage labour (obstetric)
• cure illness or provide definitive treatment of injury
• perform surgery
• relieve symptoms of illness or injury (excluding palliative care)
• reduce severity of an illness or injury
• protect against exacerbation and/or complication of an illness and/or injury
• that could threaten life or normal function
• perform diagnostic or therapeutic procedures.

Admission

The process whereby a hospital accepts responsibility for a patient’s care and/or treatment. 
It follows a clinical decision, based on specified criteria, that a patient requires same-day or 
overnight care or treatment, which can occur in hospital and/or in the patient’s home (for 
hospital-in-the-home patients).

Admitted patient
A patient who undergoes the formal admission process as an overnight-stay patient or 
same-day patient.

Allied health staff

Professional staff who meet mandatory qualifications and regulatory requirements in the 
following areas: audiology; clinical measurement sciences; dietetics and nutrition; exercise 
physiology; leisure therapy; medical imaging; music therapy; nuclear medicine technology; 
occupational therapy; orthoptics; pharmacy; physiotherapy; podiatry; prosthetics and 
orthotics; psychology; radiation therapy; sonography; speech pathology and social work.

Glossary



112

Ambulatory care
The care provided to hospital patients who are not admitted to the hospital, such as 
patients of emergency departments and outpatient clinics. Can also be used to refer to 
care provided to patients of community-based (non-hospital) healthcare services.

Australian Standard 4801
Australian Standard 4801 sets out all requirements for implementing an occupational 
health and safety management system.

Bed alternative
An item of furniture (trolley or chair) which is used exclusively or predominantly to 
provide accommodation for same day admitted patients.

Benchmarking
Involves collecting performance information to undertake comparisons of performance 
with similar organisations.

Best practice
Cooperative way in which organisations and their employees undertake business 
activities in all key processes, and use benchmarking that can be expected to lead to 
sustainable, world class positive outcomes.

CAT Clinical Assessment Tool

Clinical governance
A framework by which health organisations are accountable for continuously improving 
the quality of their services and safeguarding high standards of care by creating an 
environment in which excellence in clinical care will flourish.

Clinical practice
Professional activity undertaken by health professionals to investigate patient symptoms 
and prevent and/or manage illness, together with associated professional activities for 
patient care.

Clinical workforce

Staff who are or who support health professionals working in clinical practice, have 
healthcare specific knowledge / experience, and provide clinical services to health 
consumers, either directly and/or indirectly, through services that have a direct impact 
on clinical outcomes.

CPoC Consumer Perception of Care survey

DAMA Discharge Against Medical Advice

DEM Department of Emergency Medicine

DoH Department of Health

EDPES Emergency Department Patient Experience Survey
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Elective surgery categories

The category system ensures all patients who need surgery can be treated in order of 
priority. There are three urgency categories, where 1 is most urgent and 3 is least urgent.

Category 1 – A condition that could worsen quickly to the point that it may become 
an emergency. The patient should have surgery within 30 days of being added to the 
waiting list.

Category 2 – A condition causing some pain, dysfunction or disability, but is not likely 
to worsen quickly or become an emergency. The patient should have surgery within 90 
days of being added to the waiting list.

Category 3 – A condition causing minimal or no pain, dysfunction or disability, which is 
unlikely to worsen quickly and does not have the potential to become an emergency. The 
patient should have surgery within 365 days of being added to the waiting list. 

ELT Executive Leadership Team

Emergency department 
waiting time

Time elapsed for each patient from presentation to the emergency department to the 
start of services by the treating clinician. It is calculated by deducting the date and time 
the patient presents from the date and time of the service event.

EEO

Equal Employment Opportunities 

Requires that all employees have equal access to employment opportunities, 
employment decisions are made on the basis of the individual merit and requirements of 
the role, and the workplace is managed to ensure absence of harassment.

ERMF Emergency Response Management Framework

FTE
Full-time equivalent 

Refers to full-time equivalent employees currently working in a position. Several part-

time and casual employees may add up to one FTE.

FY Financial year

GEDI Geriatric Emergency Department Intervention

GP General Practitioner

GPLO General Practitioner Liaison Officer

Head count
The number of employees based on each data record representing an individual 
employee. 

Health outcome
Change in the health of an individual, group of people or population attributable to an 
intervention or series of interventions.

Health reform

Response to the National Health and Hospitals Reform Commission Report (2009) that 
outlined recommendations for transforming the Australian health system, the National 
Health and Hospitals Network Agreement (NHHNA) signed by the Commonwealth 
and states and territories, other than Western Australia, in April 2010 and the 
National Health Reform Heads of Agreement (HoA) signed in February 2010 by the 
Commonwealth and all states and territories amending the NHHNA.

HSCE Health Service Chief Executive
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Hospital
Healthcare facility established under Commonwealth, state or territory legislation as a 
hospital or a free-standing day-procedure unit and authorised to provide treatment and/
or care to patients. 

HHB 

Hospital and Health Board 

Made up of a mix of members with expert skills and knowledge relevant to managing a 
complex healthcare organisation.

HHS

Hospital and Health Service 

A separate legal entity established by Queensland Government to deliver public hospital 
and health services. 

HITH

Hospital-in-the-home 

Provision of care to hospital-admitted patients in their residence, as a substitute for 
hospital accommodation.

HSMR

Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio 

Is the ratio of observed in-hospital deaths in comparison with expected in-hospital 
deaths based on the patient’s characteristics. For our result to be favourable, the HSMR 
value is not to be significantly higher than the expected rate. A HSMR of 100 indicates 
that there is no difference. 

Inpatient A patient who is admitted to hospital for treatment or care.

ISBAR

A communication tool  used to rapidly communicate clinical issues:

• Identification of Patient
• Situation and status
• Background and history
• Assessment and action
• Recommendation/responsibility.

Long wait

A ‘long wait’ elective surgery patient is one who has waited longer than the clinically 
recommended time for their surgery, according to the clinical urgency category assigned. 
That is, more than 30 days for a category 1 patient, more than 90 days for a category 2 
patient and more than 365 days for a category 3 patient.

KPI

Key Performance Indicator 

A measure that provides an indication of progress towards achieving the organisation’s 
objectives. It usually has targets that define the level of performance expected against 
the performance indicator.

MHAIU Mental Health Acute Inpatient Unit

MHS Mental Health Service
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MOHRI

Minimum Obligatory Human Resources Information  
Whole-of-Government defined measures. Includes only active and paid employees. 
Excludes employees on extended unpaid leave, and casuals that did not work. MOHRI is 
used for the majority of external reporting and is based on the terms that an employee 
is employed to work, not the actual worked hours.

NCACCH North Coast Aboriginal Corporation for Community Health

NEAT National Emergency Admission Targets

NEST

Part 1

National Elective Surgery Target 

The percentage of patients treated within the clinically recommended time frame, and 
the volume of patients treated.

NEST

Part 2

National Elective Surgery Target 

The average days that ‘long wait’ patients waited over the clinically recommended 
time, and removal from the waiting list of the 10 per cent longest-waiting patients (the 
cohort).

Never events

The total number of events which resulted in one or more of the six never events 
including:
1. death or neurological damage as a result of intravascular gas embolism
2. retained instrument or other material after surgery, requiring re-operation or further
surgical procedure
3. procedures involving the wrong patient or body part resulting in death or major
permanent loss of function
4. death or likely permanent harm as a result of bed rail entrapment or entrapment in
other bed accessories
5. death or likely permanent harm as a result of haemolytic blood transfusion reaction
resulting from ABO (blood type) incompatibility
6. infants discharged to the wrong family.

NGO Non-government organisation

NSQHS National Safety and Quality Health Standards

Nurse Practitioner

A registered nurse educated and authorised to function autonomously and 
collaboratively in an advanced and extended clinical role. The nurse practitioner role 
includes assessing and managing clients using nursing knowledge and skills and may 
include, but is not limited to, direct referral of clients to other healthcare professionals, 
prescribing medications, and ordering diagnostic investigations.

Occupied FTE (MOHRI)
FTE of employees currently working in a position. Excludes the FTE of employees on 
extended unpaid leave.

Occupied headcount 
(MOHRI)

Represents staff actively employed, for instance a permanent employee on recorded 
leave, with leave paid in advance, is included in this value.

Outpatient
Non-admitted health service provided or accessed by an individual at a hospital or 
health service facility. 
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Overnight-stay patients
A patient who is admitted to, and separated from, the hospital on different dates (not 
same-day patients). 

Patient flow
Optimal patient flow means the patient’s journey through the hospital system, planned 
or unplanned, happens in the safest, most streamlined and timely way to deliver good 
patient care.

Permanent separation rate
Calculated by dividing the number of permanent employees who separated during a 
period of time by the number of permanent employees in the organisation. The period for 
the annual report is 12 months.

PHN

Established by the Commonwealth to coordinate primary healthcare services across all 
providers in a geographic area.  Works closely with HHSs to identify and address local 
health needs.  The Central Queensland, Wide Bay, Sunshine Coast PHN covers the health 
service region.

PIR Partners in Recovery

Primary care

First level healthcare provided by a range of healthcare professionals in socially 
appropriate and accessible ways and supported by integrated referral systems. It 
includes health promotion, illness prevention, care of the sick, advocacy and community 
development.

Private hospital

A private hospital or free-standing day hospital, and either a hospital owned by a for-
profit company or a non-profit organisation and privately funded through payment for 
medical services by patients or insurers. Patients admitted to private hospitals are 
treated by a doctor of their choice. 

PPP Public Private Partnership

Public hospital Offers free diagnostic services, treatment, care and accommodation to eligible patients.

Q-ADDS Queensland Adult Deterioration Detection System

QAO Queensland Audit Office

QBA Queensland Bedside Audit

QFES Queensland Fire and Emergency Services

RACF Residential Aged Care Facility

REF Requisite Education Framework

Health service Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service

SCHHB Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Board
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SCUPH Sunshine Coast University Private Hospital

SCUH Sunshine Coast University Hospital

Separation The process by which an episode of care for an admitted patient ceases.

Statutory body A non-departmental government body, established under an Act of Parliament.

Sustainable
A health system that provides infrastructure, including workforce, facilities and 
equipment, and is innovative and responsive to emerging needs, including research and 
monitoring within available resources.

Telehealth
Delivery of health-related services and information via telecommunication technologies 
and information technology. 

Turnover rate
Percentage of the number of workers that had to be replaced in a given time period to 
the average number of workers

VLAD

Variable Life Adjusted Display

A system implemented to monitor the quality of services provided. It provides graphical 
overview of clinical outcomes over time and provides a system for identifying trends. It 
plots the cumulative difference between expected and actual outcomes.

WAU

Weighted Activity Unit

A measure of the health service activity expressed as a common unit. It provides a way 
of comparing and valuing each public hospital service, by weighting it for its clinical 
complexity.

WorkCover
WorkCover provides workers compensation insurance for employers, compensating and 
helping workers with their work-related injuries

YTD Year to date
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Compliance checklist

Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual report 
reference

Letter of 
compliance

• A letter of compliance from the accountable
officer or statutory body to the relevant
Minister/s

ARRs – section 7 p5

Accessibility • Table of contents

• Glossary

ARRs – section 9.1 p6

pp111-117

• Public availability ARRs – section 9.2 p2

• Interpreter service statement Queensland Government 
Language Services 
Policy

ARRs – section 9.3

p2

• Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968

ARRs – section 9.4

p2

• Information Licensing QGEA – Information 
Licensing

ARRs – section 9.5

p2

General 
information

• Introductory Information ARRs – section 10.1 pp7-10, 14-17

• Agency role and main functions ARRs – section 10.2 p18

• Machinery of Government changes ARRs – section 31 and 
32

p22

• Operating environment ARRs – section 10.3 pp20-22

Non-financial 
performance

• Government’s objectives for the community ARRs – section 11.1 p19

• Other whole-of-government plans / specific
initiatives

ARRs – section 11.2 p19, 23, 31, 33

• Agency objectives and performance
indicators

ARRs – section 11.3 p19, 21-22, 
40-41

• Agency service areas and service standards ARRs – section 11.4 p38, 40-41

Financial 
performance

• Summary of financial performance ARRs – section 12.1 pp11-12

Governance – 
management 
and structure

• Organisational structure ARRs – section 13.1 p39

• Executive management ARRs – section 13.2 pp46-50

• Government bodies (statutory bodies and
other entities)

ARRs – section 13.3 pp38, 40-45

• Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 Public Sector Ethics Act 
1994

ARRs – section 13.4

p31

• Queensland public service values ARRs – section 13.5 p18
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Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual report 
reference

Governance 
– risk 
management 
and 
accountability

• Risk management ARRs – section 14.1 pp44, 52-53

• Audit committee ARRs – section 14.2 p44

• Internal audit ARRs – section 14.3 p52

• External scrutiny ARRs – section 14.4 p52

• Information systems and recordkeeping ARRs – section 14.5 p53

Governance 
– human
resources

• Strategic workforce planning and
performance

ARRs – section 15.1 pp31-32

• Early retirement, redundancy and
retrenchment

Directive No.11/12 Early 
Retirement, Redundancy 
and Retrenchment

Directive No.16/16 Early 
Retirement, Redundancy 
and Retrenchment (from 
20 May 2016)

ARRs – section 15.2

N/A

Open Data • Statement advising publication of
information

ARRs – section 16 p2

• Consultancies ARRs – section 33.1 https://data.qld.
gov.au

• Overseas travel ARRs – section 33.2 https://data.qld.
gov.au

• Queensland Language Services Policy ARRs – section 33.3 https://data.qld.
gov.au
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